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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China Netcom Technology Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to announce the audited consolidated results of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2023. This announcement,
containing the full text of the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023 (the “2023 Annual Report”), complies with the relevant requirements of the Rules (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in relation to information to accompany
preliminary announcement of annual results. Printed versions of the Company’s 2023 Annual
Report will be despatched to the shareholders of the Company as required and published on
the websites of the Company (www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinanetcom) and the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) on or before 31 March 2024.
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China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
Sun Haitao
Chairman and Executive Director

21 March 2024

As at the date of this announcement, the executive Directors are Mr. Sun Haitao and Ms. Wu
Shan; and the independent non-executive Directors are Mr. Song Ke, Ms. Liu Jia and Mr. Yu
Tat Chi Michael.

This announcement, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this announcement is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this announcement misleading.

This announcement will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Announcement” page of the
Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk for a minimum period of 7 days from the date
of its publication and on the Company’s website at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinanetcom.



CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“"GEM"”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any Statement herein or
this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FEHS

Dear shareholders,

| present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023
on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors of the Company
(the “Directors”).

In 2023, the Group continued to streamline and optimize its
businesses and focus its resources on developing its smart retail
business and preparing for new businesses. The pace of global
economic recovery was constrained by inflationary pressures and
high interest rates, which affected the operation of enterprises.
However, the pandemic has had a significant impact on
consumers’ behavior, which promoted the application of artificial
intelligence and augmented reality technologies, and increased
enterprises’ demand for smart retail business, thereby bringing new
opportunities for the Group. With confidence in the prospects of
the smart retail business, we will proactively embrace the
challenges and continue to develop in this challenging time.

The Group has ceased its lottery business, sports training business
and financial technology services business which have long been
loss-making, and will continue to monitor market development
trends, formulate flexible business strategies and seize
opportunities arising from such changes.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our employees
and management team, customers and business partners, and to
express our heartfelt gratitude to you for your continued trust and
full support. The Group will continually promote its steady business
growth to bring greater returns to the shareholders.

Sun Haitao
Chairman and Executive Director

21 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEw Rt

BUSINESS REVIEW

Smart Retail Business

The Group's smart retail business is operated under its subsidiary,
Hangzhou Zhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited (“Zhongtuo
Netcom”), which positions itself as an integrated smart retail
provider. Its main business is to provide new retail digital
transformation solutions and new retail integrated software service
platform to chain enterprises and merchants, and extended
services such as cloud services (cloud storage and cloud
computing), omni-channel payment services and SMS marketing
services, etc. The demand for domestic cloud services and cross-
border overseas business has been growing rapidly, the market
extends from Mainland China to overseas, and the cloud services
business has become the focal point of development of the Group.

The Group receives fixed income from the system development
and the sales of software and hardware, and also receives agency
fees that are based on customer’'s volume of usage such as
transaction payment amount, cloud service usage and SMS traffic.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s smart retail
business generated revenue of approximately HK$22,011,000 (2022:
approximately HK$27,071,000) and recorded an operating loss of
approximately HK$3,316,000 (2022: approximately HK$2,832,000).
The decrease in revenue was caused by the decrease in data
usage compared to the same period in 2022. The decrease in data
usage was mainly due to the end of remote work arrangement as
enterprises returned to normal after the COVID-19 pandemic,
leading to decreased demand for cloud services.

Financial Technology Business

The Group has ceased the financial technology services business in
the first half of 2023 in order to focus the Group’s resources on
the smart retail business after considering that the financial
technology services business had been continuously loss-making
and could not cope with the direction of the Group’s future
development. As such the financial technology services business
has been classified as a discontinued operation of the Group. The
Group’s financial technology services business did not generate any
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil) and did
not record any operating loss (2022: approximately HK$776,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEHmMS R
Sports Training Business = E L

In April 2022, the Group disposed the insignificant subsidiary
operating the sports training business, and classified the business
as a discontinued operation. No gain on disposal of the subsidiary
was recognised by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: approximately HK$140,000). For the year ended 31
December 2023, the sports training business did not generate any
revenue (2022: approximately HK$66,000) and did not record any
operating loss (2022: approximately HK$263,000).

Lottery Business

The Board has resolved to cease the lottery business during the
year ended 31 December 2023 after considering that the lottery
business had kept recording an operating loss and its future
operation would remain unfavourable to the Group. As at the date
of this report, Shenzhen Gaorong Caizhi Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Shenzhen Gaorong”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
has been deregistered. The lottery business has been classified as
a discontinued operation of the Group. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group’s lottery business did not generate any
revenue (2022. approximately HK$211,000) and recorded an
operating loss of approximately HK$462,000 (2022 approximately
HK$183,000).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Group had no significant events after 31 December 2023 and
up to the date of this report.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The consolidated revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$22,011,000 (2022:
approximately HK$27,348,000), representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 20%. The revenue of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2023 was mainly derived from its
smart retail business.

The Group’s discontinued operations, being its lottery business,
financial technology services business and sports training business,
had incurred a loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$1,620,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023
(for the year ended 31 December 2022, the lottery business,
financial technology services business and sports training business
had incurred a loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$669,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEw Rt

Loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$10,108,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022: approximately
HK$9,746,000), representing an increase in loss of approximately
4% as compared with the year ended 31 December 2022, which
was mainly attributable to a decrease in income of the Group’s
business. The main reason for the decrease in income was the
lottery business and sports training business, which the Group has
discontinued their operations during the year ended 31 December
2023, did not generate any revenue, and the decrease in data
usage for the year ended 31 December 2023 when compared with
the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease in data usage
was mainly due to the end of remote work arrangement as
enterprises returned to normal after the COVID-19 pandemic,
leading to decreased demand for cloud services.

The Group adopted centralised treasury policies in cash and
financial management and focuses on reducing the Group's overall
interest expenses.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

LIQUIDITY AND GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded total assets of
approximately HK$32,777,000 (2022: approximately HK$41,364,000),
total liabilities of approximately HK$15,657,000 (2022: approximately
HK$13,637,000) and cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$17,996,000 (2022: approximately HK$28,203,000), which were
denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars and US dollars. The
current ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately 2 (2022: approximately 3).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no bank borrowings or
facilities (2022: nil) and the gearing ratio of the Group was nil (2022:
nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREw

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the capital structure of the Group
consisted of equity attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$18,382,000 (2022: approximately HK$27,396,000)
comprising issued share capital and reserves. As at 31 December
2023, the Company'’s total number of issued shares (the “Shares”)
of HK$0.005 each was 4,686,048,381 (31 December 2022:
4,686,048,381 Shares). Details of the movement in the Company’s
share capital during the year were set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no asset that was pledged

(2022: nil).

CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSET
PURCHASE

During the year, there was no addition on property, plant and
equipment (2022: approximately HK$16,000).

The Group had no specific plan for material investment or
acquisition of capital assets as at 31 December 2023.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group's sales and purchases for the year were mostly
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) and Renminbi (‘RMB”").

RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future exchange rates of
RMB could vary significantly from the current or historical exchange
rates as a result of controls that could be imposed by the
government of the PRC. The exchange rates may also be affected
by economic developments and political changes domestically and
internationally, and the demand and supply of RMB. The
appreciation or devaluation of RMB against HK$ may have impact
on the operating results of the Group.

The Group monitors its foreign currency risks and will consider
hedging significant currency exposures should the need arises. The
Group did not enter into any foreign exchange forward contracts or
other hedging instruments to hedge against fluctuation during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2022: nil).

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Group’s business growth will continue to be
propelled by its smart retail business, with cloud services, system
development and software and hardware sales services as its core
businesses. With the rise of artificial intelligence and augmented
reality, it is expected to drive the demand for cloud services again
in the future. At the same time, the Group will continue to pay
attention to the development trends of the market and the
consumer demand, adjust cost-saving measures and actively
expand into new businesses, and continue to explore new business
opportunities in the industry to bring new opportunities to the
Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 21
employees (2022: 55) in total.

Total staff cost including Director's remuneration for the vyear
ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately
HK$11,850,000 (2022: approximately HK$14,168,000).

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees are kept at a
competitive level and employees are rewarded on a performance-
related basis within the general framework of the Group’s salary
and bonus system, which is reviewed annually.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited. The Company did not change its auditor in the
preceding three years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFENEREERREEXR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao, aged 43, has been appointed as the chairman of
the Board and an executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Sun is
also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Currently, Mr. Sun
also serves as the chairman of the board, chief executive officer
and an executive director of 51 Credit Card Inc. (“51 Credit Card”)
(listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2051), which has
interests in such number of shares of the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance as disclosed in the section headed “INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSON IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY" of this report and a director of various
subsidiaries of its group including, among others, Hangzhou Enniu
Network Technology Co., Ltd. as well as Shanghai Wuniu Network
Technology Co., Ltd. and 51RENPIN.COM INC., both of which has
interests in such number of shares of the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance as disclosed in the section headed “INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSON IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY" of this report.

Mr. Sun is an entrepreneur and obtained a Bachelor's degree in
business administration from Hangzhou Institute of Electronic
Industry (now known as the Hangzhou Dianzi University) in the PRC
in June 2002. He has been engaging in Internet businesses since
2004, and founded several Internet companies from 2004 to 2012.
In May 2012, Mr. Sun led the team to create the credit card
management mobile application named “51 Credit Card Manager”
under 51 Credit Card.

Ms. Wu Shan, aged 39, has been appointed as an executive
Director, the authorised representative and the compliance officer
of the Company since April 2022. Ms. Wu is an executive director
and a vice-president of 51 Credit Card. Ms. Wu is mainly
responsible for the investment, finance and legal affairs of 51
Credit Card and its subsidiaries (including the Company and its
subsidiaries). She has extensive and solid experience in corporate
and commercial affairs. Ms. Wu has held senior position in the
corporate legal department of a large state-owned enterprise, and
subsequently joined 51 Credit Card in November 2014.
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Ms. Wu obtained a Bachelor's degree in science majoring in
mathematics and applied mathematics from Hubei University in the
PRC in June 2008 and obtained a Master's degree in law from
Nankai University in the PRC in June 2012. Ms. Wu currently holds
a legal professional qualification certificate in the PRC.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael, aged 59, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Yu is
also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mr. Yu obtained a Bachelor of commerce degree
from University of New South Wales in Australia. He is a fellow
member of the CPA Australia and a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He had held senior
management positions in several listed companies in Hong Kong.
Mr. Yu is currently an independent non-executive director of each
of Golden Resources Development International Limited (listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 677), Applied Development
Holdings Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 519),
Lerado Financial Group Company Limited (listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1225), Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited
(formerly known as: Unity Investments Holdings Limited) (listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 913), and WT Group Holdings
Limited (listed on Stock Exchange, stock code: 8422), respectively.
He also is currently an executive director of Sino Splendid Holdings
Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8006). Mr. Yu
was an independent non-executive director of EVOC Intelligent
Technology Company Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 2308 and which was delisted on 27 October 2022) from May
2016 to May 2021.

Mr. Yu is also a founding member of The Hong Kong Independent
Non-Executive Director Association. Mr. Yu has many years of
experience in accounting, corporate finance and asset
management.
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Ms. Liu Jia, aged 38, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since August 2022. Ms. Liu is also a member of
each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Liu is a lawyer
qualified to practise in Mainland China. Ms. Liu has over 10 years
of experience in handling legal aspects of contractual disputes and
collection of non-performing assets in Mainland China, and she is
currently a partner of Sichuan Toping Law Firm (F9)11[@ 2 e E 75
Ffr).

Ms. Liu obtained a Bachelor’s degree in law from Tianjin University
in the PRC in July 2009 and a Master’'s degree in international law
from Nankai University in the PRC in June 2011.

Mr. Song Ke, aged 58, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Song is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Song has over twenty years’ experience in the
entertainment and media industry. Mr. Song founded “Maitian
Music” in 1996 and had served as its general manager for four
years since 1996, and then served as the executive vice-president
and production director for Warner Music (China) from 2000 to
2004. Mr. Song founded Beijing Taihe Rye Music Co., Ltd. in 2004
and had served as the chief executive officer and also the
president of Taihe Media Investment Co., Ltd. for eight years. He
joined Evergrande Music as the chairman of the board from 2012
to 2015, worked for Beijing Alibaba Music Technology Co., Ltd. as
the chief executive officer and the chairman of the board from
2015 to 2018; and served as the chairman in the China region of
Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. (listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, ticker: LYV) from 2019 to 2020. Mr. Song graduated from
the Tsinghua University in the PRC in July 1988 with a Bachelor’s
degree in environmental engineering.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

E

The Directors hereby present the report of the Directors and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the
Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December 2023 by
business segments is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 102
to 203.

In order to ensure the Board maintains an appropriate procedure
on declaring and recommending the dividend payment of the
Company, a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) was adopted
by the Board which aims to allow the shareholders (the
“Shareholders”) of the Company to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture future
growth opportunities.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the Company’s ability to
pay dividends, which will depend upon, including but not limited to,
the financial performance and position of the Company,
Shareholders’ interests, business conditions and strategies, and any
other factors that the Board may deem relevant. The Board may
consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in addition
to the interim and/or final dividends. The Board reviews the
Dividend Policy and its effectiveness on a regular basis or as
required to ensure the benefit of the Shareholders as a whole is
taken into consideration from time to time during recommendation
and declaration of dividends.

The Board does not recommend to pay dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business for the year ended 31
December 2023, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of important events
affecting the Company since 31 December 2023 and an indication
of likely future development in the Group’s business, are set out in
the sections headed “CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT", “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS”, “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT"
and “"ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT" of this
report. These discussions form part of this “REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS".

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group’'s commitment to protecting the environment is well
reflected by the continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in its daily business operations. The Group
encourages environmental protection and promotes awareness
towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group also
implements green office practices such as promoting the use of
recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching off
idle lighting and electrical appliances. The Board is satisfied with
the Group's performance on reduction of the greenhouse gas
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Group reviews its environmental practices from time to time
and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and
practices in the operation of the Group's businesses and enhancing
environmental sustainability. During the year ended 31 December
2023 the Group’s business activities continued to be carried out in
compliance with the environmental policy of the Group.

For more details, please refer to the "ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT” section in this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that had a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, and
financial reporting matters including a review of the annual
consolidated results for the year ended 31 December 2023 prior to
recommending them to the Board for approval.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are its valuable assets.
Thus, the Group provides competitive remuneration package to
attract and motivate its employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of its employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its customer and suppliers to achieve its long-
term goals. Accordingly, the Directors have kept good
communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared business
updates with them when appropriate. During the year ended
31 December 2023, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its business partners.

For more details, please refer to the “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT” section in this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in notes 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements and the consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

BEZEZETNERBRERR
ERLZECCERMHRE SEERBNER
BUFBEIL M FEHRESIE » BIEEHBELREST
HEZHIEBD TEE2023F12831HIELEENE
e o

BET -ER - HEBMEMS0E
Z &

ERE)RE BRENDHEESEE - At » £EER
HARF N ZFHMTBEURS T HRERE - 5%
B EMRS HEE 2 HISE 0 WEREMHISIRE
M EZRE -

AEBETHD > BEZRMNEEHRTS RIFHAEY
L&E%i@*ﬁﬁ'ﬁ?%%%ﬁ%g oAk EEEE

BERRTRRSETREES  BRIREENR
HERMEBEE - B E2023F12A318IEF

B> AEFEEMEBH T EERMBE ALY o
BEMEH > R2EAREPHNRE - HENES
WGBS o

iz s

BE2023F12A3NBALEER  xREREZE
A BN GEMHFREMEE26

&
BE2023F 12831 BLEFEN > AATREES
BRES RN R AV BRENEURE A RS
E

PRABZEREMRATE » 2023 FERS 15



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFTHRS

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account is distributable to the Shareholders provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. As at 31 December
2023, the Company did not have any reserves available for
distribution (2022: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the Company'’s articles of association (the “Articles”) or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, there is no provision for pre-emptive
rights which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares to its
existing Shareholders first on a pro-rata basis.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out
on page 204 of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
legal liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. During
the year, there was appropriate directors’ and senior officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior officers of
the Group.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes
for its employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. For its Hong Kong
employees, the Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is
a defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
vest immediately.

Regarding the employees in the PRC, pursuant to the relevant
labour laws, rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
participates in defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the
“"Retirement Benefit Scheme”) organised by the relevant local
government authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required
to make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a
certain rate of the standard wages determined by the relevant
authorities in the PRC during the vyear. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no forfeited
contribution under the MPF Scheme and Retirement Benefit
Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contributions (2022: nil).

Details of the Group's contributions to the retirement schemes are
shown in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

There was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the
company, or subsisted during or at the end of the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS BESGL

No contracts, which were not a contract of service with any ER @ HETUREFTERSELKEREFREE
Director or any person engaged in the full-time employment of our EEAEAE D EFE 2 EH (LIELAF MBS E
Company, concerning the management and administration of the AR EZREEEGEZEAALTIIZRES
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were  £J)

entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS TEERNEER

During the year, the percentages of sales and purchases from the £ AEBEZEZL MHEERE D BIGHERE X
major customers and suppliers of the Group, respectively, are set BBEREZBH DLW :

out below:
Approximate
percentage
of the Group’s
total sales
EREEHELEZ
BEA B S

(1) Sales

THE
— the largest customer 21%
— RAEFR

— the five largest customers (combined) 50%

— EXRER (B6)

Approximate
percentage

of the Group’s
total purchases

HAEERBEGEZ
BE49E S LE
(2) Purchases
X
— the largest supplier 32%
— RAMER
— the five largest suppliers (combined) 75%

— BRMAES (56
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As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or any of
their close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules), or any
Shareholders (that, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5% of the issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers during the year.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Ms. Wu Shan

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Ke
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael
Ms. Liu Jia

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 10 to 12
of this report.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
UNDER RULE 17.50A(1) OF THE GEM LISTING
RULES

Changes in the information of the Directors under rule 17.50A(1)
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this report are set out below:

o Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael was appointed as executive director of
Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 8006) on 1 February 2024.

o Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael ceased to hold a license for type 4
(advising on securities), type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance from August 2023.

o The annual Director’s fee of Ms. Wu Shan as executive Director
has been changed to HK$408,000 with effect from 1 January
2023.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to the
Board the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to
the Directors. The remuneration of all Directors is subject to
regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that
the levels of their remuneration and compensation are appropriate.
References to the remuneration standards of the industry as well
as the business development of the Company are made to ensure
the level of remuneration should be sufficient to attract and retain
the Directors, and the Company should avoid paying more than
necessary for this purpose.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s businesses to which any of the Company’s
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during
or at the end of the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No contract of significance has been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries at any time during the year. In addition, no
contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries during the year.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFOQ") (Cap. 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)), which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register of the
Company referred to therein, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings in securities by directors of listed issuers (the
“"Required Standard of Dealings”) as referred to in Rules 5.46 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long position in shares of associated
corporation

EERBRATERBITHRAEREAFE
i {E T AR Bk BB B9 B 93 ~ AR RA A 0 B
BEFHEENEDRXE

R2023F 128310 EERARFARBITHAR
RAERBREEAEREZER (EERBFRPER
Bl (TR R (BB EPIFES/E) BEXV
BB 2Rty ~ HERMN MESFTEEREZF RN
BEROIEXVERSE7 B8N0 B AN & AL E K B3
Phzmae (BREREESIPERIZZEF
BEXBARFHE R ERE 2 R IKA) - WIREE
75 M HR B R B FE 352 Bt sk R K PIFF s 2 A A
BIE Mz EmE KA > WRIRCEM EHIRASE
5461 ES.67RFTIl EBITT AEFETESR S
2R TIRE ((RFBTIRE) ANGEQF R
Rz EmI AW T -

RHEBEERBZEE

Approximate

Name of Name of associated Capacity and nature Number of percentage of
Directors corporation of interests shares issued shares™
HEBITRINZ
EENY AR B E B % 8 S REEEE gk 4= BA B S
Mr. Sun Haitao 51 Credit Card Founder of a discretionary trust who 108,159,464 7.96%
(“Mr. Sun”) can influence how the trustee
exercises his discretion®
BmBBERE ENERS AR ER AWM
(MR&%ED THEENBENNIEEEAIIIAR
Others? 50,355,000 3.71%
Hho
Others® 142,708,272 10.51%
Hho
301,222,736 22.18%
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Notes:

(1) The calculations were based on the number of shares as a percentage of the
total number of issued shares of 51 Credit Card (i.e. 1,358,320,188 shares) as
at 31 December 2023.

2 Rising Sun Limited (the sole shareholder of which is Wukong Ltd., which is
beneficially owned by a discretionary trust, Wukong Trust, founded by Mr. Sun),
(i) beneficially holds 108,159,464 shares in 51 Credit Card among which
97,297,298 shares were charged in favour of Hangzhou Zhenniu Information
Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Hangzhou Zzhenniu”) (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of 51 Credit Card), a non-qualified lender; (i) acts as a general
partner and controls 51 Xinhu L.P., which in turn holds 50,355,000 shares in 51
Credit Card; and (iii) holds 142,708,272 shares in 51 Credit Card through
various voting proxies.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no other
Director or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interest or short position in any shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Required Standard of Dealings.

FEE -

M ZRHOBEER2023F12831851EARE#HTRMDE
2 (BD1,358,320,188 2 ik %) BY B D LL5HH o

) Rising sun Limited (2 &R #Wukong Ltd. (B#ATE
B BIEYIE(SsEWUKong Trust B E)) (VEEFE511E
F+£2108,159,464 8 f% 1 » HH97,297, 298 IREBLUIEGE
HBAEHAMMNIRFE EREERAE (RMIRF)) > —
MES1ERAFREEZE2ERE 2B AR AZH AEHIE
S (BEEZESE ALEERS51 Xinhu LP. > 51 Xinhu
L.P.3%5E 5115 A8 £2250,355,0008% 88 1) 5 K (i)BEBFR %R
TERAFBESVER£22142,708,27288 &1 ©

bR EXPRIREEE S > 1520235 12831H » #i | H
thEFNERARSBTHRABRERTHEEM
BEEE (EEREBFRPERGISXVER) 2 EF
Betn ~ AERERR D MBS B RIER S RIS %A
SBXVERE7 KB EAR G XN K E 3P 2 #
@Ak A (BEREBER S MGG Z 2B RN
REHEREENRDIKR) > FREZH N
BGRGISB352R RN FIFEZ Bt 2 Ef#E
IR B HIRER BT RERN G AL ) M
R Z R m KA °
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER

EFTHRS

PERSON IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING xE
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE

COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, so far as was known to the Directors, the
persons or entities, other than the Directors or chief executives of
the Company, who had or was deemed to have an interest or a
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or which

would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of  ZXAE :
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Number of Shares

FERREEMALIRESQFRRK
9~ tHRA IR R AP HER R &

FR2023F 128318 » MEERFA » M FALHE
B EFAERFARBTHRABRIN REQFR
fn ~ HEARO RESFPHREEURESERRESR
NERERPISE 36 RN ERL RN ERT AFELZ
Tz Ematke > WREB S RPEEG S
XVERE 2R BIN W2 REBMARBME 2 #im

Approximate

Capacity and nature of directly or indirectly percentage of

Names interests held and category® issued Shares"
B EEFEN HERTRHEZ
oY) B REENE R 15 B B K KR RIS iR
Substantial Shareholders
FERRE
51 Credit Card®@ Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
515 R2 RRERNEE 2
51 Credit Card (China) Limited®@ Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
SUERA+ (RE) BRAF? RRERNEE 2
Hangzhou Zhenniu®@ Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
N RRERNEE 2
Hangzhou Jiahao Technology Co., Ltd.* Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
("Hangzhou Jiahao")?
MMNEBEFRZBRLE (MBS @ KRERIEEZ #am
Shanghai Wuniu Network Technology Co., Ltd.* Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
(“Shanghai Wuniu")?

EEEBFREEEERAR (TLEIEYF) RREGAE 2 B
51RENPIN.COM INC.@- @ Beneficial owner 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%

EaEEA
Mr. Wang Yonghua (“Mr. Wang")®. © Interest in controlled corporation 365,000,000 (L) 7.79%
FoxESRE TEEEN OO INEEETHPNE A &
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Capacity and nature of

Number of Shares
directly or indirectly

Approximate
percentage of

Names interests held and category® issued Shares™
ERZEEREN HEETRGZ
%18 B RkiEENE B i 8 B R EERS B E 7Y
Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd.* Interest in controlled corporation 365,000,000 (L) 7.79%
(“Tian Tu Capital”)® @
FhmREZREEERNDERAE REREGEE 2 #
(TREKRE) @
Tiantu Investments International Limited®. @ Beneficial owner 365,000,000 (L) 7.79%
KERERAEERAFO @ EnEEA
Mr. Zuo Lei® Beneficial owner 483,600,000 (L) 10.32%
EZEES EnEEA
Notes: [
©) The calculations were based on the number of Shares which each party is (1) BEH2023E 12 A3 B a LD (BB EER W

interested in (whether directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be
interested) as a percentage of the total number of issued Shares (i.e.
4,686,048,381 Shares) as at 31 December 2023.

51RENPIN.COM INC. is wholly owned by Shanghai Wuniu, which is in turn wholly
owned by Hangzhou Jiahao. Further, contractual arrangements have been
entered into between Hangzhou Zhenniu (a company wholly owned by 51
Credit Card (China) Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by 51 Credit Card)
and Hangzhou Jiahao so that Hangzhou Zhenniu can control Hangzhou Jiahao.
By virtue of the SFO, the above companies are deemed to be interested in
those Shares held by 51RENPIN.COM INC., respectively. Mr. Sun is a director of
each of Shanghai Wuniu and 51RENPIN.COM INC.

365,000,000 Shares are owned beneficially by Tiantu Investments International
Limited, a company wholly owned by Tian Tu Capital which is in turn owned as
to approximately 40.35% by Mr. Wang.

Pursuant to the deed of release dated 9 January 2023 entered into between
Tiantu Investments Limited and 51RENPIN.COM INC., 1,834,963,213 shares
secured in favour of Tiantu Investments Limited have been discharged. With
this regard, on 9 January 2023, Tiantu Investments Limited and Tiantu Advisory
Company Limited ceased to have any interest in shares of the Company.
Mr. Wang is deemed to be interested in 365,000,000 Shares held by Tiantu
Investments International Limited, a company wholly owned by Tian Tu Capital
thereafter.

Pursuant to a Form 1 — "“Individual Substantial Shareholder Notice” filed by
Mr. Zuo Lei on 11 March 2024, he was interested in 483,600,000 Shares as at
30 October 2023.

(L) — Long Position.

RAEEBEWER WROHEEGEEETRMAES (B
4,686,048,381 J & 17) B D ELEHE ©

) 51RENPIN.COM INC.HH b81B42&#E » LBIEFAIHR
MMBITF2EHES © tboh » FMNIRS (R51ERE (PE)
ERATZERES  MZATHSIEREE2EER) BN
MBEFET ISR BIRMNIRFBEZERIMINGELT o
RIBEZLHEMPEKA LR RAFADNRREES
51RENPIN.COM INC.FTHB % ER D 2t o It ED R
% 8B4 K 51RENPIN.COM INC.Z 55 ©

@) 365,000,000 &t A R EIR ERIR B R AT (—FEHXE
REZEWEZNE) BulER >  MABREHTLERE
BE#40.35% 1 o

(4) iR#ETiantu Investments Limited E251RENPIN.COM INC.H5
2023F 1B 9B T WM& F > UTiantu Investments
Limited % 5 i A 3K 19 A91,834,963,213 8% BR 11 B 4 AR B ©
Itk > 7202351898 » Tiantu Investments  Limited#0
KEBAERATDFNBEERATRDEA#ER - &
B IERERARAETXREREBREERAR (—RKEXE
KRE2EHEENAR) B 19365,000,0008% 8% 15 B

2% o

m

6 REERELEN2024FIFNBRITHEET — MEAKX
RRERAEALL » 87520234 10 A 30 H 483,600,000 % A ) 7
B o
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Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the Directors, as
at 31 December 2023, there was no person (not being a Director
or a chief executive of the Company) who had or was deemed to
have an interest or short position in the Shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year and at the end of the year was the
Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other subsidiaries.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS PURCHASE

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
material investments (2022: nil). The Group had no specific plan for
material investment or acquisition of capital assets as at
31 December 2023.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company
which require compliance with any of the reporting, announcement
or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details of material related party
transactions undertaken in the usual course of business of the
Group are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements. However, these transactions were either exempt from
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, or did not
fall under the definition of connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the Company has complied with the disclosure
reguirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year, none of the Directors or controlling Shareholders
or any of their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) has any interest in a business which competes or
may compete with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the total
issued Shares was at all times held by the public during the year
and up to the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
report. The Company has maintained a sufficient public float in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A detailed report on corporate governance is set out on pages 28
to 47 of this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited. A resolution will be proposed to the forthcoming
AGM to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as the auditor of
the Company of the subsequent year.

By order of the Board

China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
Sun Haitao

Chairman and Executive Director

21 March 2024

i The English name(s) has/have been transliterated from its/their respective
Chinese name(s) and is/are for identification only.
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CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognizes that a good corporate culture is necessary to
support and complement its corporate governance efforts and
corporate image, and has gradually developed a corporate culture
emphasising on lawful, ethical and responsible business conduct
over the years, which has been reflected in the overall operations
and management of the Group, in order to facilitate the long-term
sustainability of the Group. In order to promote open
communication in the workplace and high ethical standards among
staff and management of the Group, the Group has established
anti-corruption and whistle-blowing policies, to provide guidance on
identifying relevant breaches or improper behaviour, reporting
procedures and consequences of violations of such policies. For
further details on the Group’s anti-corruption and whistle-blowing
policies, please see pages 83 to 84 of the ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard the interests of the Shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company had applied
and complied with all the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “"CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the
GEM Listing Rules except for the following:

CODE PROVISION C.2.1

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

Currently, Mr. Sun being the chairman of the Board, also serves as
the function of chief executive officer of the Company (the "CEOQ")
which is deviated from the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code
that the roles of chairman and the CEO are performed by the same
individual. The Board considers that Mr. Sun possesses the
essential leadership skills to manage the Board and extensive
knowledge in the business of the Group. In the opinion of the
Directors, through supervision by the Board and the independent
non-executive Directors, the same individual performing the roles of
chairman and the CEO can achieve the goal of improving the
Company'’s efficiency in decision making, execution and effectively
capturing business opportunities.

28
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The Board will review the effectiveness of this arrangement from
time to time. The Company is still looking for a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy of the CEO in order to comply with the CG
Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors (the “Code Of Conduct”) which is on
terms no less exacting than the Required Standard of Dealings
against which issuers and their directors must measure their
conduct regarding transactions in securities of their issuers. The
Company has made specific enquiry with all Directors and has not
been notified of any non-compliance with the Required Standard of
Dealings and the Code Of Conduct by any of the Directors during
the year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MEETINGS

The Board comprised the following Directors during the year and up
to the date of this report:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Ms. Wu Shan

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael

Ms. Liu Jia

Mr. Song Ke

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT" of this report.
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The Board has implemented various mechanisms to ensure that
independent views are available to the Board, including: (1) having
three independent non-executive Directors (“INEDS”) representing
at least one-third of the Board; (2) ensuring ongoing liaison
between the Chairman and all INEDs through the company
secretary which allows continuous feedback is given and timely
consideration of any proposals; (3) making independent professional
advice available to Directors upon reasonable request under the
terms of reference of each of Committees of the Company; (4)
requirement for each INED to provide written confirmation annually
as to the factors affecting their independence provided under the
GEM Listing Rules; (5) in considering prospective INEDs candidates,
the Nomination Committee assesses independence of the
candidate(s) with reference to the relevant guidelines set out in the
GEM Listing Rules and other factors, including but not limited to
his/her character, integrity, cross-directorships and significant links
with other Directors, time commitment, professional gualifications
and relevant work experience; and (6) the Nomination Committee
shall review the structure, size and composition of the Board
regularly in relation to the Company's Board diversity policy
(“Board Diversity Policy”) and make proposals accordingly.

The Company will conduct a regular review on the implementation
and effectiveness of such mechanisms each year.
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The Board meets regularly (at least four times a year at quarterly
intervals) for reviewing and approving the financial and operating
performance of the Group, considering and approving the overall
strategies and policies and approving the change of constitution of
the Board and the salary of INEDs of the Company. Additional
meetings are convened as and when the Board considers
necessary. The Directors attended those meetings in person, by
phone or through other electronic means of communication. The
attendance record of the meetings of the Directors during the year
ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

EZeEHEONES TR (BERFEQRE
DIR) s UBRRMEAEBE VB REER
R ERNMERADERBRE BRI EEE
EFRTEMMBIIFRITESRFN - TEF G
~pBREAMENGE - EFHE BBEBEN
HMEFBEALALEZSTEZ  c BUESFNEE
2023F 1231 BILEEZ SR LECEEFIMN T -

Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend

HERY BREHEEEYE

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
- BRZEE FMESE RAZEE
EX4E 2 2 2 2 BRERAE
Executive Directors
HiTEE
Mr. Sun Haitao 5/5 — 11 11 11
REELE
Ms. Wu Shan 5/5 — — — 11
Bzt
INEDS
BUFHITEE
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael 5/5 5/5 1/1 1/1 1/1
Ms. Liu Jia 5/5 5/5 11 11 11
fEut
Mr. Song Ke 5/5 5/5 ”n ”n ”n
R
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RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD AND
DELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The Board has the overall responsibility for the stewardship of the
Group, including the responsibilities for the adoption of long-term
strategies and appointment and supervision of management to
ensure that the operation of the Group is conducted in accordance
with the objective of the Group. Execution of daily operational
matters is delegated to the management. Such arrangements are
reviewed by the Board to ensure they align with the Company’s
business needs annually.

Currently, Mr. Song Ke, Ms. Liu Jia and Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael are
the INEDs. All of them are under a term of service of three years
commencing from the date of their respective appointments or the
date of entering into their respective letter of appointments. All
Directors, including the INEDs, are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the AGM in accordance with the Articles,
provided that the appointment may be terminated by the Company
or the Director concerned with a written notice pursuant to their
respective service contracts and letter of appointments.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships) among members of the Board.
All of them are free to exercise their independent judgement
during the vyear. The Company has received annual written
confirmations from the INEDs in respect of their independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers the INEDs to be independent in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF THE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each member of
the Board received training on corporate governance, regulatory
developments or other relevant topics during the year, and the
Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities.
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Details of trainings attended by each Director in continuous
professional development during the year are set out below:

BUEERER B HEEREREIISFE
WM

Scope of Training
1R EE

Legal and

Directors’ regulatory Business Corporate
Name of Directors duties updates updates governance
EELTE EERE FEMEEEMN EFBEMN EEER
Executive Directors
HiTEE
Mr. Sun Yes Yes Yes Yes
e Sk B B = B
Ms. Wu Shan Yes Yes Yes Yes
S &+ B = =l B
INEDS
BUIEPTESE
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael Yes Yes Yes Yes
RESKE =) = = =)
Ms. Liu Jia Yes Yes Yes Yes
BELZL B B = B
Mr. Song Ke Yes Yes Yes Yes
RS B = = B
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE ir‘&ﬁﬁwﬂz
Currently, Mr. Sun takes up the role of chairman and serves as the  BHl > BIEERERA > EIRFTMEETTEAR

function of chief executive of the Company, which is deviated from
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. For further details, please
refer to the section headed “CODE PROVISION C.2.1" of this report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee (collectively, the
“Board Committees”) in order to maintain a high level of
corporate governance standard of the Company.

HHaE Tﬁﬁ’&?m%é/u—r%z—rﬁw X%C.2.1
BERE - FIBFBRABRS TFRMECEC.2.118)
o o

EXZ8Y
EETERIRLEEE FHEESRBERES
" (GBEEERY)  WREAADBKES
EERER -

PRABZEREMRATE » 2023 FERS 33



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERELGHS

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

The Audit Committee comprised three members and all members
are INEDs. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Yu Tat Chi
Michael, with Mr. Song Ke and Ms. Liu Jia as members.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor
and assessing their independence and performance; review the
Group's financial information and compliance; and review the
Group’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems.

Summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during
the year:

—  reviewed the audited consolidated financial statement, annual
results announcement and the annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2022;

—  reviewed the unaudited consolidated financial statements for
the three months, six months and nine months ended
31 March, 30 June and 30 September 2023, respectively;

— reviewed the financial reporting system, the risk management
and internal control systems, and the effectiveness of the
internal audit function,

— made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the auditor of the Company; and

— discussed with the auditor of the Company the audit matters
before the commencement of the audit work.

The Audit Committee held five meetings during the year. Individual

attendance records of each member of the Audit Committee are
set out on page 31 of this report.
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The Board Committees have adopted specific terms of reference
clearly defining their respective powers and responsibilities. These
committees are required by their terms of reference to report to
the Board in relation to their decisions, findings or
recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek the
Board's approval before taking any actions. The Board reviews, on
an annual basis, all delegations by the Board to each of the Board
Ccommittees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and
continue to be beneficial to the Group as a whole.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration payable in
respect of the audit and non-audit services rendered by the auditor
of the Company are as follows:

EXZETERMBERENHEHBNIRBEZISE

HEsE - BERERELXTEEGNERE &
MAEBRRAEFERS TAEETHERBR
T ERREATHNESKESTEZME - ERS
BERNEFENREFTEZETIMARRE » LUk
RZEEEACBLEBH A EEER G

12BN &

B E2023F12A3MH L FE > AR EZHENR
MBS RIFEFARBENZMEOT

Approximate

Type of services amount
IRFEFEEY B4 &%
(HK$'000)
(F#AT)
Audit services ETIRT 1,120
Non-audit services JEE IR 780
NATURE OF NON-AUDIT SERVICES EEBARFBHEE

The non-audit services provided by the auditor of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2023 include reviews of the
Company's annual results announcement for the year ended
31 December 2022 and unaudited consolidated financial statements
for the three months, six months and nine months ended
31 March, 30 June and 30 September 2023, respectively.

DIRECTORS' AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group. In preparing such financial statements, it is
fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and
applied consistently. The statement of the auditor of the Company
about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the section headed “INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT" of this report on pages 94 to 101.

HZE2023F12831HIEEE > A QB ZEENIRH
ZIFBEARBEEEBREAAQBEE2022F12831
HIEFEZFEXEAE KD BIEE2023F3831
HIE=M@A > 68308 IL/XE B X9830H L A1E
BZREEBA G EFERE

EFNZHBEMBBHEHRRZEME

EENRRENFEHAEBEEANT RIMAEENR R
ZHBRRBAEST - ERUZSMERRE
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised four members and a
majority of the members are INEDs. The Nomination Committee is
chaired by Mr. Sun, the chairman of the Board and executive
Director, with Mr. Song Ke, Ms. Liu Jia and Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael
as members.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board at least annually;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board, to assess the independence of the INEDs and make
recommendation to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning of
the Board.

Summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the year:

—  reviewed the structure, size and composition and diversity of
the Board, and the Board Diversity Policy;

— reviewed the nomination policy and procedures for
directorship during the year;

— assessed the independence of the INEDs; and

— made recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the re-election of Directors.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year.
Individual attendance records of each member of the Nomination
Committee are set out on page 31 of this report.
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Nomination Policy
The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”).

Summary of the Nomination Policy

The Company embraced high transparency in the Board member
selection process. The Nomination Policy is aimed to ensure the
Board maintains a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods for
identifying director candidates, including recommendations from
Board members, management and professional search firms. In
addition, the Nomination Committee will consider director
candidates properly submitted by the Shareholders. All director
candidates are evaluated by the Nomination Committee based upon
the director’s qualifications ability to devote sufficient time to the
Company’s affairs, and relevant experience, as stated in the
Nomination Policy. While director candidates will be evaluated on
the same criteria, the Nomination Committee retains the discretion
to establish the relative weighting of such criteria, which may vary
based on the composition, skill sets and experiences of the
collective Board rather than on the individual candidate. The
Nomination Committee has been delegated to identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The Board is ultimately responsible for
selection and appointment of new Directors.
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Board Diversity Policy

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognised and embraced the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance quality of its performance. The Board
Diversity Policy aimed to set out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. Selection of candidates for members of the Board
will be based on a number of objective criteria, including but not
limited to skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age and gender, and will take into full consideration
of the Company’s business scale and specific requirements from
time to time. Currently, members of the Board have different
business and professional backgrounds, and among all five
members of the Board, two are female. Given the current
composition of the Board, the Nomination Committee is of the view
that gender diversity is achieved and shall focus on maintaining the
gender balance. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
supervising the implementation of this policy and reviewing it, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

At present, the Nomination Committee considers that the Board is
sufficiently diverse and will review the Board Diversity Policy
regularly to ensure its effectiveness and recommend the same to
the Board for approval.

The Board and Nomination Committee have reviewed the Board
Diversity Policy during the year to ensure its effectiveness and
resolved that the diversity in the current Board composition was in
the interest of the Company.

For the details of the current gender ratio in the workforce,
including senior management of the Group, please see page 69 of
the ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT in this
report. Given the current composition of the workforce, the Board
is of the view that gender diversity is achieved and shall focus on
maintaining the gender balance. The management will review the
gender composition of the workforce and set targets based on the
future needs of the Group’s development.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprised four members and a
majority of the members are INEDs. The Remuneration Committee
is chaired by Mr. Song Ke, with Mr. Sun, the chairman of the Board
and an executive Director, Ms. Liu Jia and Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael
as members.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration,
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
which include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment; make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors;
consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group; and to review and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the year:

—  reviewed the remuneration of the Directors;

— reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors;

— assessed performance of the executive Directors and approve
the terms of the executive Directors’ service contracts; and

— reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors,
INEDs and senior management, including the proposed
adjustment to the director’s fee payable to Ms. Wu Shan.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2023. Individual attendance records of each
member of the Remuneration Committee are set out on page 31 of
this report.

FMESES

FHERBmNLERARM k%@é%ﬂ%ﬁj
FFRTEE - FHES B TRARTEE -
EESEERBENTEERLE %&ﬁi&ﬁ
L

FNEEG T EREANEALRTAMBESLS
ﬁ&EIE/\EB’Ji%%ﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁ&””%ﬂ%%ﬁ‘%ﬁ

B, DEEGRZFENANTEEREREEAR
BIETEN 8 > LB BIRIFE8AG « RS EA R
BESE (BERARR EHBBE IS ENELR
&) MERTESNFWNOESSIRHEES; £
REEASZAEM - BN HHRREEEE U
RAEBMAEMB AN RAKYE ; RBEK it
HGEM EHHRAB —+ ==t B RAR MG st 88
EHo

FRFWNEE TN TIFHME

— EREEF

— ZBRUIREFNEEFHERLRBOES
TIREER

— MERITESENRBERMERITESRSES
#1& T)\;

— BRUMENATES BUFATEER
SREEASNHFMNSE (BREYEM RN
LEINEEMEHNEEZRAE) AEFTTIRD
Bk o

HE2023F12B31HEFER FFMHEZEEER
T—rEg% FHEESSLEZEALELLERE
IR AREEIIER o

PRABZEREMRATE » 2023 FERS 39



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXRER/RS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively responsible
for the corporate governance duties. Pursuant to the code
provision of A.2.1 of the CG Code, such duties include but are not
limited to:

— developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

— reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

—  reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

— developing, reviewing and monitoring the Code Of Conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the Directors; and

— reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
the disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has reviewed
and performed the above mentioned corporate governance
functions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Risks arise during the Group’s pursuance of its long-term strategy
and it is the Board's responsibility to evaluate and determine the
nature and extent of risks that it is willing to take. The Board
acknowledged it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group including the task of
reviewing such systems and ensuring their effectiveness. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in carrying out its responsibilities and
is also responsible for reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness
of the Group's internal audit function.

The Group adopts the “three lines of defence” framework for
effective risk management and follows The Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO")
Internal Control — Integrated Framework for the design,
implementation and review of internal controls.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are,
however, designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

With respect to the handling and dissemination of inside
information, the Company has formulated its guidelines including
dissemination of information to state purpose and on a need-to-
know basis, with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by the
confidentiality requirement and fulfill the disclosure obligation of the
inside information in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations.

The Board had performed an annual review on the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems relating
to financial, operational and compliance controls for the vyear
ended 31 December 2023. Also, the Board and Audit Committee
had received and considered the evaluations from internal control
department of the Group, the major risks detected through the
systems and discussed the needs for further improvement. The
Board was of the view that throughout the year ended
31 December 2023, the financial reporting system and the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group were
adequate and effective.
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The Board'’s annual review for the year ended 31 December 2023
also assessed the adequacy of the Group's resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions and ESG
performance and reporting. For this aspect, the Board was
satisfactory. The Board was also not aware of any material internal
control failings or weaknesses.

Risk Management

The “three lines of defence” is the Group's official organizational
structure for carrying out its risk management activities, which
includes the identification, assessment, monitoring and mitigation of
risks.

The First Line of Defence — Daily Operation

The first line of defence is represented by all functional
departments responsible for the day-to-day operation and
management of the Group. They are the risk owners that
constantly encounter risks during their operation and mitigate them
by following the Group’s policies and procedures. Risk owners are
also responsible for designing and implementing internal controls
related to their risks.

The Second Line of Defence — Risk Monitoring

The second line of defence is mainly represented by the internal
control team of the Group which takes up the role of risk
management and monitoring. They holistically assess and identify
the risks of the Group and evaluate the impact, formulate policies
and procedures to mitigate those risks, and are also responsible
for supervising the first line of defence in the improvement of
internal controls.

The Third Line of Defence — Independent Assurance

The third line of defence is represented by the Group’s internal
audit team which performs regular internal audit. The internal audit
team is highly independent and reports to both the Board and the
Audit Committee directly. The primary task is to perform
independent evaluation on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

Outside the organization’s structure, the external auditor and other

regulatory bodies supplement the three lines of defence to further
strengthen the Group’s governance and controls.
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Group for which the Board considered to be significant. Below is a
summary of the key risks of the Group to date along with the
applicable risk mitigation responses.

1. Market Competition Risk

The Group’s businesses face fierce market competition.
China’s technology industry is very dynamic and highly
competitive. To ensure continual growth, the Group must
constantly remain innovative, assess changing consumers'’
needs and provide in-demand services over its competitors.
There is the risk that the Group is unable to maintain its edge
and lose its market share. The Group has mitigated this risk
by carrying out competitor analysis and benchmarking, and
also by monitoring the market behavior constantly to timely
react to market changes and disruption. Continuous devotion
to product innovation and marketing enables the Group to
meet customers’ needs and scale up its businesses.

2. Government Policies and Regulations Risk

The Group’s smart retail business belongs to industries that
are highly regulated by the PRC government. Participants in
these industries have to adhere to strict regulations. As these
industries grow and the regulatory landscape keeps on
evolving, the PRC government often promulgates new
measures and restrictions with which all participants have to
cope. Failure to comply with these rules and regulations will
lead to serious consequences including possibility of business
termination. To mitigate this risk, the Group has maintained a
strong team of lawyers to ensure the full compliance of laws
and regulations. The Group also fosters close communication
with the PRC government and remains vigilant in the latest
regulatory updates.
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3. Information Security Risk

The Group's smart retail business serves the mass population
and hence collects many user’'s confidential information and
sensitive data. These data and information must be
well-secured and protected from theft, leakage and damage.
Failure to do so will cause the Group to impair its reputation,
lose businesses and even be prosecuted. The Group places a
strong emphasis on information security and has a team of
information security experts. A series of measures is
implemented to ensure customers’ data is secured, including
regular testing of the Group's data system to eliminate any
breaching loopholes, implementing content segregation and
access authorization controls for sensitive data.

Internal Control

The Group follows the principles and guidelines of COSO Internal
Control — Integrated Framework in implementing its internal
control system. The Group’s internal control system includes a
defined management structure with limits of authority, and
standardized workflow procedures designed to help the Group to
achieve its business objectives, protect its assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance with
relevant laws and regulations.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's internal audit
team has carried out independent internal audit activities on the
Group’s major businesses. The Board and the Audit Committee
have reviewed and monitored the Group's internal audit function
and consider it to be effective.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Lam Yu Hon acted
as company secretary of the Company from 1 January 2023 to 31
July 2023. With effect from 31 July 2023, Ms. Tsang Sin Man was
appointed as the company secretary of the Company. Ms. Tsang
Sin Man graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with
a bachelor's degree in accountancy and has over 6 years of
accounting and audit experience. She is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, Ms. Tsang Sin Man took no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training as required by
the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING (“EGM")

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to convene
such meeting shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
THEIR ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and disclosure of information to the Shareholders.
The Company delivers interim and annual reports upon
Shareholders’ request and publication of the interim and annual
results announcements and other required disclosures of
information on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company to all the Shareholders.

The Company endeavours to maintain two-way communications
with the Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders
are encouraged to put their enquiries about the Group through the
Company’s email at 8071IR@u51.com or by mail to the address of
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Office
2401A on 24th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway,
Hong Kong. All the enquiries will be dealt with in a timely manner.
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The Shareholders are also encouraged to attend the AGM and EGM
and to put their enquiries to the Board directly. Notices are duly
circulated to the Shareholders in order to ensure each Shareholder
is informed of the details of the AGM and EGM. Board members
will be available to answer questions raised by Shareholders in a
prompt manner at the aforesaid meetings. Pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules, voting by poll is mandatory at all general meetings.

The detailed procedures for conducting a poll are set out in the
proxy forms and will be explained by the chairman of each of the
AGM and EGM orally at the beginning of the aforesaid meetings.
The poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after the AGM and EGM.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS' MEETINGS

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or propose a resolution
for consideration at general meetings may convene an EGM in
accordance with the procedures set out in the section headed
“PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING (“EGM")" above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy
of open and timely disclosure of corporate information to the
Shareholders and public investors.

The Company regularly updates the Shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its
annual and interim reports. The website of the Company
(www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinanetcom) provides an effective
communication platform to the public and the Shareholders.

The Company welcomes any views Shareholders may have
regarding the Group’s affairs. As outlined above, these may be
raised during the general meetings of the Company, or
alternatively, or send electronically or physically to the email
address or the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
stated above.
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The Company has in place the shareholders’ communication policy A AT HIT AR BB R B EH KA AT 4 > 5]
which sets out the policies in relation to communication with the BAERIEREREENEE > LHESS TR -
Shareholders. Such policy which is published on the website of the — LIFERE BT o

Company shall be reviewed by the Board on a regular basis to

ensure its effectiveness.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s shareholder BESEZEHZE2023E1283MHLEEERBTE TEHA
communication policy during the year ended 31 December 2023 BRI ERENEER ' ERERNKREINREZEEH
and is satisfied with its current implementation and effectiveness MREZEREMNMEE > EEZSHEBEMNERNEXN
based on written enquiries received from the Shareholder and MREIRE o

questions raised by them during the year.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Report Profile

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report” or "Report”) summarizes the environmental, social and
governance initiatives, plans and performance of China Netcom
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”, the “Group” or “we")
and demonstrates our commitment to sustainable development.
The Group insists on sustainable development in accordance with
the ESG management principles, which the Company can
continuously create value for the stakeholders and handle the
Group’'s ESG matters effectively and responsibly as a core part of
our business strategy as we believe this is the key to our
continued success in the future.

Reporting Period
The ESG Report details the ESG activities, challenges and measures
taken by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Reporting Period").

Reporting Scope

The ESG Report contains information that is material which allows
the readers to understand the Group’s ESG practices and
performance in its daily operations in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. The scope of the ESG Report covers all subsidiaries listed in
the financial statements during the Reporting Period, including two
business segments in Hong Kong and the PRC:

Smart Retail Business

Engaged in the provision of new retail digital transformation
solutions and new retail integrated software service platform and
extended services.

Lottery business

Engaged in the development of computer systems and provision of
technical consultancy services in the PRC, and the Group’s lottery
business has been discontinued since August 2023.
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Reporting Framework

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide as set out in Appendix C2 to the GEM Listing Rules of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), and
complies with all “Mandatory Disclosure Requirements” and
“Comply or Explain” provisions, as well as the reporting principles
of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency. In preparing
the ESG Report, the Group has adopted the international standards
and the emission factors specified in the guidance materials on
ESG issued by the Stock Exchange for computing the relevant key
performance indicators (“KPIs”), and there is no change from
previous year in the way the ESG Report has been prepared. The
application of materiality is detailed in the section headed
“Materiality Assessment” of this ESG Report.

The Report is prepared in accordance with the reporting principles
in the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange: “"Materiality”,
“Quantitative”, “Balance” and “Consistency”.

Materiality: During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted a
materiality assessment to identify material issues to determine the
material issues as the focus of the preparation of the ESG Report.
The materiality of these issues was reviewed and confirmed by the
ESG Committee. For more details, please refer to the sections
headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”.

Quantitative: Quantitative data disclosed in the ESG Report are
supplemented with additional explanations to explain any
standards, methodologies and sources of conversion factors used
in the calculation of emissions and energy consumption.

Balance: This Report aims to provide a comprehensive and fair
view of the Group's sustainability performance and has not omitted
any information related to material ESG topics.

Consistency: The preparation method of this ESG Report is
basically consistent with that of the previous vyear, and
explanations have been provided for the data with changes in the
scope of disclosure and calculation methods.
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Source of Data and Responsibility Statement

The information disclosed in the ESG Report is from the Group's
internal documents, statistical reports and relevant public materials.
The Group undertakes that the ESG Report does not contain any
false information, misleading statement or material omission, and
takes responsibility for the contents hereof as to the authenticity,
accuracy and completeness.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Report contains forward-looking statements, which are based
on the Group’s current expectations, estimates, projections, beliefs
and assumptions about the businesses and markets in which it and
its subsidiaries operate. These forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance and are subject to market risks,
uncertainties and factors beyond the Group’s control. Therefore,
actual results and returns may differ materially from the
assumptions and statements contained in this report.

Contact Us

The Group attaches great importance to readers’ valuable opinions.
Should you have any questions or suggestions about the ESG
Report, please contact the Group via:

E-mail: 8071IR@Qu51.com

Address: Office 2401A on 24th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Hong Kong
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ESG Governance Structure

RIE - HENERKERE

[Board
-
e Evaluate ESG-related risks and opportunities
o SHMEIRIR B R EAER R S IE
e Establish ESG management policies, strategies, priorities and targets
o BRI B REABIEA T R EA R EIE
* Regularly review ESG-related targets
o EHRETIRIE 1t B R EVAMERRE AR
» Approve information disclosed in the ESG Report
o EHIRR B NEARENNVIREER
e Oversee all ESG-related matters
k. EEIRR e NE AR EER

[ ESG Working Group
B HaREATEME

o NG DITIRIE M B R BABUR B BER R A2 B 3%
* Ensure the implementation of the plan to achieve ESG targets
o FEREHBIWIELUZRIRR B REABE

* Ensure compliance with ESG-related laws and regulations

o FERESTIRIE - B R EAERDE AR

e Assist in the preparation of the annual ESG report

o RENREIFEEIRE B REARS

 Report to the Board on all ESG-related matters

k- MERGERRR B REAEMESEE

« Collect and analyze ESG data and evaluate the effectiveness of policies and procedures

\

-

Business Departments and Functional Departments
BT EBPIFNEAESIFT

o IRIRF B RORIBRE B M STABAENRAERI T(E

* Regularly collect, organize and report relevant information

o TEHAURER  BIB AN _EIRABRAE

o RESEIRER IR TIEEN BRI TENRBRETEMES

» Undertake the responsibility of internal information transmission
o RIEBAIEAFENFIE

\_

* Complete relevant work within the functions in accordance with the direction of the ESG Committee

 Provide feedback on the actual work situation in a timely manner and make relevant suggestions on the actual work

—
5d h

J

Board Statement

The Board of China Netcom attaches great importance to ESG
matters and follows the requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide
of the Stock Exchange. As the highest responsible and
decision-making body for such matters, the Board actively
participates in and formulates relevant policies and strategies to
ensure that an appropriate and effective ESG risk management
system is established within the Company. The Board regularly
reviews the assessment results of material issues and the report
for the year, and actively promotes the integration of ESG matters
into all aspects of the Company’s operations. We will continuously
strengthen the governance system, strengthen the construction of
internal control, enhance the ability of risk prevention, truly protect
the interests of shareholders and investors, provide a solid
guarantee for the steady development of the Company and
effectively manage ESG matters.
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The Group believes that effective management of ESG issues is
essential to long-term success and will insist on a comprehensive
understanding of ESG risks and opportunities to improve the
efficiency of resource allocation, reduce and recycle various types
of waste and cooperate with regulatory authorities to ensure that
waste is treated to the highest standards. As part of the business
decision-making process, the Group encourages all relevant
stakeholders to participate in ESG management to achieve
long-term success and ensure the sustainable development of the
Group.

ESG Working Group

The Group has established an ESG governance structure, and the
Board has overall responsibility for overseeing the Group's
ESG-related risks and opportunities, establishing the Group’s
ESG-related strategies and targets, including setting KPIs for
environmental-related matters and setting higher standards for
energy saving measures and waste treatment. We review the
Group’s performance against ESG-related targets annually, and
revise ESG-related strategies as appropriate if obvious variances
from the ESG-related target is identified in order to create a more
sustainable business and bring greater benefits for the society as a
whole. The ESG Working Group has been established and
comprises core members from different departments, which aims
to assist the Board in overseeing ESG matters. The business
departments and functional departments will complete the relevant
work within their functions in accordance with the direction of the
ESG Team.
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Stakeholder Engagement

The Group places great emphasis on the issues that are important
to the stakeholders, including but not limited to customers and
employees, as well as non-governmental organizations. The Group
is actively seeking every opportunity to understand and engage the
stakeholders to ensure that improvement of the products and
services can be implemented. The Group strongly believes that the
stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the success of the
business.

Areas of concern
REEEEEE

Stakeholders
HinE
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Communication and response
78 38 Nz [o] FE

Stock Exchange
timely and accurate disclosure

Compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and

Meetings, trainings, seminars, website updates
and announcements

B 22 PR ESFGEM AR B LA K 78 BF 2E T /F HH 12 B2 B il A HLER ARG

Government Compliance with laws and regulations, Interactions and visits, government inspections,

and regulators avoidance of tax evasion, and social welfare  tax returns and other information

B R B E AR BERIOER  BRRR T SRR BEEhFH - NED ~ IR REMER

Suppliers Payment schedule and stable demand On-site visits

HrErS TAREERERIBERK 528

Investors Corporate governance, business strategies and Interviews, general meetings, financial reports

performance and investment returns and operational reports to investors and media

and analysts

Eg=£2) TEER ~ EHRBELRBEUREERLIR EK s REAG ~ MigEE REB LD TR H
MBRENEERS

Media and the public Corporate governance, environmental The Company’s announcements, quarterly

protection and human rights

reports, interim reports and annual reports

JEE SN TEEAVIRENMAR ERBNANE s ZERE - PHRENRFERS
Customers Product and service quality, delivery schedule, After-sales services

reasonable price, service value and personal

data protection
=R EmkRBESE - XNFER - 5BEBR R SER®

BEENEAERRE
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Stakeholders Areas of concern Communication and response
B inE RAEEEIS & 18 K O] FE
Employees Rights and benefits, employee compensation, Meetings and trainings, interviews with

career development, working hours, working
environment, labor protection and work safety,
staff remuneration, compliance with laws

== AR EN - BEME BEER -TIK-T
FIRIZE - B IRERIFLZ2 - BIHFM &
AR

community Community environment, employment and

community development and social welfare

) HEIRE - BEAMEERULAE R m

Materiality Assessment

The Group has identified ESG issues that have potential or actual
impacts on its sustainable development from various sources. After
considering a series of factors, including the Group's overall
strategy, development and goals, internal policies and industry
trends, the Group completed a materiality survey to solicit
stakeholders’ opinions on our ESG material issues, the results of
which are presented below.

employees, internal memos and employee
suggestion boxes, internal emails

g ARSI - RERTHRLEER
R8> ERERfF

Community activities, volunteer activities for
employees, and community charity funding and
donation

HeEFH -BEEELTHULRHERATEN R

iR

EZ2MTE
FAEECHNKESERENHEAFEEREE
ENEERZENRE - HERELRERE - HE2E—
#IHER > BEARENEBERE  ZEKERZ
REPER ~ ITREBBR - ARESTR T —HEEMN
B RO EHBRMBER - HEREREER
BNER  BRETWT -
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The chart be_logv summarizes the results of the materiality TRELHBEHDIWIRE HENEAEHEETE

assessment of the identified ESG issues: BT ENER

ot

Significance to stakeholders

HiSHENTZE

High 1#

Low
&

Materiality Matrix
EEMNER
6. Protection of Employee’s

Health and Safety
6. REETRERLE

13. Data Safety and

Protection of Privacy i

13. BB Z 2 R FAREIRE 7. Emplo
Develo|

11. Protection of Intellectual \ 7. BTH

Property Rights °
1. FHEHEREE 14. Anti-corruptio
. . D 14 RE=
12. Diversity and Equality

12. 2T R LR 16.

0o o
\ \_ 1. Emission Control 16.
° 1. BEpEEs|

I \ \ 3. Prote

4. Risk Management for J 2. Energy Management
Climate Change 2. BEREE
4. FRIRECRARIEL

15. Community Investment
O 5 HEKRE

Significance to the Company’s business Hi
HOFEBNTE il
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Environmental Goals

During the Reporting Period, the Group has basically achieved the
goals set in 2022 to reduce the indicators of water, electricity,
waste emission and greenhouse gas emission to a set range. In
order to continue to implement the green and low-carbon
economic transformation into the Company’s daily operations and
management policies, and at the same time, make efforts to cope
with global climate change, resolutely achieve “carbon peak by
2030 and carbon neutrality by 2060", and facilitate the evaluation of
effectiveness of the Group's strategies and measures to mitigate
the impact of climate change, the Group has set environmental
goals at all levels, as shown below:

It is targeted to reduce intensity by 2030, with 2023 as the base
year:

Electricity consumption  Water consumption

Non-hazardous waste

RS

RIGER

RREHAR > AEBEEKERIEM2022FRIH
B AKX BT BERYHRULBEREES
BMBIERERERENLER © 37 i BERE
FRUNSHEEEREEEARANBEEEZ LN
NEEF#HT > AR RERRESME S
710 BORE R 120304 Fi Ak 2 1§ ~ 20604 & Bk H
M1 o MR EET (4 & BB AE R IR R E R R
BBV ENE - REESEESRE TIRIEEE W
TR -

B2 EI2030F F KR E » MU2023F A EEEF .

Greenhouse gas

intensity intensity intensity emission intensity
RESMEE AKkERE JEfE I EE Y oE 2 R BE HE R

1 5% l 5% 1l 5% 1 5%

These goals are set to guide the Group’s business strategy. The ) BB T ERIRIRMIES] o =

steps taken to achieve these goals are detailed below.

56
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ENVIRONMENT

A sustainable environment is the foundation for long-term
economic and social prosperity. The Group believes that
sustainable development is not only an ethical obligation, but
also a gateway to business success. Therefore, the Group
prioritizes environmental protection, formulates a series of
environmental protection policies and measures, and
incorporates them into its business strategy and
decision-making process, in order to reduce any undesirable
impact on the environment and continue to contribute to
sustainable development.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with
and did not violate the relevant environmental laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on it, including but
not limited to the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Environmental Protection ({#E A R M EIBIER#E X)) and
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Water Pollution
Prevention and Control ((FR#EAREMEBEACTLEEAEED) in
Mainland China and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

A1. Emissions
Exhaust Emission
Due to the nature of the Group’s core business
activities, it does not own or control any stationary
sources or mobile sources that involve direct fuel
consumption; therefore, it does not have any air
emissions during the course of its daily operations.

IRIT
AHBERNRRECER T ERIEEN
B o xEERR > AIREBEERIERE—2
EREFERXBRIINNEE - Flt » A&
ERIRIEREERE N HIE T —RIIRIE
REBURMIENE > W7i§ HAAA R B BBEAR
RBREF > BRABHIRIZEREFNEEF
B THEESFREERFHER -

REBEHE > c2EEEERETIEERIBE
REEBEEATENFIEERIRFRERNE
R BEERRRPEREN(FEARH
MBEIRIFREE) R(FEARAME AR
BiRE) U & BB E 354 B (B R B %
B

A1l. HERY
EESHER
RSB O R EBNMNE > 2
MRS ST E S R E R N R
MEERIAEE  WHAEEERR
o 3t 458 4T fA] % SR HERK ©
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group continues to carry out greenhouse gas
inventory and verification, and the scope of the
inventory includes direct greenhouse gas emissions
(Scope 1) and indirect greenhouse gas emissions
(Scope 2). Considering the business characteristics of
the Group, the Group's daily operations do not involve
the significant use of vehicles or fuels, so direct
greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) are not involved.
The main concern is indirect greenhouse gas emissions
(Scope 2). Due to indirect emissions from purchased
electricity externally, the Group realizes that the
selection and use of energy has a great impact on
greenhouse gas emissions, and therefore strives to find
measures such as renewable energy and energy
efficiency improvement to reduce indirect emissions
and enhance sustainability.

Details of greenhouse gas emissions during the
Reporting Period are set out in the table below:

BERBEHHL
SESEHRRAZEREBEAZET
= /A= Edh

B BERECEEREEREBIN
(BE—-) BEAEREHR (EE
D) EEIAEENEBRFR  &F
HEEEUT NI RAEEA[EIM
oAt EFRERED N (BE—)
WASR - TBRENEEREERE
B (BE D) - MRIEINBREES
MmELHBZIN - REEHEIERN
EENEAHRAEREIRNTEE
X Bt &S SR BERERMEEN
CUHEEIEE » LURD R HFL IR T+ 7]
REM -

PRSI  BERBEIFGEHBEHN T
e

Indicator’ Unit 2023 2022

FE4E" B I 20234 20224

Direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) tCO,e 0 0

HERAERBEIHR (BE—) WA — S {b fik

Indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2)  tCO.e 35.93 50.97

BRREREHR (HEED) W _ESLIREE

Total greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1 & tCO,e 35.93 50.97
Scope 2)

BERBINEE (HEE—&FHED) Mg — E 1Bk

Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions tCO,e/employee? 1.71 0.93

BEREHFREE ME | LIREE BT
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Notes:

1. Greenhouse gas emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide
equivalent with reference to, including but not limited to, “The
Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources Institute
and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development,
“"How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Hong Kong
Exchange, the latest published Baseline Emission Factors for
Regional Power Grids in the PRC, and the “Sustainability Report
2022" of Hong Kong Electric Investments.

2. As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the total
number of employees of the Group was 21 and 55 respectively.
This data is also used for calculating other intensity data.

Waste Management

Hazardous waste

Due to the Group's business nature, no hazardous
waste was generated during the Reporting Period and
hence no specific target was set. Nevertheless, we will
remain vigilant and ensure that our business activities
have no negative impact on the environment. If any
hazardous waste is found, the Group will actively
engage qualified recyclers to carry out waste recycling
and disposal work to minimize the impact on the
surrounding environment.

Non-hazardous waste

Office general refuse including disposal of wastepaper,
and packaging of other general food and beverage cans
and bottles are the main source of non-hazardous
waste, which are handled properly on a daily basis to
maintain hygiene in workplace. The said waste is
minimal in quantity and therefore no relevant data is
collected and no specific target was set. Nevertheless,
the Group advocates the concept of a green and
sustainable working environment and adopts the “4R”
principle — reduce, reuse, recycle and recover, to
minimize the generation of wastes.

FEE -

1. BERBHREEDNR_ALREER
5] WS REEBF RN ERE R IR
LEtRTHEXEIHESSTHENCR
ERRRBRETREE  CXEHEBRER
) ~ EBRZFREMB (NAEFIRE
HERERRS — MR RIBMAREA
RIERERIES)) « RITEMH T EE
BREEEGHRER - RBEEBNREN
(022 F FIFHEHRIRE) -

2, B E2023F12531H K&20226 12831
B> AEENETRABDBA21IAKSS
A o ILEIRTNE BIFsH EAMEE R

BEYEE

BEEBEEY

RIEFEENESME » ARE BT
REEERBEEY > AT RRER
EREIR - BEWILL > WIS ERE
% TWRERHLSHNIRZRIEER
T  EUREAEEEY  s5ET
TEIBES 58 & 4% BY [ Wa B SR E AT BE ) o]
WAERETF » SR B EIRIZHIZ &R
REIRMK -

BREEREY

WMAER—AREIR - SRR HAth
—REREKENHRENESE > B2E
SEERVNEIBRR > ZFEERYESX
EZEmBEERS TRSMNEE -
LitBEENERY - FItLIEIREAERE
MR EEMBRRRTE - BEWL
rEBEEGEBRAFELFIRIEE
20 WA T4R1RRY G ~ BFIAE
BIRNEI) UEBE RV EREYNES
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Waste category Unit 2023 2022
EEE YR B (i 20234 20224
Total amount of non-hazardous waste

BEBEEYVRE

e Paper Kg 81.08 294.72
o /5K NRS

Total non-hazardous waste intensity Kg/employee? 3.86 5.36
BEBREVRERE Nr/BI?

Use of Resources

Energy Management

Environmental sustainability is the key to the long-term
development of the Group. The Group is committed to
sustainable development and strives to minimize waste
of resources. In the course of daily operations, the
Group emphasizes the effective use of resources, and
further promotes efficient resource consumption by
establishing the “Smart Use of Electricity, Water and
Paper Rules” for more refined and intelligent
management. Specific electricity saving measures are as
follows:

turn off air-conditioners and lights during
non-office hours and/or in idle rooms;

o turn off unused lighting and appliances to reduce
energy consumption;

o regularly maintain office equipment such as
air-conditioners, computers, lights, etc.; and

o educate employees on energy saving

A2

BiRfER

BEREE
RIFAIFEERAEERPE RN
2o AEERNIIFHEER > UBHE
ERVERRE - EHEEEBES
FEBIELRNENFA » BBRIL
(FREEAED  KRERRIDUE
INFEMML ~ BREEHER » E—P{RE
SHEREE - ARDNASHERT
T

o FAPASEMIAREKR SMEEM
BYZETA R EE

o FARITEARRANER  UEF
R EETRIHAE 5
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The Group’s energy consumption performance is

summarized as follows:

AEEMBERBRRFEMENT

Energy type Unit 2023 2022
AERTESE B {1 20234 20224F
Direct energy consumption 0 0
BiEERERE

Indirect energy consumption

MR EERHAE

Purchased electricity kwh 62,726.84 86,373.75
SNEBEN T RE

Total energy consumption kwh 62,726.84 86,373.75
BERAHER T RE

Total energy consumption intensity kwh/employee? 2,986.99 1,570.43
BERAHERE FRE §I2
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Water Management

The Group does not have any issue in sourcing water
and the existing water supply meets its daily operation
needs. Water consumption by the Group is minimal,
which is mainly used for basic cleaning and sanitation.
In order to reduce water wastage, the Group actively
promotes the awareness of water conservation among
the employees and comprehensively improves water
efficiency. The Group has implemented the following
water conservation measures:

o Rectify water leakage problems of water pipes,
faucets, toilets and other equipment in the office
in a timely manner to avoid unnecessary water
loss.

o Raise employees’ awareness of water conservation
through internal promotion and training, and
encourage them to adopt water conservation
measures in their daily work.

o Reasonably use water source equipment and make
full use of its capacity to reduce unnecessary
water consumption.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s water
consumption was as follows:

HKEE

252 B 0 SR KR 75 E RV R BIRE
BRFKEEEREHAEEERE -
FEBKERBFEBD » TBARER
BREREE « BEDVNORE » AEEE
BIEERENEKEH » 2EIESAKX
M © AEEBERE NSRRI AKX
B

o KREEERAERRIKE KB
R FERERBIRKEE &
RAGERKERK o

s BBNIEEMEI - REET
HEARKBER > SEthFIE
B & T EREREEIKIEN ©

s GEERAKERE X mOMBH
BE S BOTBERAK -

REREHE > AEENAKENT !

Indicator Unit 2023 2022
1515 B i 20234 20224
Water consumption? ms3 739.73 947.31
FAKEs AV N

Water consumption intensity ms/employee? 35.22 17.22

BKERE

IHKRE?
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Note:

3. For the Hong Kong office in Admiralty, the relevant water
consumption fee is included in the management fee, therefore
the disclosed data does not include the water consumption of
the Hong Kong office.

Packaging Materials

Since the Group’s core business activities do not
involve the use of packaging materials, no data in this
regard is available.

Environment and Natural Resources

The principal activities of the Group are smart retail
business and lottery business (ceased in August 2023).
Even though the business has a relatively small impact
on the environment, environmental protection is still the
responsibility and commitment of the Group. We firmly
believe that sustainable development is inseparable
from environmental protection and integrate
environmental awareness into daily business
decision-making and operation processes. Through
internal training and awareness raising activities, we
strengthen employees’ understanding of environmental
protection and encourage employees to take
environmental protection actions in their work and life.
The Group is committed to continuing its efforts to
move forward on the path of sustainable development
and working with stakeholders to promote the goals of
environmental protection and sustainable development.

¥ EE

CHERELRHRS

A3.

ERBMRAF « 2023 FERS

FEE -

3. MAUNEZENEBMAEMS > HBRK
HEBEAOSTEEEN  HIRBRET
BEEBMLERNEFE

HRAEEZ ORI A K&
e M EE 75 |y -

RIERKARER

FEBENETEXHFRESTERHU
MR EHFS (FR2023F8 B 42 1E) » BIfsE

%?‘ﬂi&iﬁﬂ’]%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁd\ » BIRIBER

ENMAREENSEMASE - MR
TE ) AR RAIRIRRER A9

iﬁ%fﬁf%gﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁj\ BHEB R REAN
EEAET > BENEEIMEREEA
VEE 0 IR B8 THIRIGRENH > &
B E T TENEEHRBIRFRITE
EEEAHAREESNEIFEEREN
B _ERERFITT 0 WA mAARE R
HHRIGREMASELRNEEZ -
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A4. Climate Change

IRIG - B REREBS

Ad. RIREL

The public awareness of climate change is rising, and
climate change is also one of the most frequently
discussed issues in the world. Given the severity and
urgency of the climate crisis, governments have
recently accelerated their response to climate change.
The Group reviews and identifies climate-related risks
annually while conducting risk assessment. These
include physical risks (e.g. extreme weather conditions)
and transition risks (e.g. regulatory changes in
environmental matters) and are summarized as follows:

NRHRRENEATERS > |
BTREAR L RIAEFHBZEDN
— c ERRIEGCHIBRESEMEREM! -
HEBAFIIAMRT BE R &0
Tk o AEBEETRABRFEVRE -
SEEEWHHBARERERR - HF
BEERAR (FIWEEXRBER &
BERRE (PHNRREENEEEL)
WABASEN T

Risk type Risks and potential financial impacts Mitigation strategy
[ B 48 5)) JE B DA B2 B 7E B B 75 7 28 ol

Physical risks

Extreme weather conditions, such as
increased frequency of flooding and
typhoon, may cause damage to the
Company’s equipment and increase
operating costs

Extreme weather also causes disasters,
which may threaten personal safety
and increase insurance COsts

Cooler or warmer temperatures may
lead to increased use of air
conditioning or heating, resulting in
higher costs

Tim R RGN > WK B R EIAR
BN AIREE R AR REIEIE > EEN
A IB N

M KREBSIBEKE > AJEHASR
DEREE - REEAAIE N

A LREENTERNH RAEE
ROEVERIEM > ERMA EF

Locate offices in top-tier cities
Apply extreme weather warnings
and regularly inspect operating
equipment

Establish adverse weather
condition policy

Adopt energy conservation
measures

R AERE— BRI
HFBIHRRRE » EHHEERR
ETRE
HESTHRRBREHER
PRENENBEFE I
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Risk type
[ % %8 7))

IRIG - 1B RERHS

Risks and potential financial impacts
BRI R BN &

Mitigation strategy
4% R SR PR

Transition risks

B E R

The policy system of “Carbon Peaking

and Carbon Neutrality” issued by the
State Council has been gradually

improved, and enterprises have higher

requirements for green development
The national policy requires the
collection of environmental
protection-related taxes

The market prefers environmentally
friendly enterprises more

B0 75 e 8% 5 Y T I B R AN ) IO B SR B8
AEBHTE  EERNGEBERERSE

(=]

=
Bl R R ERBUIRRERMIRIE
MSENRARERESSNEE

Continue to monitor the regulatory
environment to ensure that the
Group meets the expectations of
regulatory authority and complies
with the environmental-related laws
and regulations.

Combine the Group's business
philosophy with the “Action Plan for
Carbon Peaking by 2030" ({20304
BRI IE1T B 75 22)) issued by the
State, and continuously improve the
“dual carbon” work constraint
mechanism.

MERRETIRIE  LURRASER
SR ERETRIA ST RIRIE B RN
EEERR o
BEENEEEINEREMN
(2030 F HihikZE &1 TH) 5 22 B4

B TESES N80 TIEAURIES o
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SOCIAL

The Group’s success is inseparable from a strong team of
committed and innovative talents. In order to create a
harmonious working environment, it is committed to
providing different training opportunities for all employees to
attract, motivate and retain talents. It is believed that by
developing employees’ skills and knowledge, they will be able
to better cope with challenges and opportunities and make
outstanding contributions to the sustainable development of
the Group. We attach great importance to the development
and welfare of employees and provide competitive
compensation and benefits and good career development
paths to build an attractive working environment and attract
and retain the best talents.

As a responsible employer, the Group has complied with and
did not violate the laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on all relevant employees, including but not
limited to the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China
((hEARHMEAL S5E)), the Labor Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China ((PEARIMEAL S SEE))
and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Production
Safety ((FPZEARHEMBELEEEA)) in Mainland China and
the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage
Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter
282 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

]

AEBRAINEAHBEERES - EHEIM
BENBIAS MERBIBAREEX o & 7 EiEMaE
NITIERIE » MO AFEELRHAREN
IS - LIRS~ BB EAS - 815
RIBEE S THIRAEMMNGE - tfIREESNE
grt RSB E > T AEENITRER
MEEEER - RMERETINERNE
o REBRBRF NBFINER RFBIE
FURRE MBI —EBARIINHNIIFR
1% RS LBEREFHAL -

ER—REEENET  cEEEETHIL
REERFIEHEREEEERTZENEARK
R BREFNRIRPEAREN(TEAR
HMEEEZE) ~ (FEAREMNESH SR
)P EARANBEZEEE R URE
AEPIFES7TE (BB ERA) ~ FEEH 5485
E (RFIERREETBRA) ~ FAEHIF 608
B(RETERKRG) - FBEFIHEIS0E (15!
I tR R BI) ~ BB AR FE 2828 (R B ERF
B
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Employment

Employment Practices

The Group has formulated internal policies in
accordance with relevant labor laws and regulations,
covering areas such as compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, holidays,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, other
benefits and welfare, employment development and
training, and child and forced labor. To ensure that
employees clearly and consistently understand and
implement the Group’s key policies, we have formulated
an "Employee Handbook”, which details the rights of
employees, such as working hours, leave entitlements,
other benefits and welfare. "Employee Handbook” is
available to all employees upon request for referring
and understanding of their rights and interests. The
Group is committed to establishing a fair, transparent
and supportive working environment to ensure that
employees’ rights and interests are fully respected and
protected.

Welfare and Benefits

Adhering to the principles of fairness, reward and
legality, the Group has established a set of fair and
reasonable remuneration policies. In order to achieve
effective personnel management, the Group offers
rewards (e.g. promotion) and inflicts punishments (e.g.
warning and dismissal) based on the employees’
performance and behavior.

B1. 1&{&

EREG

FEECRBAERAS TERNERS
ETRBECR - HE T MEMRRE 18
BANEA S IR B TEHE 2
o~ RIRAR ~ A mAER  BE
BERMBFINIUANREINRFIEZEIEFS
H > AFEEREIEME -2t 7T HRNE
WAEENEEHR  RMIRBIET
F - HpsrdBye T 8 THER
PN TR ~ BJ=HERRE « EA) A
BRI -FAEEIRIURIMIELF
) > LUESZEMBEEMFIAIER o &
SEBIRBU—EART ~ BEAMF
ETERNTIFRE  DIBRRETIHE
mRERNEBEMRE -

&R R Fl 2

FEBRALQT - BBHNSENRA
FIET —EQTEENFHINEEEK - /B
REMHIAFEE » REE TR
77 AEERGTER  NMEA > I
MEABR 7D - INE SRR o
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All employees are entitled to all statutory holidays,
leave and welfare as stipulated in the national and local
laws and regulations, including but not limited to paid
maternity leave, marriage leave, bereavement leave and
annual leave. In addition, the Group believes that
maintaining a work-life balance is essential to the
physical and mental health of employees. Therefore, we
always adhere to the principle of no forced overtime to
ensure that employees have sufficient rest and personal
time. We are committed to creating a positive
environment that supports the well-being and job
satisfaction of our employees and promotes their
overall well-being and growth.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and
Anti-discrimination

The Group always endeavours to provide a fair working
environment where employees are treated equally and
respectfully. All employees are assessed and
remunerated based on their skills and abilities,
regardless of their race, religion, gender, age or
disability.

The Group strives to create a zero-tolerance
environment for bullying, belittling and sexual
harassment by implementing policies that prohibit
discrimination and harassment. The Group is
determined to oppose any form of discrimination and
harassment and encourages employees to actively
participate in and promote respect, inclusiveness and
diversity, creating a united and harmonious working
atmosphere where every employee feels safe,
respected and has the opportunity to realize their full
potential.

FIEET B REBKXMM T ARE
RRERFAEZERE ~ RPN EF -
BREEBARRIHIFER  15R - BIRM
FR o Lo ARERERFTERE
ERNTERETINEOREERESR -
E I > FAFI85 48 B A5 A 52 H N A9 R
A ERETENEERTENKEMNE
ABFE o HPAIBAORAIR—EHET
B TIEREERNBRIRE » &S
ITHEEFZRERRE -

FEHE  STIERREH

AEB-HEBRNORABEIRERFH
TIFRIR - ERMAZEQFFELE
BRDEE - B S TAYHENFHM
H EEE M PIBYIRBERBES] > TR
fthFIRITERR ~ B 1455 ~ FERIRE
AT °

BERTRELARMBENEE > 857
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 21
employees (2022: 55 employees). The breakdown of
these employees by gender, age group and region are

as follows:

By gender
FeERIE 5

52%

By region
waHE 9

® Mainland China
FRED A R
Hong Kong
&5

By age group
FEESAER B 5

67%

By employee category
BETERE S

43%

B ZE2023F 128310 AERBEHSE
2148 1R 8 (20224F : 554 B) » B
ETMR ~ FEH4E R Xt E 85> AY8T
MW

Under 30 years old
305U

30-50 years old
30-50%%

Over 50 years old
505U £

Management

EEE

Middle-level employees
FEET

Junior employees
THRE T
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During the Reporting Period, the detailed distribution of
the Group’s turnover rate by gender, age and region is

PR EHRRE AR~ Filk Kot
BE DMK RFMOMUT -

as follows:
2023 2022
Percentage Percentage
of of
Number of employees Number of employees
employees leaving the employees leaving the
leaving the company* leaving the company
Indicator company (%) company (%)
B TRER B TRER B T B B TER
1512 AL H 53 LE4(%) AE B 59 EE (%)
By gender MRS E
— Male — B 19 190.00 11 35.48
— Female — 16 145.45 11 45.83
By age group B AR 248
<30 <30 20 333.33 9 37.50
31-50 31-50 15 107.14 12 41.38
>50 >50 0 0 1 50.00
By region &5 5E
— The PRC — HE 33 183.33 19 37.25
— Hong Kong — BE 2 66.67 3 75.00
Note: F 5 -
4. Formula for calculating the percentage of employees leaving the 4. BAREtEETHEBAE SN ARS | &8
company: number of leaving employees of the category/total AEBENERAM ZEINREEHK
number of employees of the category* 100% *100%
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B2. Health and Safety B2. BRHZR

The Group is committed to providing a safe working
environment for all employees, placing the occupational
health and safety of employees as a top priority. We
deeply believe that every employee has the right to feel
safe and protected in the workplace. Therefore, we
spare no effort to minimize potential occupational
hazards.

In the Group’s values, the health and safety of
employees are uncompromised. We strictly follow and
do not violate relevant laws and regulations relating to
workplace safety, including but not limited to the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases ({F#E A B H R
JRBHEIEY) in Mainland China and the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) to ensure that our working environment
meets the standards and provides the best protection
measures.

We continuously invest resources and take necessary
measures, including risk assessment, training and
equipment maintenance, to ensure that the risks faced
by employees during their work are effectively
controlled. The Group encourages employees to actively
participate in safety management, provide opinions and
suggestions, and jointly promote the safety and health
of the workplace. During the past three reporting
periods, the Group did not have any work-related
fatalities or working days lost due to work injury. This is
the achievement of the Group’s focus and efforts on
occupational health and safety, as well as a firm
commitment to employee well-being.

AEERNIRAEREBTIRMZEHN
TRRE > SETHBXEREARZREE
REZEHBIMUE - RFRE > BUE
ITHEREIFSAPRIZENR
BfR5E o [k > HFINER G EE
HXCERERKE -

EAEENEERT > ETHRENZ
EEEZIHH - RARBBIEIR
BB TSI 2RERERER
BREERNRRPEREN(FEART
MEBRRIA R UREBEH S
509% (B k22 = M iR R 5B DURE AR K
P TIFRET G RETIRHRERN
RAEHE ©

RFIFFERAER > FREUL E2RHEE -
BERBET G ~ BT REMERE - LUE
REIAIFBETEENERSE
BXES - RERBETI RGBS AL S
B REERMNEE  HEIRETF
BN R EEMBRE - EBA =l
SR ARERELEEARTHBER
W IEHERAETSARETIFH#ME
e ERERNRRERERZ 2T
MEBAMMR > hEHETEUNRTE

2t

GG ©
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Indicator Unit Quantity
1512 B (i =
Number of work-related fatalities in each of the past three years person 0
BEZFSFRITHHARK A

Rate of work-related fatalities in each of the past three years % 0
BEZFSFRITUHRLEE %

Number of working days lost due to work injury Working days 0
RAIGELIEREE T1EH

The Group will continuously pay attention to and 7 B [ % 450 A 1 B 3t R VA O SUEE B 32
improve the occupational health and safety BEAZE2ERRER BRELENT
management system to ensure that employees can —(EZ 2 ~ EEMNTIEIRE D IE M
exert their best ability in a safe and healthy working BIERERET] o HMEE TR MM
environment. We regard the occupational health and ZEAESE NS WiGHESH
safety of employees as our utmost responsibility and BREUETHEE - Z2MNEURE
will continue our efforts to ensure that the health, RAEENRE © MERESREEM
safety and well-being of every employee is protected to T5 » AEBRFREMELEIENH 7’
the greatest extent. In case any employee encounters REEMESRHESEFERE -

any work-related injuries, the Group will take all
necessary measures to ensure that proper medical care
is offered to the relevant employee.
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The Group has implemented the following management
approaches to create and maintain a comfortable, safe
and healthy working environment for the employees:

o The administration department is responsible for
setting up the position of person in charge of
safety management in each premise,
implementing the person in charge as the person
responsible for safety production, and establishing
an emergency team to regularly investigate,
manage and rectify accidents and hidden hazards
of production safety.

o In the event of a safety management accident, the
person in charge of safety management shall
immediately organize relevant personnel to deal
with it accordingly to avoid losses to the
Ccompany’s property and the personal safety of
employees in a timely manner.

o Storing and using flammable, explosive and other
dangerous goods, such as mosquito coils, stoves,
lighters and other equipment with naked flames,
are strictly prohibited. Smoking should be taken in
a designated area, and smoking indoors or in an
undesignated area is not allowed.

o Electricity is used safely without overloading
electrical appliances and unauthorized connection
of electrical wires to ensure personal safety when
using electrical appliances. Electrical facilities are
inspected after work and personal workplace
electrical equipment, chargers and other
flammable and explosive dangerous goods are
turned off in a timely manner.

mAREEENER—ETE - “2K
RENTIERE  AEEEETUTE
B

s  THEEEEREMAGRIL
Z2EEBEAN REXTEEE
ARBEEESTMEAN > WRILE
=B ERHEEZREEHE
BT REMEN o

o HAELZXEEFHNE > Z2EE
BEANEE—HEERERAR
EITHRRIE > REFREHAF
MEMUNETABZEEMIER

s REFH -ERAZMN - BEZL
Bam o BIGIENE ~ MR ~ $T 00
FHNRM - BEEE &S
B FAFEERTARIEERE
HE o

s RE2A%ETHBAENEAESRK
FARIBLIF B URBFEHER
KA ZE - THBERER
i RESEEEATESR
e REBEESZZMBIRERY -
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o The administration department arranges an overall
fire inspection once a month to check whether
the fire extinguishers, fire hydrants, smoke
sensor, fire sprinkler, etc. are in good condition.
The person in charge of safety management of
each premise is responsible for patrolling the
building, checking the safety of various electrical
appliances, office equipment, corridors, and
personnel entry and exit, and handling problems
in a timely manner.

B3. Development and Training

The development of the Group revolves around the
people-oriented concept and the Group attaches great
importance to the personal development of employees.
By investing in employees through training, employees’
job satisfaction and loyalty can be enhanced. Different
types of training are provided internally by the
Company with the aim of improving employees’
knowledge and abilities.

All employees will receive on-the-job training, including
the Group’s introduction, department structure,
responsibilities, required skills and work instructions,
etc., which help to ensure that all employees have
sufficient knowledge and skills to provide high-quality
services to customers. As the above training is provided
on a regular basis, no record is collected. In addition to
employee training, the Group also provides training to
the directors, covering topics such as their
responsibilities, updates on legal and regulatory rules,
latest business development and corporate governance,
to ensure that the directors possess the latest
knowledge and skills so that they can discharge their
duties and adapt to the changing business
environment.

s THHERAEMZH—REEHE
PiRsE > PFE IR AES ~ HE
ER - EHEBEREDTE > &
Ghhe2EEas A AasKEX
B BRERBES  WARE
BEze - ABELER  #R
B R B RRIE o

B3. #E&IE

FEENZEREGEUARENES
SEEREINEALE BBERES
THYER > AIUBRABR I IIEREE
MBHE - RE]NERRESZEREEE
BYEFI - STEBMNE TAYRBITR S Mt
fIBYBETT ©

FE B TR ARSI > REEE
REBBNAE ~ EPIEE  BIE S FRE
REEM TRfET S » BLIET BB
RFFBEE T A ESBIR BB AE
NmE R RHEEENRS o MK LaiE
STh EHRTR M - A b W SRR AT A
B o BT EIHEI > KEERESREM
Hl > ARREERBS « ERENEER
AINRENR - XHBIRFERULE

REELH  BRRESMHEERND
FANEEE > LUBEMPIBESIBITHES
38 FE A B B B B R IR IR o
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By providing training and development opportunities to
employees, we hope to unleash their potential and
provide them with approaches for growth and
promotion. We cherish the personal development of
employees and have established a learning organization
to encourage continuous learning, growth and
innovation of employees. In this way, we believe that
employees will be able to better cope with job
challenges and achieve personal and occupational
Success.

During the Reporting Period, the breakdown of the
percentage of employees trained by gender and

employee category of the Group is as follows:

As the following table illustrates:

Breakdown of

wiEa e TIRMHIEIIMEREE > &M
EREMPINES > AR
RMNBEANERE - RAEREIHEA
B TRU—(ESHRES > HBE
THAE2E « pliRMAIR - BBEES
L HPIEEE T EF AR T
TEDREL > WEVSE A MBS EBIRTY o

PR EHAR - AERRIER KR EE!

FN0REERIFDLEBRMENT -

WMT B -

Average

employees Employees training hours
trained trained  of employees
in 2023% in 2023¢ in 2023
Indicator (%) (%) (hours)
20235 20234 20234
Il S THR4Ms = BT FEHZI
1512 (%) (%) BFER7 (/)VBF)
By gender g kdil o
— Male — B4 25 10.00 1.00
— Female — 75 27.27 2.91
By employee category ¥REHENDE
— Management — BiEfE 50 3.33 4.00
— Middle-level employees — FREET 50 22.22 2.44
— Junior employees — HRET = — —
Notes: R
5. Formula for calculating the breakdown of employees 5. S ETHMAEAR= xBEREZIIA

trained = number of employees trained under x category/total
number of employees trained * 100%

6. Formula for calculating the percentage of employees
trained = number of employees trained/number of
employees * 100%

7. Formula for calculating average training hours of
employees = total training hours/total number of employees

B /RZHIRE* 100%

6. RMETEDEFHEAN=RIIEE &
8 A#* 100%

7. BTITHRIBHAEQARN=BF
B RERAR
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B4. Labour Standards

Preventing Child and Forced Labour

The Group adheres to stringent internal review
procedures during the recruitment process, including
verifying personal information of applicants. For
example, the recruitment department requires
candidates to provide identity proof to ensure that their
age meets the legal requirements. If any relevant
incident occurs, the management will make necessary
reports to the law enforcement agency and conduct
internal investigations to determine if there are any fault
that may lead to such incident during the recruitment
process.

The Group strictly complies with and does not violate
the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China ({&
= AR HEMELEE)) and the Labour Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China ((FZEARFEMEHENS
[E5%)) in Mainland China, the Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
labour regulations related to the prohibition of child and
forced labour employment. We strictly prohibit the
employment of forced and child labour. During the
Reporting Period, all employees were over the age of 18
and officially employed in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations. The Group did not identify any
non-compliance or complaint.

We are committed to ensuring the compliance and
transparency of the recruitment process, and strictly
comply with the requirements of laws and regulations,
value the rights and well-being of employees, and strive
to provide them with fair and equal employment
opportunities. The Group will continue to strengthen the
internal review process to ensure the accuracy and
legality of the recruitment process, and continuously
improve the recruitment standards to ensure that every
employee can obtain employment opportunities in a fair
and transparent environment.

B4. % T 48

Bk ET REFHET

AEBTERBRREPETREIADD
Z2REN SEZERSANEAAR
#} o BN > IRESERPTE ERIRE IR M
S ERRUBRAFENTSEREE
WMRBLEEMBEETHR > EEESOR
ERBFH L E2RRE  LRFANEH
EUEERBBRREPRSFEEMA
BEEREHWAIKRR

FEBBRBETIREER PEIKE
BCREARKEMBESZE L) > (FEA
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STE(RERG) FHMEMEILESR
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B5. Supply Chain Management B5. {HFEHEEIR

The Group attaches great importance to supply chain
management, not only focus on enhancing cost
competitiveness, but also the sustainability of the
supply chain. The Group supports the purchase of
environmentally friendly products to minimize the
impact of our business operations on the environment
while maintaining close cooperation with suppliers to
ensure the quality of products and services provided to
our customers. The Group strictly monitors the
selection and performance of suppliers to ensure that
they can provide high-quality products and services to
meet operational needs and customers’ expectations.
During the year, the Group cooperated with 58
suppliers. Good cooperative relations are established to
jointly solve problems and improve processes through
regular communication and cooperation, so as to
ensure the stability and reliability of the supply chain.
We strive to ensure the responsibility and sustainability
of the supply chain by purchasing environmentally
friendly products, monitoring the performance and
selection of suppliers, and regularly evaluating and
eliminating suppliers that do not meet the standards.
The Group will continue to focus on and improve its
supply chain management to achieve the goal of
sustainable development in economic, environmental
and social aspects.

FEBFEERMEMBBEE » TERE
RAMRARSE ] B HEBRI AR
B EEXRBEIRFRAER UK
MERBEEHRENTERERME
EREHEERIEESE  UBERH
FERRHNERNRBIRE - KEH
HEBNEENGMETRREE
LR RMFPIBESRERmENERM
R LUmE BE R RME BV -
AEE > EEHESBREEEHERT
BF > RPBILT RENSIERIG > B
BEHBBMNGE  HEFRBE - 2L
EmAE o MEREEENREEMA SR
o BBRBRARER  BRIEMHAERN
RIDMIEERE > LU ERSHEM SRR
GIRENHER » SHRRHEEENS
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Open and Fair Procurement

The Group closely monitors the performance of existing
suppliers and selects new suppliers based on various
standards such as clear qualifications, company scale
and reputation. Each procurement department regularly
evaluates the approved suppliers to ensure that the
products and services purchased by the Group meet
the standards. Those suppliers who fail to meet the
standards for a long time will be eliminated. We
emphasize the transparency and compliance of
procurement decisions to ensure that records and
documents of the procurement process are kept in
order for audit and verification. The “Technology
Outsourcing Management Policy” established by the
Group clearly sets out the guidelines on competitive
bidding and supplier performance evaluation. According
to the policy, we will obtain guotations from more than
one supplier for comparison, so as to ensure the
impartiality of the supplier audit process. Fair
procurement is not only a procurement method, but
also a value and ethical behaviour. We firmly believe
that fair procurement can promote the sustainability
and stability of the supply chain, promote the
development of suppliers, and create long-term value
for the Group's business and stakeholders.

During the Reporting Period, due to the nature of the
Group’s core business activities, the Group did not
engage any major suppliers. We still actively participate
in and implement the “Technology Outsourcing
Management Policy” to ensure that the criteria and
procedures stipulated in the system can be followed
when selecting suppliers in the future.
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rEERREEREHERBIHKRE
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Green Procurement

Green procurement is an important business practice
that promotes sustainable development and
environmental protection and can have a positive
impact on the environment by selecting and using
environmentally friendly products and services. In the
procurement process, the Group will consider
environmental factors and strive to cooperate with
green suppliers who provide products that meet
environmental standards, and give priority to products
with environmental certifications, such as products with
high energy efficiency, use of renewable energy, low
carbon emissions, and those which are non-toxic and
harmless, recyclable and reusable. Green procurement
not only helps reduce environmental impact, but also
promotes innovation and sustainable development. By
supporting an environmentally friendly supply chain, it
can promote the development of green technologies
and products and create more sustainable value for the
Group'’s business and community.

Product Responsibility

Quality Assurance

The Group is well aware of the importance of product
quality to its brand reputation. Therefore, it
continuously strives to improve product quality and
ensures customer satisfaction by establishing a sound
quality assurance process and providing high-quality
after-sales services. In order to reduce the risk of
product responsibility, the Group has established a strict
“Product Quality Assurance Process” to ensure that
products meet internal quality standards. If a product
failure is not caused by improper use, the Group will
recall the product and refund the customer. Apart from
product quality assurance, the Group also provides
other value-added services, including product
warranties and after-sales services, so as to meet
customers’ needs. We are committed to providing
high-quality after-sales support to ensure that
customers can enjoy comprehensive services after
purchasing our products. Our customers can trust our
after-sales support and solutions to ensure their
satisfaction and trust in our products to maintain our
brand reputation and customer loyalty.
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The Group strictly complies with and does not violate
relevant laws and regulations relating to product
responsibility that have a significant impact on the
Group, including but not limited to the Product Quality
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({(F#E AR
HEREE%)), the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests
(FEARENEEEE#EmREE)) and the Civil Law
of the People’s Republic of China ((FZEARHEEER
SABAY) in Mainland China, the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance (Chapter 362 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Sale of Goods Ordinance (Chapter 26 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

During the Reporting Period, there were no products
sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety or health
reasons.

complaints Handling Procedures

The Group attaches great importance to customers'’
opinions and feedback, which is an important part of
the Group’s continuous improvement. We have
established various communication channels, such as
through our website and customer service hotline, with
the aim of handling customer concerns and issues
more effectively.

The Group will make every effort to promptly
investigate and resolve all disputes and complaints
raised by customers. The Group has formulated relevant
“Customer Complaint Handling Policy” to ensure that all
customer complaints are properly handled. Once a
complaint is received, the responsible personnel will
investigate the matter and take appropriate actions in a
timely manner. We are committed to providing excellent
customer service, listening to customers’ complaints
and feedback seriously, and taking active actions to
solve problems, ensuring that complaints are handled in
a timely manner, and maintaining communication with
customers to ensure that problems are properly solved,
and customer satisfaction is achieved.
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As a responsible enterprise, we will ensure that the
mechanism for customer complaints is transparent and
fair, and comply with all applicable laws and
regulations, providing high-level services and solutions
by strengthening the training and capabilities of our
customer service team continuously. We will continue
to handle customer complaints in a professional, agile
and responsible manner, provide customers with
satisfactory solutions, maintain long-term and stable
customer relationships, and continuously improve our
business to meet customers’ expectations and needs.
During the year, the Group did not receive any material
complaints about products and services in any form.

Personal Data Privacy

As the Group relies on the internet for daily business
and information exchange, network security has
become crucial. The Group attaches great importance
to the privacy protection of personal data and complies
with applicable privacy laws and regulations when
collecting, using and storing customers’ personal data.
In order to build customer trust and loyalty, the Group
has established measures to reduce the risk of
employees leaking confidential information to outsiders
and protect the confidentiality and integrity of
customers’ personal data. The Group strictly prohibits
the use of customers’ personal data for any purposes
other than what have been stated in the customer
contracts. If any employee has been discovered of
misappropriating customers’ personal data, the Group
will take disciplinary action against the employee
concerned and reserve its right to take legal actions.

Moreover, non-disclosure agreements are signed by all
employees of the Group to ensure that they are aware
of their legally binding obligations of protecting
confidential information of the Group. Furthermore, the
Group maintains information technology systems with
high level of security to prevent unauthorized access to
confidential information. We will continue to strengthen
data protection measures, regularly review and update
privacy policies, and regularly upgrade operating
systems, security programs and hardware to protect
customer information from hackers.
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Intellectual Property Rights

The Group attaches great importance to the protection
of intellectual property rights, which is an important
part of the sustainable development and maintenance
of brand reputation. The Group will continue to
strengthen the monitoring and protection measures of
intellectual property rights and cooperate with relevant
institutions and lawyers to ensure that the Group's
rights and interests are effectively protected. We will
actively respond to any infringement and take
appropriate legal measures to protect our own
intellectual property rights. We have formulated the
“Trademark Management Policy” and “Intellectual
Property Management Policy” to actively enforce
intellectual property rights against third-party infringers
to ensure that its intellectual property is closely
monitored and adequately protected. The legal
department is responsible for identifying any
unauthorized use of the Group’s trademarks by third
parties. Legal actions will be taken in due course upon
identification of any trademark infringements. During the
Reporting Period, the Group complied with and did not
violate any laws and regulations related to intellectual
property rights that have a significant impact on the
Group, including but not limited to the Trademark Law
of the People’s Republic of China ({E AR HME
Z5%)) and the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic
of China ({FhZE AR FEMEZEEREE)) in Mainland China
and the Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528 of the Laws
of Hong Kong).
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B7. Anti-corruption

The Group attaches great importance to clean operation
and ethical behaviour, requires all employees to comply
with relevant laws and regulations, and strengthens
employees’ awareness and knowledge of
anti-corruption and compliance through training and
education, continuously strengthens internal control and
supervision mechanism, and ensures that the operation
of the enterprise is within the framework of legality,
integrity and transparency, so as to maintain the
reputation of the enterprise and the trust of the
society.

The Group does not support, nor does it tolerate any
corrupt practice and payment or receipt of bribes for
any purpose. All employees are strictly prohibited to
abuse their power and/or take advantage of their
position for personal gain. The Group provides directors
and employees with detailed and comprehensive
information and a thorough understanding of
anti-corruption issues. The Group’s “Employee
Handbook” clearly sets out guidelines for the
acceptance of gifts. As stipulated in the guidelines, all
employees are required to exercise caution and
judgment when accepting gifts. Gifts should not be
accepted if they are of a value higher than RMB300 (or
equivalent). In addition, the Group arranges training on
basic ethics such as anti-corruption for all directors and
employees, so as to raise awareness of corruption,
conflict of interest and integrity issues.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied
with and did not violate all relevant laws and
regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, including but not limited to the
Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China ({# 2
AR FEAMEAEY) and the Anti-Money Laundering Law
of the People’s Republic of China ({(FZEARFEMER
JEE25%)) in Mainland China, the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance
(Chapter 405 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and the
Organized and Serious Crimes Ordinance (Chapter 455
of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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Whistleblowing Mechanism

The Group firmly opposes any form of corruption and is
committed to establishing a corporate culture of
integrity and honesty. We encourage employees to
actively participate in anti-corruption work, recognize
the importance of whistleblowing, and guarantee the
confidentiality and security of whistleblowers. The Group
has formulated the "Anti-corruption Management
Policies” and “Whistleblowing Policies”, which clearly set
out the procedures for reporting corruption and fraud
cases and the Group encourages employees to report
any suspicious fraudulent activities. After a potential
case is being reported, the Group will conduct
investigations with due care, and an investigation report
will be prepared and submitted to the Board. For any
proven fraud case, punishment will be inflicted pursuant
to the policies. The Group has the responsibility to
protect the whistleblower from potential retaliation,
which the whistleblower’s identity remains anonymous
and is protected throughout the investigation. Also, the
whistleblower should not be placed into any
disadvantaged position in relation to the employment.
Therefore, the employees reporting in good faith under
this procedure shall be assured of the protection
against unfair dismissal or victimization, even if the
reports are subsequently proved to be unsubstantiated.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not note or
report any corruption and money laundering cases
which have been raised, commenced and concluded
against the Group or its employees.
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B8. Community Investment
The Group understands the importance of giving back to
the society and strongly supports employees to
participate in community services to achieve a
sustainable and harmonious society. During the
Reporting Period, the Group and its employees actively
participated in social practice activities:

o In July 2023, the Group joined hands with Zhejiang
Sunshine Dream Foundation GII & B EZEE
=) to provide support to underprivileged students
in Sichuan by donating RMB1,000 of tuition fees
per year.

o In September 2023, the Group cooperated with
Huyuan Township, Fuyang District, Hangzhou to
jointly sponsor Huyuan Township football team. It
donated RMB8,000 to the football team for
supporting and motivating football players in
Huyuan Township.

o In November 2023, the Group organized
employees to actively participate in the assistance
service of Aunt Qian Animal Rescue Station (#2f]
BN RLBhUL) in Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
visited the rescued animals, and donated a large
amount of materials and equipment to improve
the facilities and conditions of the rescue station.

In the future, the Group will continue to carry out social
welfare and charity activities, actively assume social
responsibilities, and contribute to the establishment of
a better society.
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BeRZFRIRIR - HE R ERHRSIESIA

INDEX N

Environmental IRIE

ESG Aspects Related Section(s)
RE-HtERERER THRAE &

A1. Emissions

Al HEHY

A2.

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
ERABERNMAEREBEN mKRTHBES - BENBEEEZYH
EESHNBERMETHETABEAZENHER EZERRFANER

KPI A1.6

R ENIEIEAL.6

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

HMBEIBEEENBEEEEYN G E ~ REMPAI I REB RN SE
S BIZPTERERBI & BR ©

Use of Resources

A2. BEEH

86

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.
BMERER (BIFER ~ KXEMEME) BEEE o

KPI' A2.1

R R A MIEIEA2.1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity,
gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

RELEOMNERNR REZER WE - /Il EFEE UTETR
K& 8) MEBE NSESEN SEREE) °

Emissions, Exhaust Emission

P ~ BRI

Waste Management

e E IR

Energy Management

Energy Management

anp
W
m
i
i3

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIG - 1B RERHS

ESG Aspects
RE -HERERED

Related Section(s)
1ERA Z &l

A2
A2

A3

Use of Resources (Continued)

BREH (8)

KPI A2.2

RS AR MIEIEA2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

HWHEKAENEE NMUSESEN SEXRKEFE) ©

KPI' A2.3

RS AR MIEIEA2.3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

HAMFTET L BERERA N B IE N A ED S L B IZMMRE L 5T

KPI A2.4

R MISIZA2.4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit
for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

Hat SREGE B AR ER B EMBEE -~ ] LBk m BEMAES
BB RPTERENRY B o

KPI' A2.5

R R AR IE1RA2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
ST A BEMENRE (UMEHE) X (ER) SEEEMEE °

The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 RIERXAE R

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

BIEFETAHRENRAE RIEMERFT ERER °
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ESG Aspects
RE-HERERED

HERELRHRS

Related Section(s)
tERA Z &l

A4. Climate Change
Ad. mIZE L

B1.
B1.

88

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.

A REHEERAIEEHETAEERENERREEBEENK
5 o
KPI A4.1

R R AAMIEIEAL1

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

HRERNAEEHETAELRENEARBHEBEE > REHTT
&) o

Employment

1E1E

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

ERAFIMN R e ~ BEREA ~ TIERE
AR E A8 A B F B R e 3
ERENRGINER o

BER~ FERS ~ 2
STHETABEARENEH

KPI B1.1

R R &N IE1EB1.1

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-time or
part-time), age group and geographical region.

R~ REEE (e RN - FEAR Rt ER D EEEE o

KPI B1.2
R & NIE1EB1.2

Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
region.
MR ~

FRERRINBE HIRERKLE -

Climate Change
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Climate Change
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ESG Aspects
RE -HERERED

Related Section(s)
1ERA Z &l

B2.
B2.

B3.
B3.

Health and Safety

BFHZE

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
ERRMHZ2TFIREMRERER R EMBENBER LB THE
TABERLENEBEENMRAINER o

KPI B2.1

RA SRR MI51EB2.1

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the
past three years including the reporting year.

FBE=F (BIEERFE) SFRIT TR ABKLIEZEK

KPI B2.2

RARR A MIGIEB2.2

Lost days due to work injury.
RIBEITIEHE o

KPI B2.3

RS AAMISIEB2.3

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and
how they are implemented and monitored.
HMPTERRE E RER 2 28 0 > MUABRIFIT R EE R 5% ©

Development and Training

B IE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.
ERRAEREBRIT LIEBENAM NI EERIEER o ftisEsEs) o

KPI B3.1

RS AR MI51EB3.1

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
EMRREEER WaShEBIEE - FABEES A0NZIEER
balnvl
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ESG Aspects
RE-HERERED

Related Section(s)
tERA Z &l

B3.
B3.

B4.
B4.

B5.
B5.

90

Development and Training (Continued)

BRERIE (B)

KPI B3.2

RS A MISIEB3.2

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.

ZHRNEEENE D > BREETHZ NN TR -

Labour Standards

BTEE

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour.

R IEET N5afS THRENETHEITABTERLENBEE
BNAGINER -

KPI B4.1

R RAB 151284

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid
child and forced labour.

MR STR B HI BB M LU R & T M ag 55 T o

KPI B4.2

RARABMI51EB4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

T IRERBENEDEPR B RIB LT EREBI A B o

Supply Chain Management

e & TE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

SRR EENIRIE it & R REGR ©

KPI B5.1

RA R AR 1512851

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
e B DR EEmEE o

Development and Training
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Labour Standards
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Labour Standards

s TR

Labour Standards
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Supply Chain Management
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Supply Chain Management
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ESG Aspects
RE -HERERED

Related Section(s)
1ERA Z &l

B5. Supply Cchain Management (Continued)
B5. REHETE ()

KPI B5.2

RS AR MI51EB5.2

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.

HmERIEAEEFNEG > mERTEREMNNEEREE - UK
MERENITREERGE -

KPI B5.3

RA R AB MI51EB5.3

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

Hil B R RS EIRENIRIE R E ARIES > U8RI
TREERFE ©

KPI B5.4

RA SR AR M I51EB5.4

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable

products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are

implemented and monitored.

L REREEREES AIRRE R MRBNIES » URAERHIT
BERGE o

Bé6. Product Responsibility
B6. EmEF

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and method of redress.

ERMEHERMRBNEREZE  -EE - RELMESEULE
WA ENBRNRETHETABEARAZENHEREZERRANER -

KPI B6.1

RS AR MI51EB6.1

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.
EERCEXERRBTRAZHEREAMEBRKNBE DL

Supply Chain Management

R TR

Supply Chain Management

HEERERE

Supply Chain Management

HrEEEE

Product Responsibility

Product Responsibility — Quality

Assurance

EmBE — EE2RE
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ESG Aspects Related Section(s)
RIB-HERERER HE B Z Ef

Bé6. Product Responsibility (Continued)
B6. EmRET (4B)

KPI B6.2

RARAAMI51EB6.2

Number of products and service-related complaints received and how  Product Responsibility — Complaints

they are dealt with. Handling Procedures

BERMNERMIRBIERE B UL EE 5 X © EmET — "FHFEERER

KPI B6.3

R A MI51EB6.3

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting  Product Responsibility — Intellectual

intellectual property rights. Property Rights

o B4 E N R IEH L E B RARIER o mET — M#ER

KPI B6.4

BB XI5 12B6.4

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product Responsibility — Quality
Assurance

B ERTEBENERLBIWRER ° EmEf — BERE

KPI B6.5

A 4 2512 B6.5
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how  Product Responsibility — Personal Data

they are implemented and monitored. Privacy
WM EEERRENRTABEEE » UNBREBITNRERGE mEE — EAERE

B7. Anti-corruption

B7. RE5
Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and  Anti-corruption
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BRAB LR - 1R - MFF AR ENBENRETHETABERY ~RES
ZHEMEENROINER

KPI B7.1

R R AR MIS1EB7 .1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought  Anti-corruption
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and

the outcomes of the cases.
RERAARETARNHEEERHITEEENESHFAEFNHER KES
FREAAE R ©
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ESG Aspects
RE -HERERED

Related Section(s)
1ERA Z &l

B7. Anti-corruption (Continued)
B7. RE5 ()

BS.
BS.

KPI B7.2

RS AAMISIERT .2

Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing procedures,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

AP E B N R RET > UNMBARITRERAGE o

KPI B7.3

RS A MISIERT.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and
employees.

HMmEENETNWRETEI -

Community Investment

HERE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure that its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.
BRAUMERER THRETASEMTIHERENREREER ZHG
ERTENmAIBUER o

KPI B8.1

AR AR 1512881

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns,
labour needs, health, culture, sport).
EIEREE (WHE RBEEE -FIER-BE X 85 -
KPI B8.2

RARAB MI51EB8.2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.
AEHIBEBFABAER WEEIEFRE) o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\ BETHR S

@ pakertilly
R B ] PR

Independent auditor’'s report to the members of
China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 102 to 203, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“"HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the "Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
VR ER TR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

FEEZEE

RIBERFINERFE > BRELSFESRFATZN
AN GE S BRETREENEFE - RIEH
ZERGEEMBERRMMLERERFEELE
FE G MAERLEFIRERHERER -

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Revenue recognition on provision of smart retail services

fERE Z T E R o FE5T

The Key audit matter
FREZSEIR

Revenue from the provision of smart retail services
amounted to approximately HK$22,011,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

HE2023F12A3NHILEFE » EHEZZERBAFIE
#97%22,011,0008 7T ©

We identified revenue recognition from the provision of
smart retail services as a key audit matter due to it is the
main revenue stream to the Group. Revenue performance
is also the key performance indicator of the Group which
affects the management’s reward and also is a focus of
investors.

KPS RES SRS ERBNN AR H# R A MEEEZEE
FRALS SEENFEWHKRE WaRBETAE &
SENERENIEE HFREZEEBEENLR > TAKRESE
BIRE R o

Details of revenue recognition from the provision of smart
retail services and its accounting policies are set out in
note 5 and note 2, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.
REBETERBFION AR N E SRR FE D RIER
e BRRMI TS RMIEE2 o

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EMEEZPERERREZEENGE

Our audit procedures to assess the revenue recognition of
smart retail services include the following:
B EE RS ERBRaETNEZEFEHE

. Understanding the business process of the smart retail
business;
EBRESTEEBNEBER;

. Assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls relating to
revenue recognition,

BN e TSR A R AR A B B IRV 5T ~ B E
ENBERIE ;

. Inspecting the key terms and conditions of contracts
with customers and major business partners to assess
if there were any terms and conditions that may have
affected the accounting treatment of the related
revenue; and
REHERANEREBHHSONTEEGRGEY XU
TE RS FEA A e 2R EN B s ERIEM R
Rt 5 R

. Inspecting, on a sample basis, the customer
acceptance documents, the contracts and invoices
evidencing that the performance obligations of
services were satisfied and control was transferred.
RS ERPRERBNER BT REGEEERN
ERBUSG s 5 REE o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Assessing loss allowance of trade receivables
5B 5 I 7 BRI B 15 1 1

The Key audit matter
FREEREER

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s gross trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$13,028,000 against which a
total loss allowance of approximately HK$4,101,000 was
recorded.

72023F12A31H EXEENEZEWNRIBAEENS
13,028,000 7t > #:15 B FABI 5 18 58 8 5 £ 494,101,000
IT o

Management measured loss allowance at an amount
equal to expected credit losses (“ECLS"). ECLs are a
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive). The ECLS
take into account the ageing of trade receivables
balances, the repayment history of the Group’s debtors of
different risk characteristics, current market conditions,
debtor-specific conditions, and the Group’'s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the trade
receivables.

EEEREREERE (FEEERIE)) stEHEEE o
BRI EEREREEHENBRMEMGE - EEEEBIEF
EEPERES AREGNEN EEBNRERE
g ESEEBHRRIINIREREZEMNERR NIREtE
FEHEERIBT BT B RIGIEGRNIRE - S5EA
HEARERBSFMNEBANERESE ~ RBEHRE - ®EHA
NIFEERGER BE£EMESENHIETEPIRSEFLSHE
AR E & ©
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FREREIE (&

How the matter was addressed in our audit
BAEERPEEMRERSFENS A

Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for trade
receivables include the following:
BT HE S ERFIBEREEENEZERSE

. Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design
and implementation of management’'s key internal
controls relating to credit control, debt collection and
estimation of ECLs;

BRI MHEREEBEEES - IWENEIREERE
TR B EEIE RSt R B I ;

° Assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
trade receivables’ ageing report were classified within
the appropriate ageing bracket by comparing individual
items in the report with underlying documentation;,
BIBLLRE W FIERE IR S P aE R 1E B BRI
B MR RETINEERS N AEEIREE ;

. Obtaining an understanding of the key parameters and
assumptions of the ECLs model adopted by the
management, including historical default data and
management’s estimated loss rates,
EREEEMRARREERERENFEAR2 AR
% OREFPENHENEEBMGIITNEERE;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
VR ER TR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Assessing loss allowance of trade receivables (Continued)

FIEE S BB B ETIR % e (A

The Key audit matter
AT IZEIE

We identified loss allowance for trade receivables as a key
audit matter because determining the level of loss
allowance requires the exercise of significant management
judgement which is inherently subjective.

KM EZENIEEEREEHR AMREEZEE T E
NEEEEEENKENEEZEEEEEESEAE > mA
EfAE ERTERE °

Details of loss allowance of trade receivables are set out
in note 22 and note 3(a)(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements, and its accounting policies are set out in note
2 to the consolidated financial statements.

BN IEE AN BN BRI 2K
B sE3(a)ii) » R E TR SRS M ImRRMIEE2

FEEXSEIE (&

How the matter was addressed in our audit
BAEERPEEMRERERNS A

Assessing the reasonableness of management’s 10ss
allowance estimates by examining the information
used by management to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy of the historical default
data and evaluating whether the historical loss rates
are appropriately adjusted based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking information; and
BARETEEEERERMAEERNER » SFARE
SPEABIRNER T LT HEEEIERESREETN
REMR R MAIEEERMEHBEERE » sTLEIEERHIE
BEGSTNESENE ; &

Reperforming the calculation of the loss allowance
based on the Group's credit loss allowance policies.
R BEENEEBBRERRENTEHIREE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\ BETHR S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this Other Information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee

in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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ENBEFANHEMBEREESE - HthEHEE
HINFERNER N BEGTMBRER NI
ZEENIRE ©

R GEMBERRFENERIEREAME
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REMERESHBREMNS » RFPNETANE
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RBFEBLBRTEENERFEEART > o
WP FIEB AR BL o

HERFEREETHIFESEMERNEIIRE
REERERA - ZRPIRBREBEMEE - w0 HFIR
BEMARS -

EENBREZEONGEEMBREREA
AENTE

BRAEFRREREEEGHNAGEMNE
AUBREEIREEADRANVKEERX » AR
BEEMATMRBRBERNGEGHMBRE  REFE
EHRNGEVBREBLENERARPEE > XU
EZEFEEMBRETEEFEBRNREFFNHERM
ERNEAERRL
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BECENED  IRBESBECEARNER
WNEA) -FFRIFEFHS EEBBENEFELE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
VR ER TR

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’'s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

ZHET LB iR S M B R R AKIEN
BE

HANERA S ERBLSFGSMBREAERM
EAEFEHRFHERMERNBAHRMK
it o WEHEE R ROVZEETRS - HFIED
ERRRERARS » MEEMAE - HFIBRTRL
AHEEHNABTHEAEMALTEETNARERNS
G

BEREBSERNZE  BRBEEBETEDE
THERZ I FIEREREREMFENERE
SRERAL o SEERMRAM PIRIERGFERIEERE L » (HIE R
ERECERIBRA TR EEREREBRSRE
B BREFLIEERER » AIRAESERER
BRAt

EREE BB ERETERNERED » RAER
EXRFE > RIFBERREEE - JF7F

o BRI NFHMEHERMEFRERMERG G
BRFAEEANERRANER - &5 K917
BEREFUEREZF AR  URERFEEM
BENEZER  FRARMERNER - B
REGERIBE B R - RE - ERER &
R e E A B EIERIE R » Bk RaE
RAMFMERNERERRANREARS K
REEHIRA AR ME M E X RBRILAT A

2
oo
YT

o THREFZMERMNAMEE  URFEEN
BZRERF HLIFEREY SREERIMEE
WBEMMERER -

o  FIMLEEEFRAGHBERNGEERELES
sHESHERIR B G EM
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
VR ER TR

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Sai Ho.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 21 March 2024

Chan Sai Ho
Practising certificate number P07705

ZEET B R S M B R R AKEN
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HEREmREMEEBAR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HZE2023FE 12831 HIEEE LB THIR)

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
b= FET TAET
(Restated)
(E75)
Continuing operation FHRREER
Revenue & 5 22,011 27,071
Cost of sales and services HHE MRS A AN 9 (15,908) (21,419
Gross profit EF 6,103 5,652
Other income Hamg A 7 436 905
Other losses, net HthEsis » $28 8 (63) (648)
Loss allowance for trade and other B REMEWRIE
receivables B 1ERE (1,867) (629)
Administrative expenses THER 9 (14,642) (15,628)
Finance costs BT TS RRAS 12 (42) (112)
Loss before tax PRI FIES1E (10,075) (10,460)
Income tax expense P8t 13 (21) —
Loss for the year from RESEBREEE 2
continuing operation KEEEIE (10,096) (10,460)
Loss for the year from discontinued REBRIEKEEK Y
operations KEERIE 14 (1,620) (694)
Loss for the year KEEEIE (11,716) (11,154)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income Hth2@E (Bx) WA
Item that may be reclassified BEREEH A EEEREZ
subsequently to profit or loss: EBEH:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign E BN EFZER =58
operations, net of nil tax MNRZMRIE (50) (1,356)
Reclassification of cumulative translation IS EBRENDER
reserve upon deregistration of a foreign MBS NBRERE
operation, net of nil tax 1,159 —
Reclassification of fair value reserve upon HERAAEESAEMEZE
disposal of debt instruments at fair value WAZBHEILABENDE
through other comprehensive income, net of AR BERFE > NHEZHRIE
nil tax — (215)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the AEEHEHMEENA (Fx) »
year, net of tax MR IE 1,109 (1,571)
Total comprehensive expense rEETERAZEE
for the year (10,607) (12,725)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HEHEmREMEEBAR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #;Z=2023F 12831 H LEFEE (LETTIR)

2023 2022
Note HK$000 HK$'000
b= FET FET
(Restated)
(E75)
Loss for the year attributable to: THANLTREGAFEERIE !
Owners of the Company ZN/NSIEZ ZE N
— Continuing operation — FEREER (8,488) (9,077)
— Discontinued operations — BRIEKEER (1,620) (669)
(10,108) (9,746)
Non-controlling interests JEVERR =
— Continuing operation — REREER (1,608) (1,383)
— Discontinued operations — BRIEREER — (25)
(1,608) (1,408)
(11,716) (11,154)
Total comprehensive expense THALTELZEBX
attributable to: 4a%E .
Owners of the Company KRBHEE A
— Continuing operation — PR E R (8,553) (8,629)
— Discontinued operations — BRIEREER (461) (2,656)
(9,014) (11,285)
Non-controlling interests JEVERR =
— Continuing operation — RHEREER (1,593) (1,415)
— Discontinued operations — BRIEKEER — (25)
(1,593) (1,440)
(10,607) (12,725)
Loss per share from continuing and KEFEREERERBALL
discontinued operations REEBEZEREE 15
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) BEARNEE (8RB 1) (0.22) (0.21)
Loss per share from continuing KEFERCEEF 2 SREBE
operations 15
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) BEARNEE (8RB 1) (0.18) (0.19)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — BEMY Z M st B4R & B FSIMER Z AR R ©
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FaMBRRR

As at 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #2023 12831H (LB TTHR)

2023 2022
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mi5E FHET AT
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment L IEINN YN 17 6 25
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 1,153 385
Deferred tax assets EIEFRIEE B 28 151 =
1,310 410
Current assets mMENEE
Inventories | 21 41 38
Trade and other receivables B 5 MEMEWRIE 22 13,427 12,144
Amount due from ultimate holding company FEW R AR PR N B) 2 FRIB 23 2 —
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary FEW—RERRKB AR Z
;IE 23 1 1
Cryptocurrency iy =g 19 = 568
Cash and bank balances R MIRITAE R 24 17,996 28,203
31,467 40,954
Current liabilities Bk B=RE
Trade and other payables B 5 M EHAMES TR IE 27 13,013 11,881
Contract liabilities aBREE 25 1,340 850
Lease liabilities HEAaR 18 839 288
Amount due to ultimate holding company FE R AR YRR N B) 2 FRIB 23 = 618
Amount due to an intermediate holding company FEfT—RIRRIIER AT >~
FIE 23 67 =
15,259 13,637
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FaMBIRAR

As at 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

72023128318 UGB THIR)

2023 2022

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

M 5E FET FET

Net current assets mBEERE 16,208 27,317

Total assets less current liabilities REERTEAR 17,518 27,727
Non-current liability ERBER

Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBEAE 28 172 —

Lease liabilities HEaE 18 226 =

398 —

Net assets BERE 17,120 27,727
Capital and reserves BARK#E

Share capital [N 26 23,430 23,430

Reserves EaiE (5,048) 3,966

Equity attributable to owners of the Company KRB B NEnLER 18,382 27,396

Non-controlling interests El 2 (1,262) 331

Total equity R AREE 17,120 27,727

The consolidated financial statements on pages 102 to 203 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2024 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Sun Haitao
Director
EZx

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

FI02EFE203B 2SR E M BIMAREN2024F 3821

AEEEEHETATINEEAREE

Wu Shan
C%
Director
EE

ekt 2 MY sE mAR S Bk R Z AHAER 17
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SEEmENR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #;Z=2023F12831H LEFEE (LB TTHR)

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAFEEAE
Financial asset at
fair value
Share through other Foreign
capital — Capital Capital  comprehensive  currency Non-
ordinary Share  contribution ~ redemption income  translation Other  Accumulated controlling
shares  premium Tesernve Teserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Subtotal  interests Total
BRASERE
SAEMRE
A — WAZER  MERE
LER  ROEE AEkRE EXEOHE EEGE HE  HitEe S NGt SRR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT TExT TER TER TEx TEx TEx TEx TEx TEx TER
(Note i) (Note ii) (Note i) (Note ) (Notev)  (Note vi)
(FizE]) (G (M zEill) (MizEiv) (Hiztv) (M)
Balance at 1 January 2022 RANFIA1B 248 23430 3466638 9,777 1 215 117,883 49) (3,579.214) 38,681 1,678 40,359
Loss for the year KEERR - - - - - - - 078 G746 (1408 (11150
Other comprehensive expense  AEEEM2ERR
for the year = - - - (215) (1,324) - - (1,539) 3) (1,571)
Total comprehensive expense  AEEREETAE
for the year = = = = (215) (1,324) = (9,746) (11,289) (1,440) (12,725)
Disposal of  subsidiary HE-BHELT - - - - - - - - - 9% 9%
Balance at 31 December 2022 RANENLANBZESH 23430 3,466,638 9,777 1 - 116,559 49) (3,588,960) 21,39 331 21,727

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARER AR
Financial asset at
fair value
Share through other  Foreign
capital — Capital Capital  comprehensive currency Non-
ordinary Share  contribution  redemption income translation Other Accumulated controlling
shares  premium reserve reserve reserve  reserve  reserve losses  Subtotal interests Total
BARER
FARMZE
& — BAZER  SMEIRE
LER RINEE AERE ARBRER HERR L1t E et JEERER At
HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
T T TER TAR T T T TER TER TER TER
(Note i) (Note ii) (Note i) (Note iv)  (Note v)  (Note vi)
(Hizti) (FizEi) (HizEiii) (FizEiv) (Mztv)  (Hishvi)
Balance at 1 January 2023 RABEIA 1B 2485 23,430 3,466,638 9,777 1 = 116,559 (49)  (3,588,960) 27,396 331 21,721
Loss for the year KEERR - - - - - - - (10,108) ~ (10,108)  (1,608)  (11716)
Other comprehensive income for -~ AEEEM2EMA
the year - - - - - 1,094 - - 1,094 15 1,109
Total comprehensive income/  AEE2ERA/ (B%)
(expense) for the year ek = = = = = 1,094 = (10,108)  (9,014)  (1,593)  (10,607)

Balance at 31 December 2023 HK2023E12831B 2 £ 23,430 3,466,638 9,777

-
|

117,653 (49)  (3,599,068) 18,382 (1,262) 17,120
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Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SEEmEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The share premium account of the Company arises on shares issued at a
premium. In accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share premium account may
also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

The capital contribution reserve represents capital contribution from an
intermediate holding company.

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the share capital
of the Company repurchased and cancelled.

The Group has certain debt instrument measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income. For this instrument, changes in fair value are
accumulated within financial asset measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income reserve within equity. The accumulated changes in fair
value are transferred to profit or loss when the investment is derecognised or
impaired.

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations.

Other reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid for the
additional interest in the subsidiary and the non-controlling interest’'s share of
the assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the date of the acquisition of the non-controlling interests.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

FEE -

(i)

(i)

(ifi)

(iv)

HZE2023F 12831 HIEEE LUBTHIR)

TABRMDEERDRZEEETROMELSE - RIEM
EREREE RNGHEERIHDIRFEQBRE &
REBEZZDIKREZBR  ARBABEETENEH
AEEHBRP N ZETF o ROBEIRT 2T U
RIRMALR A KE -

TEBEBERE—BTBERATDZEE -

BrERRBIEAABRBREHIRAREE -

FEEBEEETREAABENAHMEEWRAZEST
A-pzITAMS  AABEEFRANBZAZER
ABEAARMEERAZSREERERN - RKRER
LIEFESRSURER » ARBEZ R EHBRERE -

INEMERBRERREBIIEZVBRRMEEZ2
BRERERR ©

HhEE RN B ERE A GaMBRRER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE2023%F 128318 LEFEE CUBTHIR)

2023 2022
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
cash flows from operating activities RETBMMBHRERE
Loss before taxation FxRi%EI RS 18
From continuing operations R E TS (10,075) (10,460)
From discontinued operations BARIEREER (1,620) (694)
(11,695) (11,154)
Adjustments for: EM TR IBEEHFAE
Finance costs recognised in profit or loss FABm FERR 2 B TS A AR 42 117
Interest income from bank deposits RTERZHEIWA (380) (433)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME -~ BENKBEZITE 19 25
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZITE 904 1,367
Write off of financial assets at fair value through BanEEst A EME2E
other comprehensive income WA 2 & B & E = 115
Recognition of loss allowance for trade and other B 5 & EMhFEWGRIERE
receivables BEER 2,070 629
Release of exchange reserve to profit or loss due  REEIE A B MARRRER
to deregistered company HEZER 1,159 =
Covid-19-related rent concession FA SRS ERES
B = (50)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FENB ARz W= — (140)
(7,881) (9,524)
Change in operating assets and liabilities: EEENARES .
(Increase)/decrease in inventories =& (gm (3) 7
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 Kk HAthfEU IS (18
m)/mA (3,534) 7,140
Decrease in amount due to ultimate holding PSRRI AT 2 FIE
company B (620) (18,347)
Decrease/(increase) in cryptocurrency mEE LD, (86m) 564 (609)
Increase in amount due to an intermediate holding  FE{—RIREIZR AT 2
company FIEIE N 67 13,713
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables B 5 MEME R FRIE
0, Oi ) 1,278 (6,240)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities BHEEEM CE) 507 (45)
Net cash used in operating activities REEBFMTARE R (9,622) (13,905)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HZE2023F 12831 HIEEE LUBTHIR)

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
cash flows from investing activities KRETBMBRERE
Interest received BUF B 380 433
Payment for acquisition of property, plant and BEYE - BENEZENR
equipment — (16)
Net cash outflows from disposal of a subsidiary HE—RBRBABZIRERN
HFEE = (82)
Net cash generated from investing activities IZ&ZHFREHESFRE 380 335
cash flows from financing activities MEEHFERERE
Capital element of lease rentals paid BNEERE 2 ERI KD (896) (1,223)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHAEREZFIEZ 5 (42) (65)
Repayment for loan from an intermediate holding {8k H —RI IR AT
company ZEB: — (4,800)
Interest paid for loan from an intermediate holding FiZRE —RIRRBEER AT
company BREAFE — (104)
Net cash used in financing activities REEBIFTRRE R (938) (6,192)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RENREEEBYRREE (10,180) (19,762)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FYZ2RENIREEEY
of year 28,047 48,805
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXEH)FrE (27) (996)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FERXZRERREEEY
of year 17,840 28,047
Analysis of the balances of cash and HERREEEBMEGRZ
cash equivalents bakiin
Cash and bank balances IR N IBITEERR 17,840 28,047
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — B&EFT Z izt % TIEERER 2 AR ER 1 ©
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(BB TTHR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is at Third Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square, P.O.
Box 902, Grand Cayman, KY1-1103, Cayman Islands.

The Company’s shares have been listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since
2 March 2001.

In the opinion of the directors, the parent company is
51RENPIN.COM INC. (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands)
and the ultimate parent company is 51 Credit Card Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands, and listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2051).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as, the
"Group”) are principally engaged in the smart retail business.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
ceased the lottery business. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group ceased the financial technology
services business and sports training business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (“HK$'000") except when otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of
the Company on 21 March 2024.

— iR E#

REEBERERAE ((RAE)) RBiEHE
BEEFENENEE (1961FEF=E6 > &
FeakEs) NHERESMMRIA—EE
REBRAB c AN B EEMMEEMIA A
Third Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square,
P.0. Box 902, Grand Cayman, KY1-1103,
Cayman lIslands o

VI

RABRDE2001FE3F2HEK BB
ZFAERAT (TH3FT)) GEM LT ©

BEFBA  HBAFA5TRENPIN.COM INC.
(MEBRELESFMMIL) » MERKFA
BlASERARERAR (KHSHEFMMA
IR R BT 0 B SE 1 2051) o

RRBAREERRT - XA REWBEA
Bl (BT AEE) TENREEETEXK -
BHE2023F12B31BIEFE > AEEBAIE
FEEFK - BE2022F12831HIEEFE » K
EECRLESRMBEEREEBERETIHE
}%o

REMBRELBT (TBT)) 2% Bl
WERBZINBEER RS BRBEI - B
BEROEBERBATM (MTHBTL) -

ﬁl{\*t

ZE G EMBRREN2024F3I/2NAE X
BAEEE ((EF8) ENRRETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

These notes provide a list of the material accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the vyears presented, unless otherwise stated. The
consolidated financial statements are for the Group consisting
of China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries.

(@) Basis of preparation

(M)

(ii)

Compliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Ccompanies Ordinance ("HKCO”)

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the
HKCO. In addition, the consolidation financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (“the GEM Listing
Rules”).

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis.

(BB TTSR)

2 FEGHBRHE

A FRHRRZSFEEMHTRERERAZ
TEGHHERBE - BB EEREN  &F
R -—EERERIFERZFMBEE ° 43
BMBBRERSTER (HTERABEZERER
NEINEHBASEM) HH -

(@) WREE

(i) BFEEHYBREER (TEEH
BIREER ) REE L EIFH
(IEEREERI) ZHEBHE

ERBZEEVBBRRERES
AMBREELREBREERD
ZRERERHE - LI x5/
BT E R 58 ZFTGEMEE
# EHFRA (TGEM EHRAL) R
EZBERME -

(i) ELEEIEDG

ROV BRERDRELNSERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iii)

Use of estimates and judgement

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSS requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

(UETIIT)
2 FEGFHBERHEE
(a) WMNEE ()
(iii) 155t RFVEZ EH

METEBRRYBREEN M
BWEE > BREEEFEFL
B~ A5 RRR > MEFERR
ZEAUKREE 8 AR
X Z 2R o HBEFTNAE
HRREENRELERARKE
RERL THREAEaEZEER
fthEAZMIFL » HAERBERH
BACHMRREDBZEERE
BZEREMEFHAGZERE - &
BRAG R AT REL LB BT AE o

AR RIS TIHEER -
G 5Hh s BT R BIFLE
s]ZHAM - BUTE AR HERD ; 1
EITHEMRARKRABHEER
& RITEFHEST Z AR R R 2k
HARS FE SR o

EEEERAEBYBREER
RFTFH B BRRBEEATE

=
ZH R At A REE TR
HORBEMIEE AR 5T 5 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FETHHEHE (&£

POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (Continued) (@) WMNEE (ZF

(iv) New and amended standards adopted by the (iv) ZEEERGZ#IE R ARNEETHER]

Group

The Group has applied the following amendments
for the first time for their annual reporting period
commencing 1 January 2023:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the October 2020

and February 2022

Amendments to

HKFRS 17)

Amendment to Definition of
HKAS 8 Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial position and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosure set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

NEEEMEB2023F 15188
A7 FERESHBE RER TS
CH

EEMBREE RESH
AIE175% (B

52020410
B X20224F
2BZEBY
BIREZEAE
1758 ZE5])
BHAEGHERE FtEst2
83k ZEET E&E
BAGHENE BE-XH5E
12321851  EZEEN
BfEAERZ
PEIERR IR
BAGERE EERBRE
12582157 — FTXH
RAEL A
BEGERE FHHRZ
1EREBRM WE
BIREERE
F5HR &5 5B 25
ZAERT

PRI XPREE SN » REEERA
RV BRGENZ B K&
B AEBRAFENBES
EZMBEIRRANERRNNZE
BFEMBRRASHZIREL RS

REE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iv) New and amended standards adopted by the

Group (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Making materiality
judgements: Disclosure of accounting
policies

The amendments require entities to disclose
material accounting policy information and provide
guidance on applying the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosure. The Group has
revisited the accounting policy information it has
been disclosing and considered it consistent with
the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities
arising from a single transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption such that it does not apply
to transactions that give rise to equal and
offsetting temporary differences on initial
recognition such as leases and decommissioning
liabilities. For leases and decommissioning
liabilities, the associated deferred tax assets and
liabilities are required to be recognised from the
beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognised
as an adjustment to accumulated losses or other
components of equity at that date. For all other
transactions, the amendments are applied to
those transactions that occur after the beginning
of the earliest period presented.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(UBTEFIT)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iv) New and amended standards adopted by the

)

Group (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities
arising from a single transaction (Continued)

Prior to the amendments, the Group did not apply
the initial recognition exemption to lease
transactions and had recognised the related
deferred tax, except that the Group previously
determined the temporary difference arising from
a right-of-use asset and the related lease liability
on a net basis on the basis they arise from a
single transaction. Following the amendments, the
Group has determined the temporary differences
in relation to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. As a result of these
amendments, the Group recognised a deferred tax
asset and a deferred tax liability as detailed in
note 28. The application of the amendments has
no material impact on the accumulated losses at
the earliest period presented.

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted and effective

Certain new accounting standards, amendments
to accounting standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and have not been
early adopted by the Group. These standards,
amendments or interpretations are not expected
to have a material impact on the entity in the
current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.

(BB TTSR)

2 FEGFHERHEGE

(@) WREE(E

(iv) ZEZEERAZFIERASIEETER
6
ERGAERNE 125 FIE1H -
BE-RXBEEZEERARNE
M2 IRERIBZIEET (&

REZFETf » AERIL EHE
EXZEAVGESHE  TE
SOERIEIEIR IR » EA BB
FRFEEREEEERAREENR
HEBEREREEZERMEE
BEREELEEE-XF) K
ZEER  AEECEBEEE
HERAREENIERRERZ
BRIEEE  ARZRFES] > &
SEEEDELERIEE ERIEIER
B8R SFEENMEE2S - B
ZEETHMEREHMEZR
BRI EEEEATE -

(v) ERERARELZHIEER R a2
7

BTG STEER ~ TR
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20235128310 L EE3aH fE
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BRI ERI SRR S AR KA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 HHEHRE (&)
POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued) (a) mEEE (B)
(v) New standards and interpretations not yet (V) [FRFARELZAIEER 22
adopted and effective (Continued) b NE=]

Effective for
accounting periods

New standards, amendments, improvement and interpretation beginning on or after
KT RN ZEREZ
FIEAER) « E5T ~ BUE KGR S5 R

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between To be determined

HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture
EARAVHBRESENFI0FNESE KRESHAHELRRSGERTAZEZE FEE
Bt AR 2858 2 85T ELERITE
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
ERAUBREENF 165 2EF] SEHERCZHEESR 2024%E181H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1 January 2024
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
ARG ENFE 1 BT MBI IERB BB ENEEBRESZME 202451818
RAEET (20204F)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
ARG ENFE 1 BT #2256 2 IERBBIR 2024%E181H
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024
HKFRS 7
BEGHENETRNRB BT HEEMERZH 2024%E181H
WEZERE7RZEST
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
BERAGFENE2F BT Rz AR 202518 1H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FETHHEHE E)
POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued) (@) WNEZE ()

(vi) changes in accounting policies i) EEHEEES)

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment
scheme in Hong Kong

In June 2022, the Hong Kong Government enacted
the Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the "Amendment Ordinance”)
which will be effective from 1 May 2025 (the
“Transition Date”). Under the Amendment
Ordinance, any accrued benefits attributable to
the employer's mandatory contributions under
mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
Benefits”) of an entity would no longer be eligible
to offset against its obligations on long service
payment (“LSP") for the portion of the LSP
accrued on or after the Transition Date. There is
also a change in the calculation basis of last
monthly wages for the portion of the LSP accrued
before the Transition Date.

Prior to 1 January 2023, the Group applied
practical expedient in HKAS 19 paragraph 93(b)
(the "“practical expedient”) to account for the
offsetable MPF Benefits as deemed employee
contributions to reduce the current service costs
in the period in which the related services were
rendered.

ERERARBRBEEIEHR
2Bt BRES

152022568 » BB BT B M
2022 FF 1R 1R K R IR T EA B (I8
5 2 B (B 5]) 1R 6 (TE 5T 15
Bl1) > #& B2025FE58 18 (T8
W H 1) EEER o IRBIESTIRA -
BERRRERGIMEATEETEIF
EiREsab EHRMmELE ZEM@
KRB ((RRTRm)) 18
BERIRIEE RS BN &P
ELERMBRTE (RAKRBE))
BRZERPIRBEET < 15
B R REZ RERB
NZRE—ERIENEREE

722023F 1B 1HAT » AEEFER
EBGHENFE199EHE 3D R
AfTHEEAEA(TAITEER
) o ARz RS EE A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(vi) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment
scheme in Hong Kong (Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” (the
“Guidance”) which provides clarified and detailed
guidance on the accounting considerations
relating to the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism. The Guidance clarified that following
the enactment of the Amendment Ordinance, LSP
Scheme is no longer a ‘simple type of
contributory plans’ to which the practical
expedient had been intended to apply.

The abovementioned change in accounting policy
does not have any material impact on the Group’s
results and financial position.

(UBTEFIT)
2 FEGHHBERHE (&
(a) HwNEE (H)

i) BHBESH (&

ERERARBRBEHIEHR

JR2023%7R > BARA G A E
I EBEE R RS ERAR
B 2 E st B (15
511) » FRHT BRCEUH HEEE 1%
ZHERESERRARZ EBNF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)
2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHERMEME &2
POLICIES (Continueq)
(b) Subsidiaries (b) MIEBATE

(c)

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement
of financial position respectively.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c)

(d)

(e)

120

Separate financial statements (Continued)

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee's net assets including
goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors that makes
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(i)  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company functional and the Group's presentation
currency.

(BB TTHR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognised in profit or loss. They are
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges
or are attributable to part of the net investment in
a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on
a net basis within other gains/(losses).

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences on
assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-monetary
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss
and translation differences on non-monetary
assets such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

] assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position,

o income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

] all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges of
such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as
part of the gain or loss on sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)
2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FEGHHREBE @)
POLICIES (Continued)
(f) Impairment of non-financial assets (f) FEFEMEERE

Intangible assets (including cryptocurrency) that have an
indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstance indicate that they
might be impaired.

Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(8)

(h)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity
that has been disposed of or is classified as held for
sale and that represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, is part of a
single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of
business or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
The results of discontinued operations are presented
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Cryptocurrency

Cryptocurrency held by the Group through third-party
custodian service provider, which are accounted for as
intangible assets under cost model. The cryptocurrency
held by the Group is considered to have an indefinite
life. Accordingly, it is not subject to amortisation and
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired.

The Company has classified cryptocurrency on hand at
the end of a period as a current asset as management
has determined that cryptocurrency markets have
sufficient liquidity to allow conversion within the
Group’s normal operating cycle.

BETBRE (&

(BB TTHR)
2 FE
(8)

(h)

BRRILEERT

ERIEEEXRFTRERZMEMED
ZBOEHERNDERAFEFERE
REREBREEMEE D —RE
YEEER > B—HEAUHEZEHN
KEMmEE -GBSt E 280 > W2
—HEABEMEEZWEAR - B
IERERB 2 RENGE R REM
EHBATRANEBZEY] -

mEgn

MZERHAERBBE=TEMR
BHHEBIFE » RBRARE AR
ERLEE - ZEBEFEZMEERH
ReBEEREH Rt HBAH
iH o MASFUERRHUBREE
THPIREH IR B E R ERE M EITIR
BRI -

HREEECHENMEERTIHEAR
mEE  IUEAREZ EREER
HNETRIR > ZRBERARTFEZ
MBERREARIEE -

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(UATTIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i)

(M)

(i)

(iii)

Investments and other financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in those to
be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through OCI or through profit or loss) and those
to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in profit or 10ss.

2

¥ EE
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(iii)

ERBMRAF « 2023 FERS

BEERME (&

RERHMEREE

P

FEERHEEMEENELHER
BRANBEFENEREE
GtAEthEEWA I AR
NIZHIE At ENETRMEE -

NERTAEERE
EFBEARRERZ
E‘ o

S EERMEEY
= /\’]ﬂ%ij‘:’,}_{

BT R AL L ST

PHREBEBEMNPEZEREELRR
5 B RS 27 HREAEH
AHBEENLEZEEZHBR -
BN EREERERE ZEH
EmREMEESEEZE > MAK
EEREmEEERE BRI
DR 2R e H > BRI
REMEE

» AR

EI"_
el

PRANIERESRES » REEB A AE
BMEREEmEE T BEREN
RBMAE WBILIFR A ANEE
SAABmZERMEE) SERR
EMEE - BRARBES AR
SRRz EMEEZRZHARE
mATRF o

125



2

126

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

(iv)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented
in other gains/(losses) together with foreign
exchange gains and losses.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses (“ECLS") associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables, see
note 22 for further details.

(BB TTHR)
2 FEGHHERME (&
() RERHEMERMEE (&)

(iii)  FE (%)

BHIR

BHEIAZHRSERRREE
BEREE XHFEANZFE
EZRERBIE - HIEKREIS
WRERBZEE  MWRERE
MEBESEENFEBMAR AR
BT B - RILHRSES
ZEAR s EEER BT A
HER WERERWm REEE

FITE At et (B548) & o

(iv) #1E

AEEZA TR EF A RERE
BB AV RN AR EBESA
Hth2Em B AT R & T A8
Mz RHEEEE (FRAEES
1) - FIRABZRER ERTE

BREESEABIE -

MEZEUWHEMS » ~5EH~E
BEBYHREEFIRAT
ZBZ 7% HIRER GRS
W RIEREDERFENRES

B E—IFBRIWE22-

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHEMHME @)
POLICIES (Continueq)
(i) Investments and other financial assets (i) EENREMEREE (&

(Continued)

(iv) Impairment (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort.

PRABZEREMRATE » 2023 FERS

(iv)

HE (A

EE R AIEEM

GBI REBURER
R PR N =B IS N
EEREMITARRSH
HRBEEZENRAREZS
BT B a RS B A%
EZENRBETHER
ETITEE > AEEE
ZRAEEREBZESE
NEMER  BEBERL
BRMEBNHACEZR
AYE M ER ZBIE
HER -

127



2

128

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FEZTHHEHE (&
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets (i) RERHMEMEE (&)
(Continued)
(iv) Impairment (Continued) (iv) g (&
—  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) — (EERRAREEN #E)
In particular, the following information is BFalZ  EhEERRE
taken into account when assessing whether BEKRBIZMEEZE BN
credit risk has increased significantly: TER :

— an actual or expected significant o
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external —
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor,

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in —
business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations,

— an actual or expected significant —

deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iv) Impairment (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:
(Continued)

— an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iv) Impairment (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) it has
a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(BB TTHR)
2 FEGHHERME (&
() REREMEMEE (&)

(iv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i)

()

(k)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iv) Impairment (Continued)
—  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on
a weighted average method. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

(UATTIR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

()

(m)

(n)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value.

The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. See notes
2()(iv) and 3(a)(ii) for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on
hand and deposits held at call with financial institutions,
other short term, high liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of

new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(0)

(p)

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the
reporting period. They are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

current and deferred income tax

The income tax charge or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

(i)  Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether it
is probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its
tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(p) Current and deferred income tax
(Continuedq)

(i)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax
is also not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(p) Current and deferred income tax
(Continuedq)

(i)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets and liabilities and where the
deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are
offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(q) Employee benefit

(i

(ii)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave
that are expected to be settled wholly within 12
months after the end of the period in which the
employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees’ services up
to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are
presented as current employee benefit obligations
in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Post-employment benefit

The employees of the Group are mainly covered
by various defined contribution pension plans. The
Group makes and accrues contributions on a
monthly basis to the pension plans, which are
mainly sponsored by the related government
authorities that are responsible for the pension
liabilities to retired employees. Under such plans,
the Group has no other significant legal or
constructive obligations for retirement benefits
beyond the said contributions, which are
expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(r)

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make
good obligations are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation and the amount
can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’'s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

BEBRBE (&

(LU TEFIR)
2 EE
(r)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(BB TTHR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(s) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when goods or services is
provided to the customer. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract,
goods or services may be provided over time or at a
point in time. Goods or services is provided over time if
the Group's performance meets any one of the
following criteria:

J provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If goods or services transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains the goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FEZHHEHE (&

POLICIES (Continueq)

(s) Revenue recognition (Continued) (s) W (&)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on one of
the following methods that best depicts the Group’s
performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

o direct measurements of the value transferred by
the Group to the customer; or

J the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligation.

If a contract involves multiple goods or services, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices.
Where these are not directly observable, they are
estimated based on expected cost plus margin.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability is recognised when a customer pays
consideration, or is contractually required to pay
consideration and the amount is already due, before
the Group recognises the related revenue. The Group
recognised its contract liabilities under other payables
and accruals as receipt in advance from customers in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(s) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for whose goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to
a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is transferred
to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it
recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

(BB TTHR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(s) Revenue recognition (Continued)

The following is description of the accounting policies
for the principal revenue streams of the Group:

(i)

Provision of smart retail services

The Group engaged in smart retail business which
includes distribution, maintenance and technical
support of omni-channel payment devices and
software applications, provision of software
development services, provision of technical
consultancy services for cloud server service,
internet of things and SMS traffic service.

The Group is acting as an agent for its contracts
with customers relating to omni-channel payment
services, technical consultancy services for cloud
server service and SMS traffic service as the
Group did not obtain the control over these
services before passing on to customers. Revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the service
is delivered to the customers, and the Group
records the net amount that it retains from such
completed transactions as revenue.

Revenue from the provision of software
development services and certain technical
consultancy services are recognised at point in
time when the service is rendered.

(UATTIR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 DHHEHRE (&)

POLICIES (Continueq)

(t) Earnings per share (t) SKREA
(i)  Basic earnings per share (i) =RELXEF
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing: SREABN I TIEIRTE -

o the loss attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares; and

o by the weighted average number of ordinary .
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and excluding
treasury shares.

BRUR AT R ABILE
B AT EEEERUIINZ
EREEAE ; &

FRUZM B FEEREE#
TEERZMEFHE
WIRBEFREITZ EBR
ZIRAEEE (HIFRERAR) ©

(i) Diluted earnings per share (i) RS EEF
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures SREERMNARETERER
used in the determination of basic earnings per BNEERZHT Utk

share to take into account:

o the after-income tax effect of interest and °
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares; and

o the weighted average number of additional °
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FEZHHEHE (&
POLICIES (Continueq)

(u) Leases (uy HE

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease
incentives receivable.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continueq)

FEGHERBE (&

(u) Leases (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received,

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for
leases held by the Group, which does not have
recent third-party financing; and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the
lease, then the Group use that rate as a starting point
to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FEZHHEHE (&
POLICIES (Continueq)

(u) Leases (Continued) (u) AE (&
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising FRABEEZHNAFE2EREUTRIE !
the following:

HERRZBRFIESE

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease

liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the . k= b A= K (= R CIF ]
commencement date less any lease incentives BENFBE R AHEEEE ;
received,

. any initial direct costs; and . FERVREZEER &

. restoration costs. . BIERA ©

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the FRREE—RKNEEZAERFH

shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on NEER (UREESE) NIZERE

a straight-line basis. FTLUTE o

Payments associated with short-term leases and all BB ENRMEREEEERE

leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight- Rz IR EF A IB Rl AR o

line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term S EEHERAT @S HUT

leases are leases with a lease term of twelve months or EmBEEEERAE -

less without a purchase option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(u) Leases (Continued)

The Group has applied the practical expedient to all
qualifying Covid-19-related rent concessions and
recognised the change in lease payments as negative
variable lease payments in profit or 10ss in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the rent
concessions occurred.

(v) Interest income
Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost

calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in profit or loss as part of other income.

(BB TTHR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(w) Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

0)

has control or joint control of the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or
is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

0]

(i)

(iif)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or a joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(w) Related parties (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(iv)

(Vi)

(Vii)

(viii)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.

(BB TTHR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management program focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried out
by the senior management of the Group.

(i

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Transactional currency exposures arise from
revenue or cost of sales and services by
operating units in currencies other than the unit’s
functional currency. Substantially all the Group’s
revenue and cost of sales and services are
denominated in the functional currency of the
operating units making the revenue, and
substantially all the cost of sales and services are
denominated in the operating unit's functional
currency. Accordingly, the directors consider the
Group is not exposed to significant foreign
currency risk. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

In virtue of exposures on foreign currency risk
being minimal, the respective quantitative
disclosures have not been prepared.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(M)

(i)

Market risk (Continueq)

Interest rate risk

The Group does not have material exposure to
interest rate risk. A reasonably possible change in
interest rate in the twelve months is assessed by
the Group; which could have immaterial change in
the Group's loss for the year and accumulated
losses. Changes in interest rates have no material
impact on the Group’'s other components of
equity. The Group adopts centralised treasury
policies in cash and financial management and
focuses on reducing the Group’s overall interest
expenses.

The directors are of the opinion that the Group's
sensitivity to the change in interest rate is
relatively low.

credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The
Group's credit risk mainly arises from cash and
bank balances, trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, and amounts due from related
companies. The maximum exposure to credit risk
is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. Management has policies in
place to monitor the exposures to these credit
risks on an on-going basis.

For cash and bank balances, they are all
deposited or traded with high quality financial
institutions without significant credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(UATTIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

credit risk (Continued)

Significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting
period, 13% and 38% (2022: 33% and 69%) of the
total trade receivables was due from the Group’s
largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively within the smart retail business
segment.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring ECLs which permits the
uses of a lifetime expected loss allowance for all
trade receivables.

To measure the ECLs, trade receivable has been
grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.

The Group recognised lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables carried at
amortised cost based on either individually
customers who are long overdue with significant
amounts or known insolvencies or non-response
to collection activities, or collectively assessing
them for likelihood of recovery based on ageing of
the balances with similar risk characteristics
taking into account the forward looking
information.

3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMBRRERE (&)
(Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) HBRAMREZER &
(ii)  credit risk (Continuead) (i) 1EEREE (#E)
Management reviews the recoverable amount of EIEES TS ERE ZEI
each individual trade receivable regularly, if any, FIE (W0/) 2 JWEs3E > UFE
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are R AU ([Cl S REFE ST B 50 2
recognised for irrecoverable amounts. In this BEE - At EEERRARE
regard, the management considers that the Bz EEREERBER- K
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced. The 2023F K2022F12B31B 2 &6
loss allowance as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 BEEDNT

is illustrated as below:

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

TREARSIRE WEREE EREE
% HK$°000 HK$'000
% FTET FTET

As at 31 December 2023 1520235128318

Current (not past due) BNEA (G ER) 4.4% 5,373 234
1-30 days past due BHI1ZE30H 5.7% 3,318 188
31-60 days past due BHAZ1ZE60H 30.4% 754 229
61-90 days past due BHR61ZE90H 62.8% 358 225
More than 90 days past due BHAEEE0H 100.0% 3,225 3,225

13,028 4,101
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)  credit risk (Continued)

(UATTIR)

3 MBEAKRERE (A

(@) MBERERZE (&

(i) 1EEmE (&)

Gross
Expected carrying LosSS
loss rate amount allowance
LG SEES REREE B 1ERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% TET TFET

As at 31 December 2022 1520225128318

Current (not past due) BNEA (GREEA) 9.7% 2,088 202
1-30 days past due BHI1ZE30H 14.6% 1,145 167
31-60 days past due BHAZ1ZE60H 22.4% 1,267 284
61-90 days past due AHI61ZE90H 47.9% 1,329 637
More than 90 days past due BHBEE0H 100.0% 1,515 1,515
7,344 2,805

Trade receivables are written off where there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within profit
or loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the
same line item.

EEGERNA W E S BUGR
12 QI B ZEWRRIE - BS
BERREZHReE (HPE
B EBAREREERENE

matal o

B 5 BWRIEZ RERBER B
25 SRERBRFER - LB
s 2 SRR HE R IREIAISt ARE
HEAR e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

(i)

credit risk (Continued)

Deposit and other receivables and amount due
from related companies are measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. The Directors consider the
probability of default upon initial recognition of
asset and whether there has been significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis for the
year. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk the Group compares risk of
a default occurring on the assets as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition. It considered the
available reasonable and supportive forwarding
looking information and the indicators that the
actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the
third party’s ability to meet its obligations. As at
31 December 2023, the loss allowance on other
receivables amounted to approximately
HKD513,000 (2022: HKD1,455,000).

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk
management rests with the Board, which has built
an appropriate liquidity risk management
framework to meet the Group’s short, medium
and long-term funding and liquidity management
requirements.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate reserves, continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows, and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

(BB TTHR)

3 MBRKRERE (&

(a) MBAREE (&

(i)

(iip)

EEmE (%)

¥ Ko EL e U I8 LA K. FE Uk 8
BABRIER12ESEHEERS
B FEBRAEERE =
REEERRBEMNGBERUKRE
BAIBIBIME o ERHAV AR
REEREREHZ AN > U
MEREERRETRHEAIREE
me AL EERMES KIBIG
o AEBEBEENRS HERE
FENZ BEERERERH
ZEYARETEE - HEET
EEZEBENAS N IS
BERURTEREERE=F BT
HERZENBESABZE
5 BB R 2 B TER
BARHEL ZIEHE  FL20234F
128318 » EfEWFEIEZ E51E
B 54974513,00058 7T (20224F :
1,455,000387T) ©

REELEE

ExgnsiacRREEaR
REF TERUSBZRBE
TEBREERE > LUnE LR
ZHEHA s PR RIAE S RRE
BETEEEKR-

FrEBZEBERTREZHER T
BEERARERRERE I
BOLEMEERARZIBRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T3)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HEEREKER (&)

(Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial
liabilities at the end of the reporting period, based

(@) MBERERZE (&

(iii) FTEBEZmE (F

FREREHR  AEEEREOR
BN EZ SR ARG

on the contractual undiscounted payments, was RO
as follows:
Total
Less than contractual Total
1 year or undiscounted carrying
on demand 1-2 years  cash flows amounts
—ERH BHRBR
BREX —ERE HERSEH MEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHET
At 31 December 2023 12023128318
Non-derivative FTESHER
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables B REMENTE 13,013 = 13,013 13,013
Lease liabilities HEAR 867 231 1,098 1,065
Amount due to an e — R R RE A B
intermediate holding ZHIE
company 67 = 67 67
13,947 231 14,178 14,145
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MBRAKRERE (&
(Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) HBRAMEZER &
(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (iii) TEEZEE (&
Total
Less than contractual Total
1 year or undiscounted carrying
on demand 1-2 years cash flows amounts
—FRH BHRIEIR
BEX —EME RERSLE LEERTEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHET FHET
At 31 December 2022 1520225128318
Non-derivative financial JEfTESRIAE
liabilities
Trade and other payables B Z &k EMENLTIE 11,881 — 11,881 11,881
Lease liabilities HEERE 297 — 297 288
Amount due to ultimate B REERATZ
holding company ESOE] 618 — 618 618
12,796 — 12,796 12,787
(b) capital management (b) BEXEE
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to AEEEEEAZERRREAEH
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going BEFFERE > UARKRERIRHELERR M AE
concern in order to provide returns to shareholders and Y ERER R > WEREB(LZER
benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an REUBEEESHA
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the BT NAREARLNE » AEBHEHA
Group may adjust the amount of the bank borrowings BIRTTEF NN FREZRESEE
and dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to BREREES BITHRIAHEEE
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce LURAMETS ©
debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HEEREKER (&)

(Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation

The Group has no significant financial instruments other
than trade and other receivables, amount due from
ultimate holding company, amount due from a fellow
subsidiary, cash and bank balances, trade and other
payables, lease liabilities, amount due to ultimate
holding company and amount due to an intermediate
holding company. The carry amounts of these balances
approximate their fair values due to their short
maturities.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION OF
UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition,
will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs
to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting
policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial
impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

(a) Provision of the ECL allowance on trade
receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, basing on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period.

PRABZEREMRATE » 2023 FERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T33)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4 FRifEestHEiNtGstFAEERE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION OF ZEEKRIE (&
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(b) Accounting for cryptocurrency (b) MEEEZGEIE

HKFRSs do not specifically address accounting for
cryptocurrency. Accordingly, for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, management needs
to apply judgement in determining appropriate
accounting policies based on the facts and
circumstances of the Group’s holding of
cryptocurrency.

The Group receives cryptocurrency for certain
transactions under the smart retail business.
Management has determined the revenue of these
transactions should be recognised at the fair value of
the cryptocurrency on the date of receipt and
subsequently classified as an intangible asset.
Management has exercised significant judgement in
determining the appropriate accounting treatment. In
the event authoritative guidance is issued by the
HKICPA, the Group may be required to change its
accounting policies, which could have a material effect
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

As disclosed in note 19, in determining fair values used
for impairment tests, management needs to apply
judgement to identify the relevant available markets for
trading of cryptocurrency, and to consider accessibility
to and activity within those markets in order to identify
the principal cryptocurrency markets to ascertain the
respective fair market values.

EARMBREERLREFIFTRAME
BERZE5tRE - At > SRRGEEH
BwEms  EEERRENEEE
MEzERZRENER  TEEBEEZ
TR (R H o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

REVENUE

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows:

(BB TTSR)

5 =

AEEAEBZ W DMWT

2023 2022

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

(Restated)

(&%)
Revenue from contracts with customers FHHBMEREERFE 155
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HENZEREHNKE

Provision of smart retail services RHEETERY 22,011 27,071

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its revenue contracts such that the above
information does not include information about revenue that
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.

MEFSHNIEERNFENRFTZ
RZER

FAEBCKERMBRSEERF 15585121
BRZATRESEZERARAERGEGA
I PIEHNAEEAERERITEN (R
RS —FNERE) BETHHRENER
iSHSEEE Y E Al Sri=t Sl
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(BB TTHR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the Board of the Company, being the
CODM, for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group ceased
its business in lottery business. And during the year ended
31 December 2022, the Group ceased its business in sports
training business and financial technology services business.
These businesses are classified as discontinued operations.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segment
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows:

Continuing operation

— Smart retail business — provision of new retail digital
transformation solutions and new retail integrated
software service platform to chain retailers and
merchants, and extended services such as cloud
services, omni-channel payment services and SMS
marketing services, etc.

Discontinued operations

—  Lottery business — development of computer system
and provision of technical consultancy services market;

— Sports training business — provision of sports training
services;

—  Financial technology services business — provision of
credit referred and services such as credit facilitation
services and post-origination services.

PEEH

FEBZEENEIREBEARTRRNESRE (A

BIRERRE) RERUETERDER
NERFFEZERNEE > QIERIRNE
mE PR I ARF 2 ]| A -

HE2023F 12831 HIEFE » AEEBKLE
FEETR > MEE2022F12831HIEEFE >
FEEEKRIEEBEINRER R EMARTS
X oREEBODEAERIEREER -

BEMS  AEBARESEMBREENS
BT E N E P2 MRALEHEMT
HREERS
BETEEY — AEUTELERH
FREFNFEHFLHURAFER
MEE—LRERETE > NNER
% BAXNRBRIEEEHREZE
AR o

BRIEEERT

—  EEXD — HEERARGLEMRRM
BRI

—  BEIIRES — RHEEFIIMRIRT

—  ERREBRFES — RHEENE
% > WEERERBINERRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 HNEEH EZ

(@) Segment revenue and results (@) PEWERES

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and
results by reportable segment:

Continuing operation

UTTHERAZSRDPBE D ZAEEZ
I ETYSE S =Pap)igh

Discontinued operations

HRTEER BRILEEEY
Financial
Smart retail Lottery Sports training technology
business Unallocated Subtotal business business services business Subtotal Total
BRTEER #2E it YEER BRIGEE  SRNEREES it E 5]
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Thn Tén Thn TEn THn TER TEm TEx TER TEr TEr TEx TEn TEr TEn  Tén
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E71) (E71) (E71) (E71)
Segment revenue from BRIKEMZERZ
external customers NG
recognised:
— over time — K-BEER - - = = = = = m = ) = = = m = m
— point in time —hE-B% 2011 2707 = - 2Mm M = = = = = - = - 20 7Mm
Revenue from external RESNER NG
customers 2011 2701 = - 20 270 = 1 = 66 = = = mooMm 73
Segment loss HEER (3316) (2830 - — (3316 (2832  (462) (183) - (263) - (776)  (462) (12220 (3.778)  (4,054)
Bank interest income FGEIET N 379 4o 1 3 380 3
Other income and other At AREf
(losses)/gains, net (B8)/hE3E © (15 (1159 505 (1,165 32
Central administration costs PRAEAER (7.132) (7,885 - = (113 (88
Loss before tax KiRAER (10,075)  (10.460) (1,620) (694 (11,695) (11,150)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no
inter-segment sales in the current year (2022: Nil).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 2. Segment loss represents the loss incurred by
each segment without allocation of interest on bank
deposits, other income and other (losses)/gains and
central administration costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

PRABZEREMRATE » 2023 FERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 HNEEH E
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) PHEEERER
Discontinued
Continuing operation operations
REREEE BRILEEES
Smart retail Lottery
business Unallocated Subtotal business Total
BETEXH ROE gt FRER st

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TAT TEx TAxT TEx TEx TErT TEx TExT TEx  TExn

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

(E31) (E31) (E31)

Segment assets NEEE 14,367 15,978 — — 14,367 15,978 — 1,158 14,367 17,136
Corporate and unallocated ~ ERKNEEE

assets 18,410 24228 18,410 24,228 - — 18,410 24,228

Consolidated assets BEEE 32,777 40,206 32,777 41,364

Segment liabilities NEEE 12,513 9,764 = — 12,513 9,764 = 650 12,513 10414

Corporate and unallocated ~ ERANEEE

liabilties 3044 3223 3044 3223 - — 344 3223
Consolidated liabilities ey = 15,657 12,987 15,657 13,637
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance ABEENERBTLESEEHEER

and allocating resources between segments:

. all assets are allocated to operating segments . FMIEEEANEERENE &
other than other unallocated head office and HMARnB B Mt EEER
corporate assets; and a5 K

. all liabilities are allocated to operating segments . FrEaElarkEERENE  IE
other than other unallocated head office and HM KD BCARE M B BRI ©

corporate liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continueq) 6 SDHEEN(E
(c) Other segment information (c) Hitho3EEN
Continuing operation Discontinued operations
BELEER BRIEEEY
Smart retail Sports training ~ Financial technology
business Unallocated Subtotal Lottery business business services business Subtotal Total
BETEEE AR Izt FEER BENGER SRREREEY Izt st

202 02 2028 02 2023 A2 22023 02 2028 02 2028 A2 2023 222 2023 2022
HKS'000  HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS$'000 HKSO00 HK$'000 HKSO00 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000  HKS000 HKS'000  HK$000
TRrn TEx TEm TEr TRz TEr TEx TEx TEm TEx THn TEx TER  TEx FEm  TEn

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E5) (E5) (E5)
Depreciation of property, plant and ~ #7%  MERZEZ
equipment g 19 il = = 19 2 = 2 = 2 = = - 4 19 2%
Unallocated depreciation of FNENE BER
property, plant and equipment REZIE = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =
Total depreciation of property, 0¥ BERREZ
plant and equipment NERE 19 21 - 4 19 25
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREEEZE 618 766 = o 618 766 = o = 209 = o = 209 618 975
Unallocated depreciation of FNEFERREEZ
right-of-Use assets & - - 286 39 286 39 - - - - - — - — 286 39
Total depreciation of right-ofuse ~ FRREEZHELS
assets 904 1,158 o 209 904 1,367
Interest on lease liabilties HEABEZRE 2 I = = 32 0 = = = 5 = = = 5 32 4%
Unallocated interest on lease FHEREBEZHE
liabilities o - 10 19 10 19 o - = - - - = - 10 19
Total interest on lease liabilites ~ RE&EEZHSLE 42 60 = 5 4 65
Loss allowance for trade and other ~ BRREMERFTE
receivables BRER 1,867 629 - - 1,867 629 203 - - - - - 203 - 2,070 629
Covid-19-related rent concession  FEBRAESEEAS
W% 8 B B OB OB B B Y @
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE-EHEATZ
e - - - - - - - - - (140) - - - (140) = (140)
Additions to non-current assets HEERHEE 1,198 = 480 - 1,678 = = = = 16 = = = 6 1,678 16
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Geographical information

The Group operates in two principal geographical areas
— the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group’s revenue from external customers by
location of operations and information about its non-
current assets by location of assets are detailed below:

(BB TTHR)

6 DHEEHGE

(d)

&

FEEZEZBETEURMEME — 5
EISE: R

AEEREBHMES D2 RBIIDE
FzWmh“EEMREME D ZIER
FEEZEHFBUOT

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets

REIMNEEE R Z I ERBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT TFAT
(Restated)
(E7)
Continuing operation FHEREET
The PRC R 22,011 27,071 699 144
Hong Kong &% = — 460 266
22,011 27,071 1,159 410
Discontinued operations BARIEREET
The PRC FRE = 211 = —
Hong Kong &% = 66 = o
22,011 27,348 1,159 410

The non-current assets information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax
assets.

EXERFERBEEZENTREE
FREMMSHETBREEREEE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 SEEN (E

(e) Information about major customers (e) FEXERZEHN
Revenue derived from customers that accounted for ER o HAREBBNGEI0%TULZE
10% or more of the Group's total revenue during the P EEENT :

year are disclosed below:

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Smart retail business EETEER
customer A EBERA 4,619 N/A* A58 3 *
Customer B EFB 3,170 4,565
Customer C EEC N/A*RER* 4,993
# The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the & HEFEY AR A E AR 2 10% LA E o
total revenue of the Group.

OTHER INCOME 7 EHfkA
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(85))
Bank interest income RITHEUWA 379 410
Government grant (note (i) BT fa B (B () 2 357
Tax concession (note (ii) mUE R (B EE)) 55 138
436 905
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

OTHER INCOME (Continueq)

Notes:

(BB TTHR)

7 HWA &

In 2022, government grants income included an amount of approximately
HK$24,000 from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-
epidemic Fund, set up by the Government of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“HKSAR"). The purpose of the funding is to
provide financial support to enterprises to retain their employees who
would otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the
Group is required not to make redundancies during the subsidy period
and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees.

It represents the tax concession revenue generated by the policy of
additional deduction of input value-added tax.

From 1 April 2019 to 31 December 2023, taxpayers in the production
and living service industries are allowed to add 10% of the current
deductible input value-added tax to offset the value-added tax payable.
As the Group’s businesses meet the requirements of the policy, those
businesses are eligible for the tax benefit.

OTHER LOSSES, NET

720225 » BUNHBIRA B 5 BEBRTHRE
(MEBRE) BRRIZBRSES T 2R
KET8#924,0008 7T - RUZBEESZHNHE
ERRHM R  LURBAESRERZES -
RIEMEE 2 AEEREZHEBRETEE
BYHAREME2EARINRETIE -

SR ERERRBMICABRT A ZREER
WA e

H2019F4818E20235F 128318 » AFFEER
EEMERF MR AZRE BTN B ERER
REANNET10% @ IR EMIGEINEE - AN AEE
EBHOZBRER > 2EEH I =R ZMRE
Ho

HthE518 - F28

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TFAT

(Restated)

(E7)

Net foreign exchange losses b 2 B5 18 7 58 (63) (533)
Write off of financial assets at fair value BRnEEF A HMEEW

through other comprehensive income AZ /M EEMH — (115)

(63) (648)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

9 EXPENSES BY NATURE 9 HBYBISTZHZ
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(E7)
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense BMERARY ZFEM A
(included in cost of sales and services) (Bt ASHE M ARTS Ak A) — 7
External technical service fees INEBI AT AR TS & 12,931 16,671
Auditor’'s remuneration ZEEMEN =
— Audit services — BIZARTS 1,120 1,120
— Non-audit services — IEEZART 780 780
Employee benefit expenses EERMER 9,389 12,056
Directors’ emoluments EEM= 2,461 2,112
Total staff costs BE TR 11,850 14,168
Short-term leases expenses FRHIMERS 1 —
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #)% « Fg S &R 2 T &E 19 21
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 904 1,158
Other expenses HhE 2,945 3,122
Total cost of sales and services and tHENIRBMANITHE B
administrative expenses “ERE 30,550 37,047
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10 EERMER
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(E75)
Salaries and other benefits in kind FreNEMEYER 7,457 9,377
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes B K42 F) 51 B = 946 1,472
Discretionary bonuses B TEAT 986 1,207
9,389 12,056
(a) Pensions — defined contribution plans (a) BAhE — REMIHKE
No forfeited contributions were utilised during the year FAES B E R » M EREE
and no forfeited contributions were available at the R FR AT B LU R SR E R ©
year-end to reduce future contributions.
Contributions totalling approximately HK$15,000 (2022: KEXR ERRARESZNHAEGFTH
HK$38,000) were payable to the fund at the year-end. 15,0008 7 (20224 : 38,0008 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 10

(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, two (2022: one) were directors of the
Company whose emoluments are included in note 11.

(UATTIR)

BERHMER (&
(b) ERREFHES
KAKBRLBSHERET WL

(2022%F 1 —%) RAERBZESE > Hil
EEIMEEN - 8RN =4 (20224 : M

The emoluments of the remaining three (2022: four) %) BREFEEZMSNT
individuals were as follows:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Salaries and other benefits in kind FreNEMEYER 855 1,138
Contributions to retirement benefits BB FHEER
schemes 57 91
Discretionary bonuses B TEAT = =
912 1,229

Number of individuals

AE
2023 2022
Emoluments bands i =& E
Nil-HK$1,000,000 2=-1,000,0007& 7 3 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(BB TTHR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

170

Directors” emoluments for the year are disclosed pursuant to
the applicable GEM Listing Rules and the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the five (2022:

11 EFME

FEEZEFMEHRBEBERZGEM EHR
AN EBRBMEPIIKE -

MA% (20224 : t4) EFZAHEM ZM

seven) directors were as follows: FUTF
Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement
benefits  Discretionary benefits
Fees in kind bonus schemes Total
e REM RIRER 2
e BEd BB TEAT R “st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET FTAET FAET
2023 2023F
Executive directors HITES
Sun Haitao %iEE = 714 704 18 1,436
Wu Shan %) — 408 282 15 705
Independent non-executive JEiIJEHITES
directors
song Ke R 100 = = = 100
Yu Tat Chi Michael RES 120 — — — 120
Liu Jia 2= 100 = = — 100
320 1,122 986 33 2,461
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

11 DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 11 EEME &)
Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement
benefits Discretionary benefits
Fees in kind bonus schemes Total
e NEHAM BRER 5
He BYEF] WA H3 K5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT TET TET TET
2022 20225
Executive directors HWITES
Sun Haitao wEE = 714 880 18 1,612
Zhu Jianfei (note (iii) SRR (MEEE () = 144 = = 144
Wu Shan (note (i) S (R EEG)) = - = = =

Independent non-executive JEiIEHITES

directors

song Ke KT 14 — = = M4

Wu Bo (note (iv)) 2 (MEEv) 77 = = = 77

Yu Tat Chi Michael REE 128 — = = 128

Liu Jia (note (ii)) 204 (BFEE(N) 37 — = = 37

356 858 880 18 2,112

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the FLELE2023F M 2022 F 12831 HIEEFE - #

early termination of the appointment during the years ended EOEESNRBEAREZIREBERME o

31 December 2023 and 2022.

Notes: Bk -

(i) Ms. Wu Shan was appointed as an executive director of the Company (i) LML EH2022F4B 14 EEEAEATRT
on 14 April 2022. gFo

(ii) Ms. Liu Jia was appointed as an independent non-executive director of (i) B EZTH20202F88 190 B LR EA LR LB B
the Company on 19 August 2022. JERITES ©

(iii) Mr. Zhu Jianfei resigned as an executive director of the Company on 14 (ii) KRBIRIFCER2022FAB14BHER L TRITE
April 2022. Ho

(iv) Mr. Wu Bo resigned as an independent non-executive director of the (iv) SR EF20228 B 19H B EAR A BB I IEH
Company on 19 August 2022. TEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

No payment was made to directors or receivable by the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Company for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

No compensation was paid during the financial year or
receivable by directors or past directors for the loss of office
as a director of any member of the Group or of any other
office in connection with the management of the affairs of
any member of the Group distinguishing between contractual
and other payments for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

No payment was made to any third-parties for making
available directors’ services during the vyears ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour
of directors, bodies corporate controlled by and connected
entities with such directors during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

(BB TTHR)

11

EEME (&

B E2023FE R 2022FE12B31HIEEE » i
M E R E AR EWRRIE - fEAMN
ARRNBHMAERLNE 2 B2 5ZE) ©

REIE2023F % 2022F12A3MHIEFE » #]
BEAEETANERREETNEREEER
ERIRE AR EEFE 2 EMEMBTRR
MEEFRTEEFINEAMBRFEERE
EREWRIE (BN EQNREREREM
) o

B E2023FE M 2022FE12B31HIEEE » 1
EIRAERERBEMEEAE = A ZAFIE o

REZE2023F K2022F12831BILEE »
BUEE - TRSETERNZEABEBNZ
LEECHEERATRARBZER £
BRNEMZS o
REZE2023F K 2022F 12831 HIEEE 5 #
BEENEFIRENETAETNZ 28

12 FINANCE COSTS 12 BAFER A
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Interest on loan from an intermediate holding RE—RHREZER AT

company BRZFHE = 52
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaEZHERYE 42 60
42 112
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

13 FRfFIRAX

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Deferred income tax IRIEFRTSIR

Increase in deferred tax assets (Note 28) FEIERRIEE E LN (FI5E28) 151 —
Increase in deferred tax liabilities (Note 28) IEIERR IS AN (5E28) (172) —
Income tax expense Frigf 21 —

Income tax expense is attributable to: DUF & IEREML Z 8K

e

— Continuing operations — FEKEER 21 —
— Discontinued operations — BRI ESET — —
21 —

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits arising in or derived from
Hong Kong for both years.

Under the prevailing tax law in the PRC, the Corporate
Income Tax (“CIT") rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
both years. No provisions for CIT has been made for both
years.

Hangzhou Zhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited (“Hangzhou
Zhongtuo”) qualifies as a “Software Enterprise” which is
entitled to an exemption from the CIT for the first two years
and 50% reduction for the next three years from such
entity’s first profitable year.
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BMEER AT > I B EBNBRIED
B o

RFEPERTRE » PRI AR WESE
EZEEMBRTEXRMER) VRIS
25% ° M BEFE R I EH RIS RIFL
Bifh o

MMNRIEEERRERAE (MR &
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= FH50% B ERSI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

13 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 13 FiEiREX (&
The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss AEEZRIEMAZHGZEERMEMEEU
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss AXTBRRFIEEZHIRNO T ¢

and other comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFATT
Loss before tax from continuing operations REFESE £ 2 RN
&8 (10,075) (10,460)
Loss before tax from discontinued operations RE B LEAE S 2 BRIR
BIES 18 (1,620) (694)
Loss before tax for the year REFERRAIEE (11,695) (11,154)
Tax at applicable tax rate 25% (2022: 25%) TR A R ZE25% (2022
1 25%) FHEZRIE (2,924) (2,789)
Tax effect on different tax rate of group RHMBE ZEEEECEE
entities operating in other jurisdictions BRAERENIELE 64 (114)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AHOREZZRBEFE
tax purpose 1,914 1,981
Tax effect of income not taxable for FERBAZRIEBERE
tax purpose (196) (105)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised Rz RIBEEZRIE
o 1,163 1,027
Income tax expense PRSI BT 21 —
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had estimated RREHR » AEEEREZBEEBLI
unused tax losses of approximately HK$15,487,000 (2022: HELEZHB AR 2 st REBRIEEIE
HK$20,729,000) arising from subsidiaries operating outside #915,487,0007 7t (20224 : 20,729,000
Hong Kong which is available for setting off against future 70) c AIEIREEZMN B AR 2 R REFR A
taxable profits of that subsidiary is due to expire within five FMoMAFHRER  MAKEEBEGHEIRER
years and estimated unused tax losses of approximately R IEE 48 4951,046,0007 7T (20224
HK$51,046,000 (2022: HK$51,046,000) available for offset 51,046,000 70) > BIHIKEE P MIRARAE 2
against future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely. FAimH] o AR RBETAES R IAF IR » B
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the WE G A AR IEEIEERELERIEE
estimated unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of o

future profit streams.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T3)

14 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 14 B4RIERELIR

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
ceased its lottery business in the PRC. And during the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed its sports
training business in Hong Kong and ceased its financial
technology services business in the PRC. The results of the
discontinued operations for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 are presented below.

REZE2023F 12831 HIEEFE » REREKIE
HRPEZERER > MEZE2022F128
NBIEFE > AEEEBHEHERE B 82E
HIREBREITERPE MR R
%o BRIEREXBHEE 20235 K% 20224F
12BNBIEFEZEERTXES -

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFET
(Restated)
(E75)
Revenue g &= = 277
Cost of sales and services & M AR TS AL A — (230)
Gross profit EF = 47
Other income and other (losses)/gains, net HWA REM (5B58)
W o RER (1,158) 528
Loss allowance for trade and other B 5 N EMERFRIBEEIE
receivables B (203) —
Administrative expenses THER (259) (1,264)
Finance costs MR — (5)
Loss bhefore tax MRIR ARS8 (1,620) (694)
Income tax expense FriEfaRasz — —
Loss for the year TEEEIE (1,620) (694)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) ZFEEHMEEUA,
for the year (Fx) 1,159 (1,987)
Total comprehensive expense arises from REBRILEESEE S KE
discontinued operations for E2mpk 4%
the year (461) (2,681)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o =
FEMBERRMIGE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T33)
14 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 14 BRIEEEXT (B)
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Other income: HMUg A -

Bank interest income RITHEULA 1 23
Government grants BT f B = 150
Sundry income FETEUTA = 165
Covid-19-related rent concession FAEAR RS EERE SRR = 50
1 388
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAT FET

Other (losses)/gains, net: Hith (F548) e - J$%8 ¢
Exchange losses bE 518 (1,159) =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FENBAR 2 W& = 140
(1,159) 140
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

14 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 14 BRIEKRESETE (&)

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TFAET
Expenses by nature: gy = | o
Employee benefit expenses BEERMNER 172 947
Short term lease expense FOHATEER 62 111
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #)3 ~ BB MR & 2 T E — 4
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE = 209
Other expenses Hihpesz 25 223
Total cost of sales and services and HE MR ARITHE B
administrative expenses 4E%E 259 1,494
The net cash flows incurred by the discontinued operations ERIEREEBREE RS MEFREWT -
are as follow:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT TAET
Net cash used in operating activities R EEFTARE P58 (403) (19,093)
Net cash used in investing activities KREEHMAIREFE (1) (17)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEBFAREFEEE = —
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents in BRI EFBIHESNIRS
discontinued operations LB FEER (404) (19,110)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T33)

15 LOSS PER SHARE 15 SRREIE
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss of the SREXRGENDERALBEE ANEEAEE
Group for the year attributable to owners of the Company by FEREEEUFAEZRTEERMNETSE
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue FTE e

during the year.

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(E5)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company  AAT#EE AEILERE
— From continuing operation — REFBEREXER (8,488) (9,077)
— From discontinued operations — REBRIEREETR (1,620) (669)
(10,108) (9,746)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B 24788 2 MNE T
issue ('000) () 4,686,048 4,686,048
Basic loss per share (HK cents per share) SREAREBEE (BB
— From continuing operation — REFERE XD (0.18) (0.19)
— From discontinued operation — REBRIEEEETR (0.04) (0.02)
(0.22) 0.21)
The dilutive loss per share is the same as the basic loss per FHAR2023F 2022 M B E E 1T E B
share for both 2023 and 2022 as there are no potential B% > #2023 F M 2022 2 B SRS
ordinary shares in issue for both 2023 and 2022. REAEIBER °
16 DIVIDENDS 16 KRR
The Company has not declared any dividends for the years AT AL E 2023FE % 202241283180
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. FFESIREMAEKS o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(UATTIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17 Y% - BENKE

Furniture, Computer
fixtures and and office Leasehold
fittings equipment improvements Total
Rith - RBER P
®E EIYNES HEMEEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TET TET
Cost (D&
Balance at 1 January 2022 1202251 BB 2 4 8R 145 837 1,413 2,395
Additions NE — 16 — 16
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 32) HE—EWB AR (HFE32) — (37) - (37)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  ERZBEE

differences — (18) — (18)
Balance at 31 December 2022 and 2022128318 &

1 January 2023 2023FE1 818 2 &8 145 798 1,413 2,356
Written off b | - (120) - (120)
Effect of foreign currency exchange = ERZBEFE

differences - 2 - 2
Balance at 31 December 2023 R2023F 12831 B 2 &5 145 676 1,413 2,234
Accumulated depreciation and REHTERAE

impairment
Balance at 1 January 2022 202251 BB 2 & (145) (781) (1,413) (2,339)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 32) HE—RIBAR (ME32) = 19 = 19
Depreciation expense mERS — (25) — (25)
Effect of foreign currency exchange — EREZHFZE

differences — 14 — 14
Balance at 31 December 2022 and 1520225128318 R

1 January 2023 2023F 1B 1A 2 kR (145) (773) (1,413) (2,331)
Depreciation expense ERS - (19) - (19)
Written back on written off (R 85 25 [o] = 120 = 120
Effect of foreign currency exchange  EREZBEE

differences — 2 o 2
Balance at 31 December 2023 1K20235% 12831 A 2 &% (145) (670) (1,413) (2,228)
Carrying amounts IREE
Balance at 31 December 2023 R2023F 12831 B 2 &8 = 6 = 6
Balance at 31 December 2022 FR2022F 128318 2 &8 = 25 = 25
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Useful lives

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

e  Furniture, fixtures and fittings 3-5 years

e Computer and office equipment 3-5 years

Over the shorter of term
of lease or 5 years

e Leasehold improvements

LEASES

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

(BB TTHR)

17

18

YR ~ WS Rt (&

AJ & /5 FE 5

WERBESESE  WNHEHMAS I EAE
HOEREMAHEGEESE GORETEREB)
mr:

o b REBNEE 3ESEF
o BRENMMAERM 3E5F
o MHEYFREE HEHSF

(LUBIEE R %)

HE

RGEMBRRARETZEEE

mEMBRRRERU T EEEER £

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHEIT

Right-of-use assets FERHEEE
Leased properties HEYE 1,153 385

Lease liabilities HEaRE

Current TRED 839 288
Non-current FEmE 226 S
1,065 288
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 LEASES (Continued)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Continued)

The movements of the right-of-use assets of lease properties
were as follows:

(UATTIR)

18 HME (&

RGEMBRARERZEE (B

HEMXERAREEZEISHWT !

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET TFAET

At 1 January R1B18 385 1,936

Additions =1 1,678 —

Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 32) HE—EIBAR (:E32) — (157)

Depreciation expenses ERX (904) (1,367)
Effect of foreign currency exchange ERERETE

differences (6) (27)

At 31 December 128318 1,153 385

At 31 December 2023, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate applied to the lease liabilities was ranged from 4.75% to
5.3% (2022: 4.75% t0 5.13%).

For both years, the Group leases offices for its operation.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 2
years (2022: 1 to 2 vyears), but may have extension and
termination options. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

712023FE12831H - HEEGBBERAZAEA
BEBAF RN FA475%ZE5.3% (20224 :
4.75%FE5.13%) °

FEMEFE  ZREREEERENRAE -
HEGMETILZEEHHRBI1E2F (2022
F1E2F) » BRJEABLEANKILEE
T o FHEATO IR BRI B RERER > B S AR5
TR AR o L7 TE AE HA Ko 5T 45 A B SR HA
ZREF xEEEAGHNZERTLEES
#IP] SR BIAT Z HARE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T33)

LEASES (Continued)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total cash outflow
for leases was approximately HK$1,001,000 (2022:
HK$1,288,000).

The Group had lease liabilities repayable as follows:

RZEMBRARERZEE (B)

HE2023FE12831HLEEE  HERERE
48 FE 49 731,001,000 75 (20224 : 1,288,000
BIT) °

FAEEREEHEARNT

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT TAET
Within 1 year K—FR 839 288
After 1 year but within 2 years —FBREMFEAN 226 —
1,065 288
CRYPTOCURRENCY 19 MEBEEWE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Cryptocurrency nEgE
Held on exchange institutions KR ZEBEEE
— USD Tether (“USDT") — ERER
E=3=3:9) — 568
e Less than HK$1,000. * DHE1,00058 7T ©

Cryptocurrency held by the Group has been assessed based
on each type of cryptocurrencies for impairment testing. The
Group carries out their impairment testing by comparing the
recoverable amounts of cryptocurrencies to their carrying
amounts. An impairment loss will be recognised when the
recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount, while
a gain will not be recognised even when the recoverable
amount is higher than the carrying amount. A gain will only
be recognised if the cryptocurrency is disposed of, assuming
the proceeds from disposal at that time is higher than its
carrying amount.

FEBFBEZNMZERCHRBREIMNEERE
LB ERE G - AEEFMEEE 2
WEleEE HREELERLGETTRERR -
ERREIERERREER > KSEAERS
B ERED WO RSIRIREE JmT@T

FERB U o W ERSINE B H & W RER
ERHEZFRIMAESKEKREER S TU
BESD o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 CRYPTOCURRENCY (Continued)

The recoverable amount of each type of cryptocurrencies are
determined based on fair value less costs of disposal. In
determining the fair values, the relevant available markets are
identified by the Group, and the Group consider accessibility
to, and activity within those markets in order to identify the
principal cryptocurrency markets for the Group. The fair value
of USDT traded in active markets (such as trading and
exchange platforms) is determined based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’'s
length basis. Therefore, the fair value used for assessment of
recoverable amount in impairment tests is determined as
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for USDT
(Level 1).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group carried out impairment
tests for USDT. Based on these impairment tests, the
recoverable amount of USDT are close to its carrying
amounts of approximately HK$100 (2022: HK$568,000),
therefore no impairment loss was recognised.

(UATTIR)

19

PRABZEREMRATE » 2023 FERS

}
i

¥

MEEE (&)

E
i

/

BENEEBZJREIEEDREAREE
RMEENAEE - REBEAAEBER &5
B AR B S  BEAEEEEREZ
FHHEZ A RMRERERE - UHER SR
ZEEMBEETE - TEREHS PIWNE
BERRZTR) LEEZREBZANEE
DEEBREHRZTBREETE - MR ZF
PERRERRE AT SRERE
B MZSERRBEATEEERELER
EITZHHR5 - Wik AR ERE TR
SHEPREIERZ AR BESEESREE
RS L2 RE CRERAR) (B 1R -

BE2023F 128310 » AEEYREEET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T33)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 20 ¥ zEmI A

The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEBRREUTEMIA
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TET
Financial assets: TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost BN A EC EMEE
Trade and other receivables 85 MEHMEWRIE 11,188 11,054
Amount due from ultimate holding company — FEURERIERR AT 2 I8 2 =
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary FEl—ERRNB LT
;IE 1 1
Cash and bank balances Re MIRITHER 17,996 28,203
29,187 39,258
Financial liabilities: EHaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost b i | N == ol =K
Trade and other payables B M EMENRIE 13,013 11,881
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,065 288
Amount due to an intermediate holding N —RP TR AR 2
company F;IF 67 =
Amount due to ultimate holding company FE R AR N B 2 78 = 618
14,145 12,787
The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the AEEmE S T AR ZERERN
financial instruments is discussed in note 3. MIEE3F P& ©
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the REPERZEAEERRMOA LMZEE
reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of MEEZIREE-

financial assets mentioned above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

21 INVENTORIES 21 78

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Finished goods S o 41 38
Inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended FREE2023F 12831 HILFERRARY 2
31 December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$Nil (2022: EFENAZHETT (20224F 1 7,00087T) » B5t

HK$7,000). These were included in cost of sales and services. ABE MARFE A o

22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22 B REMEWFRIE
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Trade receivables B 5 RIS 13,028 7,344
Less: Loss allowance of trade receivables B B ENFBE R R (4,101) (2,805)
8,927 4,539
Deposits and other receivables e M EMERRIE 2,774 7,970
Less: Loss allowance of deposits and B e N AR

other receivables B (513) (1,455)
2,261 6,515
Prepayments TR FRIE 2,239 1,090
Total trade and other receivables B 5 M M EWFRIEAR5E 13,427 12,144
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. They are generally due for settlement within 30
(2022: 30) days and therefore all classified as current. Trade
receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional, unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Details about the Group’s
impairment policies and the calculation of the loss allowance
are provided in notes 2(i) and 3(a)(ii).

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age,
presented based on the respective invoice date and net of
loss allowance:

(BB TTHR)

22

B 5 R HMEWRIE (&

BERWREAREEXBBEETHESR
HIRMARBMEWE S ZFER - ZERE—
ARHT30 (20224 : 30) HREIMIEE - Ritt2
BRBERRE - B BUGRIBEN D R EGEM
RESHEER  BRIFHEIERMERD
FLERTARAANBERES - ZEEFE
BZBWFEZ BNARRENRERE
Ft HRER BRI RAIRB I AT E -
BRAEBRRERRRBEREFEAEDEZ
SHIB R Y EE2() K2 3(a)(ii) ©

DURTh#RE B D 2 B S RUGRIEZ 94
DDREEZORRNBGEEFEREY)

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FHEIT

0-30 days 0&E30H 5,139 2,709
31-60 days 312 60H 3,130 848
61-90 days 61290H 525 786
Over 90 days BiB90H 133 196
8,927 4,539
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22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

(Continued)

Movements of the Group's loss allowance of trade and other

receivables are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Trade receivables

22 B NREHMEWRIE (2

mr:

(@) BZEUWRIE

FEEB S MNAMBWFIEZ GRERES

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TFAET
Balance at 1 January R1B18 2 6&E5R 2,805 2,424
Recognition of loss allowance for FREBEERE ZESR
the year 1,349 629
Effect of foreign currency exchange ERERETE
differences (53) (248)
Balance at 31 December K128318 2458k 4,101 2,805
Deposits and other receivables (b) #EREMEWKFRIE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT TAET
Balance at 1 January R1B1H Z &8 1,455 1,629
Written off of loss allowance ESEEE 2 e (1,448) -
Reversal of loss allowance for the year — F PE1E# & 2 # (o] 518 —
Effect of foreign currency exchange ERERTE
difference (12) (174)
Balance at 31 December K128318 2458k 513 1,455
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO A FELLOW
SUBSIDIARY, AN INTERMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY AND ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

The amounts due from/to a fellow subsidiary, an intermediate
holding company and ultimate holding company are

(UE5E3IT)
23 fEW FEfT— F'a'?lﬂ?\[‘ﬁ%&j

—E P EERAQE
8 Z FRIA

RASERA

ZEW TN —RRERMEAR ~ —EHHE
ERAB REEIER AT ZRIATHEETE

unsecured, interest-free and receivable/repayable on FENBRERIE EIE o
demand.
CASH AND BANK BALANCES 24 WERIPITLHER
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Cash at banks and in hand IRITMFBEIRE 17,996 28,203
Less: Restricted cash B R REIIRE (156) (156)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated MR&EEREREBRZIRENR
statement of cash flows BE%EEY 17,840 28,047

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

IRTTHEERRUE BIRTTERR R T B X5t
I%\O

CONTRACT LIABILITIES aaE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FATT
Contract liabilities HHEE 1,340 850

The Group receives a deposit before certain technical
consultancy services and software development service
commence, which will give rise to contract liabilities until
revenue is recognised when the service is delivered to the
customers.

268 B XA T H i 58 s AR A5 Ko R 1 7R 3 AR 75
RERAIWEEZRE  LBREESNER E
ERFBRATFELREDBR@ALL -
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25 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

26

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Revenue recognised in relation to contract

liabilities

The following table shows how much of the revenue

(UATTIR)

25 EHEaEE

BB REMzEmS N

TRITFECEIN@TREEGNER

recognised for the year relates to carried-forward contract BRIz UL o
liabilities.
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT TFATT
Revenue recognised that was included in the E#ztAGHNEBEHRZE
contract liabilities balance at the beginning U R
of the year:
— Provision of smart retail services — RHEEZERD 850 836
— Provision of sports training services — RHEB IR — 128
SHARE CAPITAL 26 Bg
Number
of shares Share capital
v ¢=] iz
‘000 HK$'000
T B TATT
Authorised: EE -
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, FL20224E1 31 H ~ 20224
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, 12831H ~ 2023F 181
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each HX2023%12H318 >
FREE0.0058 T2
el 20,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRERE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, L2022 131 H ~ 20224
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, 1283183 ~ 2023%F181
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each HX2023%12H318 >
FREE0.0058 T2
el 4,686,048 23,430
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T33)

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27 BSREMEMNRIE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TAET
Trade payables B 5 IE 9,335 7,414
Accrued salaries and other benefits in kind st MEMBYIERN 1,048 1,684
Other payables and accruals HihfE FIB N FESTE B 2,630 2,783
Total trade and other payables B 5 N E M R IEAE S 13,013 11,881
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based RERGHR  BZROREENEEZEARZ

on invoice date at the end of the reporting period: REDMTAT -

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
0-30 days 0Z&30H 9,117 6,917
31-60 days 31&260H — 159
61-90 days 61E90H — 6
over 90 days BiBo0H 218 332
9,335 7,414
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

28 EIEFRIEM

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Deferred tax assets FIEFRIBE & 151 —
Deferred tax liabilities FILRIBEE 172 =

The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised

in the consolidated statement of financial position and the BEZHARE D RFRESHANT .
movements during the year are as follows:

KEEU BT RERZIEERE (BE),/

Right-of-use

Lease liabilities assets Total

HEaRE FREEE et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TET FHETT

At 1 January 2022, 1520221818 »

31 December 2022 and 2022F12B31H X

1 January 2023 2023%F1H1H — — —
(Credited)/charged to profit Gt AR BEZ

or loss (Note 13) NBx (MI5E13) (151) 172 21

At 31 December 2023 7X2023%12831H (151) 172 21
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 29 RiEEZEFHESL ZEEHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRV AEERETHEE 2 EEED
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- BIEREMIFREETH METHELZE
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are BRIREMNEELHRKIREREF FIHA
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, KB GEERERERTHEBEAMEEE 2
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows BERECEBRE -

as cash flows from financing activities.

Loan

from an

intermediate

holding Lease

company liabilities Total

R E P REER
rEIZEH HEaE “EEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFABT TAET T

At 1 January 2022 720221818 4,946 1,748 6,694
Financing cash flow MERETRE
— Repayment for loan from an o T%UEIE BIFREEZER AT
intermediate holding company ZE® (4,800) — (4,800)
— Interest paid for loan from an — R E—HEFEERAR
intermediate holding company EREZAFE (104) — (104)

— Capital element of lease rentals paid — BAHEEHESZEARZLD — (1,223) (1,223)
— Interest element of lease rentals paid — BEHAEREZF B9 — (65) (65)
Other changes HhEs)
— Disposal of a subsidiary — HE—REHRBAR — (175) (175)
— Finance costs — MRS 52 65 117
— Covid-19-related rent concession — %ﬁ””rﬁﬁ‘ SHEEESAR — (50) (50)
Effect of foreign currency exchange REEZLE

differences (94) (12) (106)
At 31 December 2022 and 72022128318 &

1 January 2023 2023%F1H1H — 288 288
Financing cash flow MERERE
— New lease arise — EEHFHEE = 1,678 1,678
— Capital element of lease rentals paid — BAHEEHE 2 EARIEH — (896) (896)
— Interest element of lease rentals paid — BN EEHES ] EE45H — (42) (42)
Other changes Hih&Es)
— Finance costs = E#%“EJZK = 42 42
Effect of foreign currency exchange bE R ERERE

differences . (5) (5)
At 31 December 2023 752023128 31H = 1,065 1,065
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30 FAEARXRS
Compensation of key management FTEEEASFHM
personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key FREENFTESEEHEMREZMESWT !

management during the year was as follows:

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET TFAET

Short-term benefits k2 HRTE A 2,428 2,094

Post-employment benefits HRILEBEEH 33 18

2,461 2,112

Saved as disclosed above and elsewhere in these b ExXhZEGREMBRRAMI DR E

consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have any EIN 0 REBPEE2023FE 520229128 31
material related party transactions during the years ended 31 HIEFETREMERBELRRS °

December 2023 and 2022.

Further details of balances with related parties are disclosed EARAE S AR R 2 HE— F S BN MIEE 23 IR EE o

in note 23.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

31

The Group's principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 and
2022 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have
share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are
held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership
interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The
country of incorporation or registration is also their principal

place of business.

Place of incorporation/

Particulars of issued

(BB TTHR)

TRBZEEZMBATFE

1K2023F 2022 F 12 A3 BAEE 2 FEW
BABWNT - FRIEXBRHA > HRAERE
SEERBEZEERAER  FTFBERE
m AN LERAEBEFRFERRERR o MR
UHFAMZERTRREEEZEEMME -

Proportion of

registration/operations  and fully paid share ownership interest held Principal
Name of subsidiary and kind of legal entity capital/registered capital by the Group activities
SRR s BRITRBERE FEERE
MEAELE R B R £ TE AL EMERFEE FREREZE DL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B S
E-silkroad.net Corporation ~ BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of 1 United 100% — Investment holding
company States dollar ("US$") (2022: 100%) (2022: —)
HBREUHE 1REBEIET 100% — REZR
BREFEAR (TEm)) 2 B8R (20224 1 (20228 : —)
100%)
Ocean Keen Investment BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% — Investment holding
Holdings Limited company (2022 100%) (2022: —)
EERERRBRAT RBREZES 1REE1ET LEK 100% — REZR
BREFEAF (2022% 1 (20228 1 —)
100%)
Glory Top Management Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$1 100% — Investment holding
Limited company (2022: 100%) (2022: —)
EREEERAR 55 EREFAT 18T BBk 100% — REZR
(20224 1 (20228 : —)
100%)
Surplus Trade Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$1 100% — Investment holding
company (2022: 100%) (2022: —)
REERRE 55 BREMAR 1B BBk 100% — REZR
(2022% 1 (20228 1 —)
100%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

31 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 31 ZRBEZETEMBATFE (&
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of issued Proportion of
registration/operations  and fully paid share ownership interest held Principal
Name of subsidiary and kind of legal entity capital/registered capital by the Group activities
MM s BRITREERE FEERE
YNGR R B R E M AL M E AR FRERREE DL TEXEE
Directly Indirectly
=k ik
Shine Win Inc. Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$1 — 100% Investment holding
company (2022: —)  (2022: 100%)
HEREBRAT 5% BREAAH 1B EBER - 100% "EER
(2022 : —) (20224 :
100%)
FSRMEREEBRAT  PRC, wholly-foreign-owned  RMB6,000,000 — 100% Ceased of the
(Shenzhen Gaorong enterprise (2022: —)  (2022: 100%) business

Caizhi Technology
Company Limited)*

FNESEMERIRBRAR HE SIEEERE AE6,000,0007T — 100% BHRIEER
(2022%F 1 —) (20224 :
100%)
MMEDEBREBRAT  PRC, wholly-foreign-owned  RMB6,064,882 — 100% Ceased of the
(Hangzhou Safen enterprise (2022: —)  (2022: 100%) business

Information Technology
Company Limited)*

MMEREERRERAR HE IMEBEERE AE6,064,88278 - 100% B IEZER

(2022F 1 —) (20224 -
100%)

Zhong Tuo Limited BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% — Investment holding
company (2022: 100%) (2022 —)

HEBREUHE 1REEIET EEK 100% — REZR
BREFAR (20228 1 (20228 : —)
100%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T33)

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 31 KRB ZEEMBATIHE (&)

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Place of incorporation/  Particulars of issued Proportion of
registration/operations  and fully paid share ownership interest held Principal

Name of subsidiary and kind of legal entity capital/registered capital by the Group activities

SRR EEfR BRETREEREY FEERE
MEAF %S R B R R E AL HME S FrEERZE DLt FTEEE
Directly Indirectly
B Gk

Zhong Tuo Holdings (HK) Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$100 — 100% Investment holding
Limited company (2022: —)  (2022: 100%)

BH > BREARH 100787t 2 ZiEkE — 100% &EZER
(2022% : —) (20224 :
100%)

INFRIREERERAS  PRC, limited liability RMB490,000 — 51% Provision of smart
(Hangzhou Zhongtuo company (2022: —) (2022: 51%) retail services
Netcom Technology
Limited)*

FONFAERRERAR B EREELQHE AR #490,0007T — 51% REEZTERD

(20224 : —) (20224 :
51%)

E4h (R BRRE Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary share = 51% Provision of smart
(Yuntuo (HK) Limited) company HK$100 (2022: —) (2022: 51%) retail services
Eh (ER) BRLE 58 BREAAR 1008 T2 BBk — 51% REEZTERD
(20224 : —) (20224 :

51%)

DOREAS () B4 ME  PRC, limited liability RMB500,000,000 — 100% Provision of smart
IR AF] (XinYouji company (2022: —) (2022: —) retail services
(Hangzhou) Network
Technology Co., Ltd)*

DOBEAS () AB AR Bl HE BRETAR AR #500,000,0007T — 100% RESEZERH
BRAE (2022% 1 —) (2022 : —)

# English name for identification purpose only. “ B BBERNHBBER o

* The equity interests is held by individual nominee on behalf of the Group. g REDBREARGARREEREES °

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.

ERFNZEABNBAR > DEFERSHE

NEEES
B BETAE
BB ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

31 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 31 ZRBEZFTEMBATFIE (&)

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(a) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries () BEEXRIFIERELGZZIFRE
that have material non-controlling MEB AR Z#1E
interests
Set out below is summarised financial information for TREFIMNR AR BREEBRAE
Hangzhou Zzhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited (MAMNFRA) > AEEE—BFEKX
("Hangzhou Zhongtuo”), the only subsidiary that has JEERER 2 B AT 2 HFEE R
non-controlling interests that are material to the Group. Fo WBABMNE - AR B
The amounts disclosed for the subsidiary are before THAE 2 BUEE o

inter-company eliminations.

Summarised statement of financial position Hangzhou zZhongtuo
MERREER b

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Non-controlling interest percentage JEIERR#EZBH DL 49% 49%
Current assets MENEE 13,515 16,045
Current liabilities MEEE 17,339 16,085
current net liabilities mEBAaERE (3,824) (40)
Non-current assets EREEE 850 144
Non-current liabilities EREER 173 =
Non-current net assets ERHEEFE 677 144
Net (liabilities)/assets (BfEFEE) EERE (3,147) 104
Accumulated non-controlling interest RETFFERER (1,262) 331
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

R MBS HmRMEE

(BB TTHR)

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(@) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries

that have material non-controlling

interests (Continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

31 &2

Bl Z X EMBARFE (&

(@) HEEEAFERERZIEEE

B QB Z5¥18 (8)

Hangzhou Zhongtuo

2ERABES T
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TET
Revenue g 22,011 27,071
Loss for the year TEEEIE (3,281) (2,788)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) Efth2EUA (BI) 30 (66)
Total comprehensive expense PHAZELE (3,251) (2,854)
Loss attributable to non-controlling JEIE G R m FE (L 5 18
interest (1,608) (1,366)
Total comprehensive expense JFEREREMEEEY
attributable to non-controlling interest “ERE (1,593) (1,414)

Summarised statement of cash flows

Hangzhou Zhongtuo

RERBRER ELES

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Net cash used in operating activities &R RIRE 38 (4,523) (3,734)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEZE (FTR) 3R+

investing activities R (30) 28
Net cash generated from/(used in) B EBAE S (FFFE) IHE

financing activities FRE 611 (691)
Net decrease in cash and cash HERREEBMRDFEE

equivalents (3,942) (4,397)

198

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

31 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 31 ZRBZEFEMBATFE (&)

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(b) Financial information of subsidiaries in (b) BREBBEARBARKKREER
which the equity interest is held by HEZMBRBZMBEN
individual nominee on behalf of the
Group
The summarised financial information below represents UTHBEERBERARBHIEZ
amounts before inter-company eliminations. HEE
(i) XinYouji (Hangzhou) Network Technology (i) WA (BT 445 i B R 2 &1

co., Ltd

2023
HK$°000
FET
Revenue W= —
Loss for the year KEFEERIE —
Net assets BEZFE 5,000
XinYouji (Hangzhou) Network Technology Co., Ltd DREAE (UN) ABAS T B R AT

is incorporated in 17 November 2023. 72023 1M B 17 HsEM AR AL ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(BB TTHR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(b) Financial information of subsidiaries in
which the equity interest is held by
individual nominee on behalf of the
Group (Continued)

(i) MM EEETEERRL EHangzhou Weizi Assets

31 ZREZETEMB LT FE (&)

(b) RERBARBARKRESEH
REZMBARZMBER

(&

(i) WMHEEEEFRLE

Management Limited* (“Hangzhou Weizi”) (T Mg &)
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TFHET
Revenue W e — —
Loss for the year KEFERE — 3)
Net assets BEZE = 11,194

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group had decided to cease the business of
Hangzhou Weizi. On 1 March 2023, the individual
nominee had entered into the agreement with the
Group to cease the business.

# English name for identification purpose only.

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

The Group operated Hui So Hung Table Tennis Sports Centre
Limited ("HSH Company”) in Hong Kong to provide table
tennis training services to students with different ages and
levels. The business operation and revenue of HSH Company
were unfavourably affected by the continuous outbreak of
COVID-19. In order to prevent further loss, the Group had
disposed of 60% equity interest in HSH Company to Ms. Hui
So Hung, the non-controlling other shareholder of HSH
Company, at zero consideration on 21 April 2022.

FBE2022F12831HIEFE »
FEFEDRERLEMMHBEZE
%5 ° 1520233818 » BAR%
NBAEBST I E AR LTS o

# BXRBERNHANEN -

32 HE—HMEBARA

REBREARETRIEEREBESRLE
BB (TFFRULAF) > BREEE RKF
ZEERBEEERIIRRE - TRLARAZ
EBEBENBRZIREIRE 2 TR
SN B - ABRHRE—PEE &
EBE2022F4821 B F R QB 260%
B UREFALETHFRUIRZLE (KA
RN Z IEEREMEEER) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

32 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 32 HE—FHMEAT ()

33

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities at the disposal KHERR BEEMEBBZREENT !
date were as follows:

HK$'000

FET
Property, plant and equipment ME ~ BB R 18
Other receivables H A FE R IE 124
Bank balances, deposits and cash IRITHER s ERANIRS 82
Right-of-use assets FREEE 157
Other payables HAh e 78 (311)
Lease liabilities HESE (179)
Contract liabilities 5HE81E (128)
Net liabilities disposed of HEZEBEFEE (233)
Non-controlling interests JEVER = 93
Net liabilities disposed of attributable to the owners KRB HEAEHHEZBFEFEE

of the Company (140)

Less: Consideration received BB —
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RNBA ARz W= (140)
Analysis of cash flows on disposal: HEZRERED !
Cash consideration RERE —
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HEZRENREEEY (82)
Net cash outflow on disposal HEZREMH FEE (82)
COMPARATIVE FIGURES 33 LERHF
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform HTHEREFEEFTDEURGAFEZE
to the current year's presentation. o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)
34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34 AT ZEHBRRRREEES
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position (a) BAFBARATER
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
Non-current assets JEmENEE
Property, plant and equipment Mz~ BB MR E — —
Investments in subsidiaries KB AR ZKRE = —
Ccurrent assets MENEE
Other receivables HpE W F1a 364 340
Amount due from an intermediate B —E TR ATZ
holding company F;IB 2 =
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary EWR—ERRNBRAEZ
B 1 1
Bank balances RITHEER 17,342 22,460
17,709 22,801
Current liabilities mENafE
Other payables HAhE (S 78 2,596 2,310
Amounts due to subsidiaries BB AR Z&IE 49,541 88,712
Amount due to ultimate holding BT RAETER AT 2 A
company — 618
Amount due to an intermediate holding FEff—RIRIZR AT 2
company A 67 —
52,204 91,640
Net current liabilities mEBaEFE (34,495) (68,839)
Total assets less current liabilities (BEEFGHERE (34,495) (68,839)
Net liabilities BEFE (34,495) (68,839)
Capital and reserves BARREHE
Share capital RN 23,430 23,430
Reserves EaiE (57,925) (92,269)
Total deficit B4t 4B EE (34,495) (68,839)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FEMBHmRMEE

(UATTIR)

34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34 ARSI ZHFEIRRRNEEES

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

=

(&

(b) ERFZHEES

Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
AL
B iR E ik RetEE Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET FHET FAET
Balance at 1 January 2022 1202251 B1H 2 #5 6k 3,466,638 1 (3,554,162) (87,523)
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBENEARS
expense for the year 43%E — — (4,746) (4,746)
Balance at 31 December 2022 152022128318 &
and 1 January 2023 2023F1A1HZ &% 3,466,638 1 (3,558,908) (92,269)
Profit and total comprehensive REFEHEHNEEEA
income for the year 4a%8 = = 34,344 34,344
Balance at 31 December 2023 152023 12A31H2
foaf o 3,466,638 1 (3,524,564) (57,925)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFEPRHFEFBE

For the year ended 31 December

HZE12A318LLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET TAT FHET FAT
Results E4
Revenue Ui & 61,500 34,626 34,393 27,071 22,011
Loss for the year REERE (9,149)  (15,489)  (22,097)  (11,154)  (11,716)
continuing operations HFEREEE (2,251) (13,486) (14,715) (10,460)  (10,096)
Discontinued operations BARILKREE (6,898) (2,003) (7,382) (694) (1,620)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: T AT RES (B518)
Pkl I
Owners of the Company ZN/NEIEZEE N (5,680)  (17,315)  (19,195) (9,746)  (10,108)
Non-controlling interests IR (3,469) 1,826 (2,902) (1,408) (1,608)
(9,149) (15,489) (22,097) (11,154)  (11,716)
At 31 December
128318
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFAET TET TAET TFAET FAT
Assets and liabilities BERAR
Total assets EEE 131,844 66,395 90,941 41,364 32,777
Total liabilities FSE=Ei=} (81,509) (11,581) (50,582) (13,637)  (15,657)
50,335 54,814 40,359 27,727 17,120
Equity attributable to owners of A F¥EE AFELED
the Company 51,216 56,552 38,681 27,396 18,382
Non-controlling interests FFIERE R (881) (1,738) 1,678 331 (1,262)
50,335 54,814 40,359 27,727 17,120
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